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Emipire East Three Decades of Breakthroughs

About the Cover

The cover design of Empire East’'s 2024
Annual and Sustainability Report visually
capiures the theme “Three Decades of
Breakthroughs: Bolder Future Together”
through powerful, rescnant imagery

that reflects its enduring impact on
Filipino lifestyles. Celebrating 30 years of
community development, the Company
reflects on its journey from building
traditional homes to offering modern mid-
rise and high-rise condominiums.

The design uses a vertical three-part layout
that shows the Company's progress and
vision for the future. The |eft panel features
a single-detached house, symbalizing
Empire East's early projects, while the
center shows a Filipino family in front

of a mid-rise building ta reflect its focus

an family-friendly communities. On the
right, @ high-rise condo beside the MRT-

3 line highlights the convenience of city
living and the Company's growth in urban
development.

At the base 1s 3 peaceful clubhouse by
the pool, surrcunded by green spaces—
showing the Company's focus on comfort,
quality of life, and sustainable living. These
images tell a clear story: Empire East has
spent three decades building not just
homes, but better lives—always maving
forward, together with the communities it
serves.
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About the Report
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This Annual and Sustainability Report
(ASR) for the financial year 2024 provides
stakeholders with a comprehensive
overview of Empire East Land Holdings,
Inc’s {("EELHI", "the Company”)
performance across financial, operational,
and sustainability dimensions. The report
articulates EELHI's sustainability sirategy,
commitments, achievements, and areas
for improvement, supporting informed
decisions among investors, customers,
employees, and other stakeholders.

The scope includes all significant
economic, environmental, and social
impacts of EELHI and its subsidiaries
Eastwood Property Land Holdings, Inc.
Unless otherwise specified, financial and
sustainability data presented within this
report reflect the consolidated operations
of EELHI and its subsidiaries.

This report covers the reporting period
from January 1, 2024, to December 31, 2024,
Prepared in accordance with the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards, and
adheres ta the Philippine Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) Sustainability

Reporting Guidelines for Publicly Listed
Companies, demonstrating EELHI's
commitment to rigorous disclosure
standards and accountability. The
Company has also identified and aligned
disclosures with the United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDGs),
reinforcing its global responsibility in
sustainability practices.

EELHI follows an annual reporting cycle
for its ASR, highlighting its commitment
to transparency, good governance, and
continuous improvement in sustainability
performance.

EEL HI encourages stakeholders’ insights
to continuously enhance the quality and
relevance of its sustainability reporting. For
feedback or queries regarding the content
of this 2024 Annual and Sustainability
Report, please contact:

JACINTH CAMILLE FERRIOL
Marketing Communications
Tel. No.: +63 (2] 8867-8351
+63 (2) 8554-4800

Email: jazz@empire-east.com

Website: www.empire-east.com




“No breakthrough
is possible without

the people who
make it happen.”

G
Atty. Anthony Charlemagne §

President and Chief Executive
Empire East Land Holdings, Inc.
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Message from

the Leadership
2.22

2024 marked a defining milestone in
Empire East's journey—not only because
we celebrated our 30th year in the real
estate industry, but because we proved,
once again, that breakthroughs are not a
matier of chance, but the result of vision,
discipline, and courage. Empire East
delivered one of its strongest financial

and operational performances in a valatile
market shaped by post-pandemic shifts,
elevated inflation, and global uncertainty.
Reservation sales reached nearly Php

12.2 billion, reflecting the continued trust
of our homebuyers and the resilience of
our business strategy. We now manage
an asset base of Php 50 billion-and hold

a 426-hectare land bank, strategically
positioning us for long-term value creation
and sustained growth. These figures are
not merely numbers but a testament to
our steadfast move forward with precision,
purpose, and an unwavering drive for
impact

Since 1994, Empire East has been defined
by its abiiity to lead change. From
picneering townships like Laguna Bel Air
and transit-oriented developments such as
San Lerenzo Place and Pioneer Woodlands,
to reimagining affordability

with No Down Payment schemes and
high-rise communities that pricritize
connectivity—we have not followed
trends. We have set them. This forward-
thinking mindset continues to shape our
approach as we look to the future. In 2024
aglone, we had 11 residential towers under
construction and four more in advanced
stages of development—all designed to
meet the evolving needs aof urban and
suburban Filipino families. OQur investment
in future-ready homes and our reimaginad
township projects reflect a stranger focus
on smart design, mobility, and green
integration.

Our sustainability journey is no longer
exploratory but embedded in how

we plan, build, and grow. In 2024, we

took measurable steps to reduce our
environmental footprint: implementing
the 5-5Waste Management Framework,
integrating eco-efficient construction
materials, and expanding the Highland
Faorest phase at Empire East Highland City
to foster greener, healthier communities.
These initiatives align with Megaworld's
MEGreen and AGI's SustainAGIlity
programs, affirming cur rale in a shared
commitment to responsible development
across the Alliance Global Group, We

are alsoc enhancing carbon footprint
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menitoring, scaling sustainable design
across our projects, and partnering
with communities to build long-term
environmental and social impact.

To serve our customers better and move
with greater agility, we accelerated our
digital transformation in 2024. Internally,
we launched over 100 automation
programs to streamline workflows,
enhance responsiveness, and future-

proof our operations. For our clients, we
introduced a seamless experience through
platforms like the Ask About Your Home
portal and our partnership with Pilipinas
Telesery, providing homebuyers with
faster, more transparent access to essential
documents, These innovations build the
foundation for a smarter, mare connecited
Empire East.

Mo breakthrough is possible without the
people who make it happen. In 2024,

we doubled on employee development,
mental wellness, and inclusivity. We also
continued our Adopt-a-5chool program
and expanded community partnerships
focused on waste management and
sustainability education. These initiatives
go beyond compliance—they are rooted in
our belief that nation-building starts with
responsible homebuilding.

As we enter our fourth decade, Empire
East emerges stronger, more agile,

and better prepared than ever. Our

Php 25 billion capital expenditure plan

over the next five years aims to support
creating more resilient, sustainable, and
accessible communities, perfectly aligned
with customer expectations and global
environmental and social standards.
Alongside our affiliates across the

Alliance Global Group, under the visicnary
leadership of cur Chairman, Dr. Andrew

L. Tan, and CEOQ, Mr. Kevin Tan, we are
building toward a bolder future—guided by
shared purpose, long-term value creation,
and a deep commitment to a better, more
inclusive tomorrow.

To our Stockholders, your confidence fueis
our progress,

To our Homeowners and Partners, you
remain the reason we build with purpose.
To our Employees, your passion
transforms trailblazing ideas into lasting
breakthroughs.

Thank you for continuing to shape the
future with us.

The next chapter begins with greater focus,
stronger momentum, and a
bolder vision.




About
Empire East
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Company Overview
and History

For 30 years, Empire East Land Holdings,
Inc. has been shaping urban and suburban
landscapes with transformative residential
developments. Established in 1994 as 3
spin-off from Megaworld Corporation, the
Company pioneered housing solutions that
bridge accessibility, comfort, and modern
city Iiving.

With a strong legacy in master-planned
communities, Empire East has built
landmark projects that offer more than
just homes—providing vibrant, well-
connected lifestyles. The Company remains
committed to delivering innovative and
sustainable developments from high-rise
condominium towers in Metro Manila to
expansive house-and-lot communities in
progressive suburban areas, Iis projects
include The Paddington Place, Mango Tree
Residences, Covent Carden, Kasara Urban
RBesort Besidences, The Bochester, Pioneer
Weoodlands, Little Baguio Terraces, San
Lorenzo Place, The Cambridge Village, The
Sonoma, and South Science Park.

Today, Empire East continues to redefine
the residential experience through
Transit-Oriented Developments (TODs}—

strategically placing communities near
key transport hubs, business districts,

and essential urban conveniences. By
integrating accessibility with guality living,
Empire East is enhancing how people live
and contributing to more sustainable and
future-ready cities.

As of December 31, 2023, Empire East (ELI)
holds 100% equity iInterest in Eastwood
Property Holdings, Inc,; Valle Verde
Properties, Inc,; Sherman Oak Holdings,
Inc.; Empire East Communities, Inc.; and
20th Century Nylon Shirt Co,, Inc. The
Company also maintains strategic stakes in
Laguna BelAir Science School, Inc. {72.5%),
Sonoma Premier Land, Inc. (60%), Gilmore
Praperty Marketing Associates, Inc. (47%),
and Pacific Coast Megacity Inc. [40%).

PROJECTS
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HIGHIAND CITY

Empire East Highland City is a 22-hectare
township situated along Felix Avenue at
the barder of Pasig City and Cainta, Rizal.
Its proximity to Marcos Highway and
Crtigas Avenue Extension placesitina
highly accessible location, especially with
nearby transit systems like the LRT Line
2 via Marikina Station and the upcoming
MRT Line 4 at Cainta Junction Station,
which will soon connect to the Metro
Manila Subway. This master-planned,
sustainable community features the
8,000-sguare-meter Highland Park—an
elevated green space with wide walking
paths, water features, and al fresco

retail areas, At the centerof this park is

a majestic 5panish steps that lead up

to Highland Mall, a future lifestyle hub
that will offer cinernas, restaurants, and
essential shops. Empire East Highland City
will alsc be home to luxurious residential
towers, a man-made forest, and a private
leisure hub called The Chartered Club, all
set withinan environment of wide roads,
bike lanes, and tree-lined sidewalks.

LS L

-
-
=
-
L3
L3
L3
L3
L3
L3
L
-
L
bl
=
-
e -
' 4/
-
=g
= =
=
=
=

THE PADDINGTON PLACE

The Paddington Place is a modern
four-towsr condominium community
located along Shaw Boulevard in
Mandaluyong City. With its walkable
distance to the Ortigas CBDand quick
access to the MRT-32 Shaw Boulevard
Station, this development offers
unmatched urban convenience through
its Transit-Oriented Development (TOD)
concept The ground podium will host
"The Pad,” a neighborhood mall that
will feature everyday essentials and
lifestyle options. Elevated amenities an
the seventh and eighth floors include

a lap poal, fitness gym, function rcoms,
landscaped gardens, and indoor
recreational spaces. The four high-rise
towers offer breathiaking skyline views
of nearby business districts, further
eievating its appeal as a well-positioned
city residence.
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Mango Tree Residences is a low-density,
two-tower high-rise community nestled
at the elevated corner of M. Paternc and
Ledesma Streets in San Juan City. This
enclave offers a peaceful atmosphere,
surrcunded by decades-old mango

trees that have been preserved within

the development. its location near the
future MRT Line 4 and major roads like

N. Demingo and Santolan provides
convenient access to key cities such as
Quezon City, Pasig, and Makati, Designed
to offer seclusion and serenity, the
buildings are built on stilts, allowing for
open, green spaces underneath. Residents
enjoy landscaped areas, an al fresco
lounge, and recreational facilities, all while
benefiting from low floor density and
exclusive living environments.

Located at the junction of Magsaysay
Boulevard and Santol Street Extension in
Santa Mesa, Manila, Covent Garden offers
a unigue mix of city accessibility and
community-oriented living. It is a short
walk from the LRT-2 V. Mapa Station and
is easily reached via the Skyway Stage

3 Extension and other major roadways.
The development features smartly
designed structures that provide ample
open space and elevated amenity areas,
aiving residents uninterrupted views

of the Metro Manila skyline. With close
proximity to LRT-2 that directly links

to LRT-1and MRT-3, this location offers
exceptional connectivity to key parts of
the metro.

Kasara Urban Resort Residencesisa
1.8-hectare resort-inspired community
located in Ugong, Pasig City, near 5
Road and within minutes from Ortigas
CBD, Tiendesitas, and Valle Verde. The
praoject is designed with nearly 60% open
space, offering residents a lush tropical
environment complete with a lake-
inspired pool, waterfalls, koi ponds, and
Jegging paths. Other amenities include a
clubhouse with a function hall, a fitness

gym, play areas, and landscapad gardens.

Future infrastructure developments
nearby, including the Metro Manila
Subway and MET Line &, are expected
to further improve the site's value and
accessibility.

Located along Elisco Road in 5an
Joaguin, Pasig City, The Rochester is

a seven-tower mid-rise development
that combines urban accessibility with
a resori-style residential setting. Just a
kilometer away from the C5-Kalayaan
intersection, the praject offers fast
access to Bonifacio Global City, Makati,
Ortigas, and Eastwood. Amenities
include a clubhouse with lounge
areas and a bar, a 25-meter lap pool, 3
fitness gym, landscaped gardens, and
a multipurpose court—providing a full
suite of recreational options for families
and individuals alike.
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Pioneer
Woodlands

Picneer Woodlands is a transit-criented
high-rise community directly linked

to the MRT-3 Boni Avenue Station in
Mandaluyong City. Located at the corner
of EDSA and Pioneer Street, it offers easy
travel to and from key CBDs like Makati,
Ortigas, and Bonifacio Global City, The
development consists of six towers and
features lifestyle amenities on the fifth
floor, giving residents both convenience
and elevated leisure within the city
center.

2024 Annuatl and Sustainsbility Report

Mestled between N. Domingo Street
and Aurora Boulevard in San Juan City,
Little Baguio Terraces offers direct
access to the LRT-2 Gilmore and J.

Ruiz Stations. This mid-to-high-rise
community is ideally located for students
and professionals who commute to

the University Belt, Katipunan, and
central Manila. The property offers a
podium-level amenity area, enhancing
community life within this city-centered
enclave.
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Makali CBD Lugury Revidances

San Lorenzo Place is a four-tower
residential condominium integrated
with the MRET-3 Magallanes Station at the
corner of EDSA and Chino Roces Avenue
in Makati City, With direct access to the
city's major business and lifestyle hubs,
this development offers a combination
of residential comfort and unmatched
connectivity. Amenities include
swimming pools, a fithess gym, daycare,
jogging paths, and its own lifestyle
mall—providing a complete urban living
experience for young professionals and
families.
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Vision

To be a brand of home that understands

tha humanity of its dwellers and crafis a
cityscape of lifestyle esnpowerment.

Mission

To build homes with a blueprint that
reflects the reality of the all-time wants
and needs of aspiring homebuyers,
integrated into dynamic communities
engineered through innovative and
pioneering lifestyle concepts.

2024 Annuatl and Sustainsbility Report

Commitment to Buyers

Empire East has a well-known track
record of project completion and
delivery as a testament to 1ts 100%
cormmitment to the vision of creating
quality homes for aspiring homeowners.
Each development concept and
construction comes with unique
features and elegant design that

meet and even exceed every client's
discerning expectations. Empire East
honors the trust that each buyer gives
them and assures that it 1s being atoned
equitably and excellently.

Home and Family Building

A tamily is considered a special atom
that composes a nation. It is therefare
considered the basic unit of society, from
whom today's active doers and leaders
are nurtured. Aiming for better relations
and stronger values within this system
is crucial in building a community that
unites in the common goal of economic,
social and political stride. It is therefore
essential for this unit to be placed in an
environment that instigates forward
thinkers and in a place that is conducive
to one’s personal growth. Through
Empire East’s integrated township
concepts, each person automatically
has a healthier ground to plant its roots
and to progressively grow. Through

this, Empire East can fulfill its goal to
help sustain the country’s continuous
development.

Core Values

National Progress and Prosperity

A progressive cityscape isa sign of an
improving country and urban lifestyle.
Empire East is dedicated to continuing
to uplift the lives of Filipinos by providing
a variely of developments located at
strategic addresses in Metro Manila.
This innovation aims to bring every
essential lifestyle closer to its dwellers to
oiffer urgent attention to each dynamic
city need. Its premier concepts that
incorporate resort-inspired lifestyles
and transit-oriented living into people’s
homes open each person’s minds to
better standards of life which in turn,
pull up the values of others they interact
with.

Expansion of Ideas and Vision

Empire East values the importance

of ideas from which more significant
concepts come from. The Company
believes that big changes are not
possible without that seed of change.
Everything starts with a vision, which is
slowly manifested into reality. Empire
East is inspired by its Chairman Dr.
Andrew L. Tan, who started his Company
only from a dream of producing
exceptional living spaces for aspiring
families. Three decades later, he was not
only able to provide homes but also, he
was able to create the best lifesiyles that
Filipinos deserve.



History

For three decades, Empire East has shaped
the landscape of urban living, pioneering
innovative residential concepts that
redefine homeownership for Filipinos.
Instead of slowing down during economic
challenges, the Company adapted and
innovated, introducing transit-oriented
developments, urban resort-style
communities, and pioneering the country’'s
first elevated city.

Through the years, Empire East has
continuously expanded its reach and
solidified its reputation as a game-
changer in the real estate industry with
groundbreaking projects, fiexible digital
solutions, and dynamic marketing
strategies that propelled iis

continuous growth.

EELHI sealed its milestones and
achievements through prestigious
accolades, including the 2023 Best
Developer Award and the 2024 Real
Estate Asia Awards. This era also marked
the Company's digital transmutation,
enhiancing customer experience through
innovations like the Ask About Your

Heme portal. Meanwhile, Empire East
Cares remained at the forefront of its CSR
efforts, which continues to reinforee the
Company’s mission to build safer, smarter,
and more sustainable communities across
the country.

Projects
Launched

Laguna Bel-Airl
Laguna Bel-Air 2
Little Baguia Gardens
Governor's Place
Kingswoaod

San Francisco Gardens
Greenhills Garden Square
The Xavier Hills

California Garden Square

Milestones and
. Innovations

Picneered Live-Waork-
Play Township Model

Flexible Unit Layouts
through Unit
Combination

First to Offer Ne Down
Payment and Zero
Interest Schemes

oo lle e Nole

oo O

Gilmore Heights

Laguna Bel-Air 4
Pioneer Woodlands
Little Baguio Terraces
San Lorenzo Place
The Rochester

e NolioNeNole]

allelieNeleNo

Laguna Bel-Air 3
Cambridge Village

The Sonoma

Kasara Urban Resort Residences
Mango Tree RBesidences

Covent Garden

The Paddington Place

Empire East Highland City

First to Launch
Loft-Type Units

Introduced Cluster-
Type Micro-City
Concept

Firstto
Open a Mall
Showrgom

Introduced
Resort-Style
Condominiums

Pianeered
Transit-Oriented
Developments

Established "Empire
East Networks"”
Regional Sales
Offices

Launched
Numerous C5R
Projects under
"Empire East Cares”

introduced the
“Empire East Elite”
Luxury Brand of
Developments

Launched the First
“Elevated City" in the
Philippines

Survived Various Crises;
As=ian Financial Crisis,
Global Recession,
COVID-19 Pandemic

Digital Transformation
to Upgrade Processes
and Customer Services

Trendsetter in
Advertising and
Marketing Strategies

Multi-Awarded
Developer and
Residential Projects

Strong Market
| eadership for 30 Years
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Financial Performance Overview

]

Php 4,950,790,000
bi"ion 2024 Revenues

d

6@

Php 381,214

Estimated Value of Betirement benefits

Php 602,557,070

Corporate Social Responsibility Investments

Operational Highlights

23

p h p Eogil‘flopments
12.2

billion

> 18 - Completed

> 2 -New

426

hectares

Total Landbank

Bezervation Sales
> 3 = Ongoing

Sustainability Highlights

CLIMATE LIFE
ON LAND

ACTION

100 250

Rescued Dogs
Highland Forest and Cats

Seedlings at

55 40%

Open Space
for Empire East
Highland City

Framework
Waste Management
for Recycling and
Waste Segregation

DECENT WORK

698

Total Permanent
Emplovess

468.16 M

Employes Wages and
Benefits

RESPONSIBLE

CONSUMPTION

100%

Local Suppliers

Safe Man-Hours

SUSTAINABLE CITIES
AND COMMUNITIES

19,842

Lnits Near Transit-
Oriented Developments

2

Community-Based
Initiatives

Hundreds

E-Go Bags Distribution

PRODUCTION AND

AFFORDABLE AND
CLEAN ENERGY

Adoption of
Resource-Efficient
Building Materials
and Practices in our
Developments

26,435900 6

Frojects included
in the CEOP

INDUSTRY,
INMOVATION AND
INFRASTRUCTURE

Ask About Your Home
Cnlire Portal

Emipire East Highland
City Walkthrough App

Filipinas Telesery
Fartnership

Emipire East Connect
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Empire East at 30

Empire East celebrated its 30th anniversary
with Tanaw at Tanglaw, a commemaorative
event that brought together employees
and executives for an evening of gratitude,
reflection, and renswed purpose. The
ceiebration highlighted the Company's
Jjourney from its beginnings in 1994 to
becoming a leader in the middle-income
real estate sector, delivering over 100
residential towers and pioneering housing
innovations that have empowerad
thousands of Filipino families

ito own homes,

Executives from Alliance Global and
Megaworld Corporation joined Empire
East President and CEQ Atty. Anthony
Charlemagne C. Yu in commemorating the
milestane. Speeches during the program
focused on the Company's three-decade
growth and its role in transforming city
living through innovations such as transit-
criented developments and flexible
payment schemes. Employees also shared
personal stories, showcasing how Empire
East has served not only as an employer
but also as a home where professional and
personal growth flourish.

The event included a special musical
performance by the Company, whose
nostalgic set paid tribute to the Company's

l' A 1B

early beginnings. The evening was also
filled with heartfelt moments as 30
employees shared stories of their Empire
East journeys, reinforcing the culture of
loyalty and shared purpose that drives the
organization.

One of the evening's major highlights
was the announcement of 30 CSR
pledges, reinforcing Empire East's long-
standing commitment to societal and
environmental responsibility. These
initiatives, in collaboration with various
NGOs, aim to support housing access,
environmental protection, and inclusive
developmeant—underscoring the
Company’s dedication to building not just
Romes, but better communities,

Through Tanaw at Tanglaw, Empire East
not only looked back on three decades

of achievements but also laid the
groundwork for future impact. With a
steadfast commitment to building homes
and supporting Filipino lives, the Company
moves forward with renewed vision-and
purpose for the years ahead.

2024 Annuat and Sustainsbility Report
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Certifications, Awards, and Recognitions

Customer Service Innovation of
the Year - Philippines

REAL ESTATE ASIA
AWARDS

2024 Real Estate Asia Awards

Empire East Land Holdings Inc. secured

two prestigious awards 2t the 2024 Heal

Estate Asia Avwards. These recognitions
highlight the Company’s holistic and tech-
driven approach to enhancing customer
experience through digitalisation.

Marketing & Brand Initiative of
the Year - Philippines

Empire East introduced tech-driven
strategies like the centralized online hub
“AskAboutYourHome.com™ for streamlined
client communication, the Empire East
Highland City Walkthrough App for virtual
project presentations, and the Contract
Event Tracker for monitoring payment
milestones. These tools enhanced
customer experience and operational
effici=sncy.

ESCG Initiative of the Year - Philippines

Empire East sustainable efforts inciuded
the creation of the Highland Forest,

the first natural forest in the landmark
development, and “The Hub" at Empire
East Highland City, 2 Ieisure destination
celebrating local culture. Empire East

also implemented eco-conscious
initiatives to reduce mobility and promote

sustainability

Sapphire Award at BDO Home
Loan Developers Awards

Empire East proudly receives the
Sapphire Award at the prestigious

BDO Home Loan Developers Awards,
affirming our strong partnership with
BDO in helping more Filipinos turn their
dream of homeownership into reality.
This recognition reflects the growing
number of Empire East buyers who
successfully secured bank financing
through BDO and completed payment
for their units—an important indicator

of trust, financial readiness, and our
buyers' satisfaction. The award reaffirms
Empire East's commitment to offering
accessible, flexible, and reliable home
financing options, ensuring that owning
a home remains within reach for many.
Representing Empire East at the
awarding ceremony were Enzo Abugan |,
EJ Amarille, and Joyous Domoandan from
Credit and Collection Team.




Board
. Composition
and ESG
Leadership
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For 2024, the organization has enhanced
its governance structure and leadership
regarding environmental, sccial, and
economic matters. Designated commitiees
now oversee each major impact area: Mr.
Lino Victorioso is at the helm of economic
inftiatives, Ms. Gemma Romero is dedicated
to environmental matters, and Atty. Amiel
A. Asuncion is responsible for managing
personnel-related matters. The Board of
Directors, which includes both executive
and non-executive members, guaranteesa
rebust decision-making process centered
on long-term sustainability.

The board’s composition reflects a balance
of experience and independence, with key
positions held by seasoned |leaders such as
Andrew L. Tan as Chairman and Cresencio
P. Aguino as Lead Independent Director.
By adopting this governance structure,
the organization reinforces its continuous
commitment to impactful leadership in
ESG performance.
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Andrew
L. Tan

Chairman of the Board
Male
Executive (Chairman)

Atty. Anthony
Charlemagne
C.-Yu

President and Chief
Executive Officer
hale

Executive (Member)

Kevin Andrew
L. Tan

Director
Male

Lino
P. Victorioso, Jr.

Director

Male

» Executive (Member)
» Audit (Memiber)

Enrique Santos

L. Sy

Director
Male

L

Corporate Governance
(Memizer)

Board Risk (Member)
Related Party
Transaction (Member
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Chairman and CEO
75, Male, Filipino

Dote of First Appointment: July 1994

2024 Annuat and Sustainsbility Report

Length of Service (as of December 31, 2024): 30 years
Committee Membership: Executive Committee ([Chairman)

Mr.Tan has served as Chairman of the
Company’s Board of Directors since its
incorperation in July 1994 He was also
Treasurer of the Company from July 1284 to
hMay 1998, He is the Chairman of the Board

of Megaworid Corporation, a publicly listed
corporation and the parent company of the
Company, and Chairman of other publicly
listed companies such as Alliance Clobal
Group, Inc, Emperador Inc., and Global-Estate
Resorts, Inc. He pioneered the live-work-
play-learn model in real estate development
through the Company's integrated township
communities, fueling the growth of the
business process outsourcing [BPO) industry,

He embarked on the development of
integrated tourism estates through publicly-
listed Alliance Global Group, Inc. and Clobal-
E=state Hesorts, Inc., which he both chairs,
while continuing to focus on consumer-
friendly food and beverage and guick service
restaurants. Mr. Tan serves a5 Chairman of the
Board of Suntrust Properties, Inc., a2 subsidiary
engaged in the development and marketing
of affordable housing projects. He also serves
in the beards of other Megaworld subsidiaries
including Eastwood Cyber One Corporation,
Megaworld Land, Inc., Megaworld Central

Properties Inc, Megaworld Bacolod Properties,

Inc., Mactan Oceanview Properties and

Holdings, Inc., Megaworld Newport Property
Holdings, Inc. and Richmonde Hotel Group
International Limited. He is also the Chairman
of Emperador Inc., 2 public-listed Company
which owns Emperador Distillers, Inc., the
leading brandy manufacturer and distributor
in the Philippines.

Mr.Tan is Chairman Emeritus of Megaworld
Foundation, the Company's corporate

social responsibility arm, which primarily
focuses on the promotion of education
through scholarship programs for financially
handicapped but deserving students, and
supports causes that promote poverty
slleviation, people empowerment, social
justice, good governance and environmenial
conservation. He is 3 director of Travellers
international Hotel Group, Inc., which owns
Mewport World Resorts Manila, and the

food and beverage companies, Emperador
Oistillers, Inc. Alllance Global Brands, Inc. and
Colden Arches Development Corporation.
Dr. Tan graduated magna cum laude from
the University of the East with 3 Bachelor of
Science degree in Business Administration. In
20M, Dr. Tan weas conferred by the University of
the East the Degree of Doctor of Humanities,
honoris causa
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Kevin Andrew L. Tan
Director
45, Male, Filipino

" |
I

Date of First Appointment; June 2015
Length of Service
(as of December 31, 2024): 9 years

Wr. Tan has served as Director since June
2015, He is the Director and Executive Director
of Megaworld Corporation. He previously

held the position of Vice President and

Chief Strategy Officer and also a previously

a Senior Vice President for Commercial
Division which markets and operates the
Megaworld Lifestyle Malis including Eastwood
Mall and The Clubhouse at Corinthian Hills

in Quezon City, Venice Piazza at McKinley

Hill, and Burgos Circle at Forbestown Center,
both in Fort Bonifacio, California Garden
Square in Mandaluyong City, Newport Mall

at Resorts World Manila in Pasay City, and
Lucky Chinatown Mall in Binondo, Manila and
Uptown Mall in Bonifacio Global City,

He is the President, Chief Executive Officer
and Vice Chairman of public-listed company,
Alliance Global Group, Inc, as well as the
President and Chief Executive Officer of
MREIT, Imnc. He is also concurrently a Director
of publicly-listed companies, Emperador
Inc.and Clobal-Estate Rescrts, Inc, and
other affiliate companies such as Eastwood
Cyber One Corpeoration, Uptown Cinemas,
Inc., Megaworld Central Properties Inc., Twin
Lakes Corporation, Megaworld Land, Inc,
Townsquare Development, Inc, Emperador
Distillers, Inc, Alliance Global Brands, Inc.,
Anglo Watsons Glass, Inc, Yorkshire Holdings,

Inc, The Bar Beverage, Inc, Emperador Brandy,

Inc., and New Town Land
Partners, Inc.

He iz also a Chairman of Megaworld
Foundation, Inc. and the Chairman and
President of Alliance Global-Infracorp
Development, Inc. and Agile Digital
Ventures, Inc.

ir. Tan cbtained his bachelor's degree

in Business Administration majorin
Management from the University of Asia and
the Pacific.

Mr. Sy was elected to the Board on 02 June
2002 Previously, he served as director

of the Company from April 1986 to April
1998 and from June 1999 to 23 December
2008. Mr. Sy was Corporate Secretary of the
Company from July 1994 until 31 March 2011
Mr. Sy concurrently serves on the Board of
the publicly-listed company, Megaworld
Corporation. Heis a Director of Eastin Holdings
and First Oceanic Property Manzagement,
Inc. He |5 also a Director and the Corporate
Secretary of Asig Finest Cuising, Inc.and
the Corporate Secretary of Empire East
Communities, Inc.

Mr. Sy previously worked as Advertising
Manager of Consolidated Distillers of the Far
East. Inc, Creative Director of AdCentrum
Advertising, Inc., Copy Chief of Admakers,
Inc., and Peace Advertising Corporation and
Creative Associate of Adformatix, Inc. Mr. Sy
graduated with honors from the Ateneso de
Manila University with the degree of Bachelor
of Arts in Communication Arts.

Enrique Santos L. Sy
Director
75, Male, Filipino

Date of First Appointment; June 2009
Length of Service (as of December 31, 2024): 15 years
Committee Membership:

Corporate CGovernance (Member)

Board Risk (Member)

Related Party Transaction (Member)
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Cresencio P. Aquino
Lead Independent Director
71, Male, Filipino

Date of First Appeintment: February 2018

Length of Service [os of December 371, 2024):

6 years

Committee Membership:
Audit (Chairman)
Corporate Covernance [Chairman)
Related Party Transaction [Chairman)]
Bosrd Risk (Member)

Atty. Aquino is currently the Managing
Partner of The Law Firm of CP Aguino &
Partners. He was first elected 3= independesnt
director of the Company on February 15, 2018.
He concurrently serves as an independent
director in the Boards of publicly-listed
companies, Megaworld Corporation and
Global-Estate Fesorts, Inc

Atty Aquino has extensive experience in both
the public and private sectors as Director of
Clark Development Corporation from 2012 to
2016, Independent Director of Suntrust Home
Developers, Inc. from 2002 to 2012, Corporate
Legal Counsel of MBF Card and One Card
Corporation from June 1998 to May 2004,
Special Assistant and Chief Legal Counsel of
the Covernment Service Insurance System
from September 19292 to June 19298, Director
of the Meat Packaging Corporation of the
Philippines from September 1992 to June
1298, Personnel and Administrative Manager,
Corporate Secretary and Chief Legsl Counsel
of ComSavings Bank from Sepiember 1992

to Jume 19898, and Executive Director of the
Department of Interior and Local Government
("“DILG") from 1288 to 1992, and concurrently
Ex-Officio Commissioner of the DILC with the
Housing and Land Use Regulatory Board also
for the same period.

Attty Aquino was formerly an Associate
Professor with the San Sebastian College. Atty.
Agquino has been 3 member of the Integrated
Bar of the Philippines since 1278 and is also

a member of the Capitol Bar Association,
Knights of Columbus, and the Lawyers League
of the Philippines. Atty. Aquino graduated
from San Sebastian College Manila with

the degree of Bachelor of Arts in 1973, He
obtained his Bachelor of Laws from the same
institution in 19772
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Independent Director
81, Male, Filipino

o

Date of First Appointment: June 2022

tiz- Luis, Jr.

Mr. Sergio R Ortiz-Luis, IJr. has served as

an independent director of the Company
since June 2022 Heis currently the Head

of the Philippine Exporters Confederation,
Inc. [PHILEXPORT), the country's umbrella
crganization for Philippine exporters under
the Export Develepment Act. Mr. Ortiz-Luis
is also the Honorary Chairman and Treasurer
of the Philippine Chamber of Commerce &
Industry (PCCI), President of the Employers
Confederation of the Philippines (ECOF),
Director and Past President of the Philippine
Foundation, Inc. (Team Philippines), and

a Founding Director of the International
Chamber of Commerce in the Philippines.
Additionally, he serves as the Independent
Director of MREIT, Inc.

Mr. Ortiz-Luis holds 3 bachelor’s degree in
Liberal Arts and Business Administration

and is a candidate for 2 Master of Business
Administration from De La Salle College. He
hasearned 2 PhD in Humanities from Central
Luzon State University, 3 PhD in Business
Technology from the Eulogio "Amang”
Rodriguez Institute of Science and Technology,
and a PhD in Business Administration from
Angeles University Foundation

Length of Service (os of December 31, 2024); 2 years

Committee Membership:
Board Risk {Chairman)
Audit (Member)
Corporate Governance (Member)
Related Pargy Transaction (Member]
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Corporate Governance Structure

Prezsident and Chief Executive Officer
62, Male, Filipino

Dote of First Appointment: August 1997

Length of Service (as of December 31, 2024):
27 years

Committee Membership:

Committes Membership: Executive (Member)

Atty. Yu has been a member of the
Company's Board of Directors since August
1997 and has served as President and CEO
T the Company for the same period. He
joined Megawaorld Land, Inc. in July 1996
and served as its Vice President until July
1297. Mr. Yu obtained his Bachelor of Arts
degree major in Political Science from the
Ateneo de Manila University and his Juris
Doctor degree from the University of the
Philippines. He holds a Master's Dagree
from the University of London. He also
holds a Master of Laws (LLM) degree from
the University of California at Berkeley.
He has also undertaken further studies
in Advanced Finance in the University of
Michigan

Atty. Yu previously worked for Ten Knots
Development Corporation where he served
as Vice President for Carporate and Legal
Affairs and was a member of bath its
Executive and Management Committees.
He also worked as a Legal Associate in one
of the country's largest and most active
law firms then, and served as Special Legal
Counsel to the Secretary of Health, Dr. Juan
Flavier. He also served asa Consuliant in
the Senate of the Philippines.

Atty. YU is a Professor of Law in the College
of Law of the University of the Philippines.

He was a member of the University
Faculty of the Ateneo de Manila University
for many years, and sat on the Board of
the Institute of the Philippine Culture of
the Ateneo de Manila University. Heis
presently the Chair of a commitiee of the
Board of the Ateneo de Manila University.
He was also a Founding Faculty of the
College of Law of D2 La Salle University,
and was a Professor of Law at the Lyceum
College of Law.

He 15 presently the Chairparson of the
Board of Trustees of World Wide Fund for
Mature - WWFE Philippines, which works to
improve Filipino lives by crafting solutions
to climate change, providing sustainable
livelihocod programs, and conserving the
country’'s richest marine and terrestrial
habitats. He was a member of the
Philippine Delegation to the Integrate
Environmental Management Forum held
in lsrael.

Atty. Yu was also a member of the Regional
Metwork of Legal Experts an Marine
Pollution of a multilateral agency, and sat
inthe Board of Trustees of Management
Advancemeant Systems, Association,

Inc. He served as the Chairman of the
Board and President of the Philippine
Science-assisted school, Laguna BelAir
Science Schoal, Inc. He is the President

of the El Nido Foundation, an NGO that
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promotes sustainabie development and
environmental protection in northern
Palawan. He is a Trustee of Culion
Foundation, a social development
organization that primarily supports
undertakings on the prevention and
control of selected communicable and
infectious diseases, reproductive health,
and micro-enterprise development.

He has served as the Chairman of the
ERDA Group of Foundations, which
promotes educational assistance to the
marginalized sectors of society, including
street children. He was also a member of
the Board of Trustees of IBON Foundation,
a non-profit research and education
development institution that provides
sacic-economic research and analysis

on people's issues to various sectors, He
also sits in the Board of NVC Foundation

- Negrense Volunteers for Change, an
organization that fights hunger and
poverty by providing proper nutrition

for poor children, as well as sustainable
Iivelihood opportunities for their families.
He is also a member of the Board of AHA!
Learning Center, an NGO that supports
public school children in various ways. He
also sits as a member of the Board of Kaya
Matin Movement for Cood Governance
and Ethical Leadership (Kaya Natin), which
promotes good governance and ethical
leadership in the Philippines. Atty. Yu is
also President and/or Director of Empire
East Communities, Inc., Megaworld Central
Properties, Inc., Sherman Oak Heldings,
Inc, Sonoma Premier Land, Inc., Valle Verde
Properties, Inc. and Megawarld Newpaort
Property Holdings, Inc.

He has been appointaed by the Supreme
Court to be a member of the Ad Hoc

Committee for the Formulation of the
Special Rules of Procedure on Anti-
Terrorism Cases, the Judicial Committes
on Sustainability and Environmental

Concerns, the Technical Working Group to

draft the Amendead Rules on Mandatory
Continuing Legal Education of 2025, the
Technical Working Group to Study the

Freedom Writs (Writ of Habeas Corpus and

Writ of Amparo), the Technical Warking
Croup to Amend the Rules on Special
Proceedings of the Rules of Court, the
Technical Working Group for the Training
and Capacity Building of Judges for the
Implementation of the Anti-Terrarism
Act of 2020 and Related Laws, and the
Technical Working Group on Fublic
Interast Lawyering, Alternative Lawyering,
Developmental Legal Aid, and Legal Aid,
among others. He has alsc served as a
resource person of the Supreme Court's
Technical Working Group on The New
Code of Judicial Conduct. He was alsc a
resource speaker in the Supreme Court’s
MNational Summit on Sustainability and
Environmental Law. Atty. Yu has aiso
been appointed by the Supreme Court
to be the Chair of the Constitutional Law
Department of the EPhilippine Judicial
Academy (PhilJA), a componant unit of
the Supreme Court which serves as the
training school for justices, judges, and
other present and aspiring members of
the Philippine Judiciary as well as court
personnel.

Lino P. Victorioso Jr.
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Information Officer,
and Compliance Officer

44 Male, Filipino

Date of First Appointment:
September 2023

Length of Service [as of December 31, 2024}
1year

Committee Membership:

Executive (Member), Audit (Member)

Mr. Victorioso, Ir. is the current Chief
Financial Officer, Chief Information Officer
and Compliance Officer of the Company.
He has served asdirector of the Company
since 11 June 2024, He also serves as the
Data Protection Officer of Megaworld
Corparation, a publicly-listed company. Mr.
Victorioso, Jr. previously held the position of
Senior Assistant Vice-President and headed
the Corporate Financial Services Division of
the Megaworld Corporation. Frior to joining
the Company, he held various CFQ roles

in the real estate and retail industries. Mr.
Victorioso, Ir. graduated cum laude fram
the University of the Philippines Diliman
with a degree in Business Administration
and Accountancy. He is a Certified

Public Accountant.

Jhoanna Lyndelou T. Llaga
Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Oificer
53, Female, Filipino

Date of First Appointment:
April 1996
Length of Service {os of December 31, 2024);

28 years

Ms. Llaga concurrently serves as director
of Empire East Communities, Inc, the
Company's subsidiary, and as a Senior

Vice President of Megaworld Central
Properties, Inc., an affiliate of the Company.
She joined the Company in April 1996 and
is currently the Senior Vice President and
Chief Marketing Officer. She was appointad
Marketing Head in June 2003, Assistant
Vice President in July 2009, Vice President
in March 2011 and First Vice President in
July 2015. Ms. Liaga graduated from the
University of the Philippines in March 1994
with the degree of Bachelor of Arts in
English

Language Studies.
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Giovanni C Ng
Treasurer

50, Male, Filipino

Date of First Appointment:
January &, 2002
Length of Service (as of December 31, 2024):

22 years

Mr. Ng has served as Treasurer of the
Company since 06 January 2002. He is

also the Senior Vice President and Finance
Director of Megaworld Corporation and
Treasurer of Adams Properties, Inc. and
Townsquare Development, Inc. He

serves as a director in Eastwood Property
Holdings, Inc., Oceantown Properties, Inc.,
Empire East Communities, Inc., Gilmore
Property Marketing Associates, Inc,, First
Centro, Inc, Valle Verde Properties, Inc,
Lucky Chinatown Cinemas, Inc. and New
Toewn Land Partners, Inc. and Megaworld
Land, Inc. Previously, he workaed as Analyst
Associate in Keppe! V] Investments. Mr.
MNg obtained his bachelor’'s degree in
Quantitative Economics from the University
of Asia and the Pacific, graduating summa
cum laude in 1995,

Dennis E. Edanc
Corporate Secretary and First Vice President for
Legal and Corporate Affairs

48, Male, Filipino

e

Date of First Appointment:
September 2003
Length of Service (os of December 31, 2024):

2l years

Atty. Edafio is the Corporate Secretary of the
Company. He has been with the Company
since September 2003 and currently heads
the Legal & Corporate Affairs Department.
Prior to his appointment as Corporate
Secretary, Atty. Edano was Assistant
Corporate Secretary of the Company. Atty.
Edano has extensive experience in civil,
criminal, administrative, labor and local
taxation litigation, labor relations and real
estate law. Prior to joining the Company,
he was an Associate at the Siguion Reyna
Montecillo Ongsiako Law Offices. Atty.
Edano obtained his bachelor's degree

in Law 1n 1999 from the University of the
Philippines and his bachelor’s degree in
Liberal Arts major in Philosophy from the
same institution in 1995.
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Assistant Corporate Secretary and First Vics
Eresident for Credit and Collection

&7, Female, Filipino

Date of First Appointment:
October 2006

Length of Service (os of December 31, 2024);
18 years

Atty. Sioson-Bumatay is the Assistant
Corporate Secretary of the Company. She
joined the Company in October 2006 and
is currently the First Vice President of the
Credit and Collection Department of the
Company. Atty. Sioson-Bumatay obtained
her bachelor's degree in Law from the
University of the Philippines in 2002 and
her bachelor's degree in Science major in
Biology in 1298 from the same institution.
She has extensive experience in civil,
criminal, administrative, labor litigation,
labor relations and real estate law. Prior
to joining the Company, she was a Senior
Associate at the Andres Marcelo Padernal
Guerrero and Paras Law Offices and an
Asspciate at the Ponce Enrile Reyes &
Manalastas Law Offices.

Franemil T. Ramos
First Vice President for Management
Informatlon System

50, Male, Filipino

Date of First Appaintment:
December 1257

Length of Service (os of December 31, 2024):
27 years

Mr. Ramaos jained the Company in
December 1997 and held various positions
in the Management Information System
(MI5) Department. He was appointed as
First Vice President in May 2022. He also
held the position of Senior Manager on
July 2004, Assistant Vice President on July
2006 and Vice President for MIS on July
20716, Mr. Ramos has a broad background
in multiple programming languages
along with extensive experience in system
analysis, design, and implementation.
Pricr to Jjoining the Company, he was a
Programmer Analyst of Union Industries,
Inc. assigned to developing and migrating
applications from mainframe computer.
He graduated from the Lyceum of the
Philippines with the degree of Bacheior of
Science in Information Technology.
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Arminus M. Madridejos
First Vice President and Head for Property
Cevelopment Division

53, Male, Filipino

Date of First Appointment:
January 2009

Length of Service (as of December 31, 2024):
15 years

Mr. Arminus M. Madridejos currently heads
the Property Development Division. He
joined the Company in January 2009

as a Senior Manager, was promoted to
Assistant Vice President in 2015, Vice
President in 2017, and First Vice President
in May 2023. Prior to his tenure with

the Company, he gained experience at
Jose Aliling & Associates {a canstruction
management firm), SYNA Engineering

(a project management firm), and Ayala
Land, Inc. {construction management
division), Mr. Madridejos holds a B.S. Civil
Engineering degree from the University
of the Philippines — Diliman, which he
completed in 1994, and obtained his Civil
Engineering license in the same year.

Amiel R. Asuncion
Senior Assistant Vice President for Human
Hesources

40, Male, Filipino

Date of First Appointment:
May 2014

Length of Service {os of December 31, 2024
10 years

Mr. Amiel R.Asuncion has served the
Company since May 2014, initially as
Assistant Vice President of the Legal

and Corporate Affairs Division befare
transitioning to his current role as Senior
Asgistant Vice President for Human
Respources. He holds a Juris Doctor
degree from Ateneo de Manila University
School of Law (2010)-and a Bachelor

of Arts in Philosophy, with a minor in
English Literature, from Ateneo de Manila
University (2006},

Mr. Asuncion brings extensive experience in
civil, criminal, administrative, tax, and labar
litigation, as well as labor relations and real
estate law. Before joining the Company,

he was an Associate at the Siguion

Reyna Montecillo Ongsiako Law Offices
and Villaraza Cruz Marcelo & Angangco,
and also served as a Legal Officer at the
Philippine Amusement and Gaming
Corporation,

Kim Camille B. Manansala
Vice President for Audit & Management Services
34, Female, Filipino

Date of First Appointment:
May 2076

Length of Service (as of December 31, 2024);
B years

Ms. Manansala currently serves as Senior
Assistant Vice President for Audit and
Management Services (AMS). She joined
the Company in May 2016 as Senior Audit
Manager and was appointed as AMS-Head
in July 2016, Assistant Vice President for
AMS in January 2017, Senior Assistant Vice
President for AMS in July 2022 and Vice
President for Auditand Management
Services in July 2024, She is also the
assigned Project Manager for the SAP
implementation from January 2017 to the
present.

Prior to joining the Company, she worked
with SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. (SGV

&; Co.) as Seniar Assurance Associate
where she gained extensive exposure in

financial/operations audit for insurance,
service, finance, and holding companies,
advertising and non-profit institutions.
She also worked with QBE Group Shared
Services Centre as Quality Assurance
Analyst Level 4 and AMA Croup of
Companies as Senior Audit Manager.

Ms. Manansala graduated Magns Cum
Laude from the Polytechnic University of
the Philippines in 2011 with the degree of
Bachelor of Science in Accountancy and is
a Certified Public Accountant

by profession.
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Cosca Camille M. Tuason
Assistant Vice President for Human Resources

Departrment
39, Female, Filipino

Date of First Appointment:
May 2006
Length of Service [gs of December 31, 2024);

15 years

Ms. Tuason joinad the Company in

May 2006 and has held various roles in
the Human Resources and Marketing
Department. She was promoted as
Assistant Vice President for Human
Resources Department last April 1, 2025.
Ms. Tuason holds a double degree in
Psycholegy and Guidance & Counseling
frorm St. Scholastica’s College Manila.
Shealso earned a Diploma in Industrial
Relations and is completing her degree
in Master of Industrial Relations at the
University of the Philippines, Diliman.

Gemma O. Romero

Vice President for Property Development,
Administration and General Services Department
51, Female, Filipino

Date of First Appointment:
August 5, 1988
Length of Service (as of December 31, 2024}

26 years

Engr. Romero entered the Company

as AVP for Property Development
Department and was promotied as Vice
FPresident for Property Development,
Administration and General Services
Department last February 15, 2025, She

has extensive experience in canstruction,

structural consultancy, and real
estate. Engr. Romero graduated fram
Bicol University with a degree in Civil
Engineering. She is a licensed

Civil Engineer,

Executive
Committee

The Executive Committee addresses
matters delegated by the Board, with the
exception of sharehclder approvals, by-
law amendments, Board vacancies, and
dividend declarations. It provides strategic
direction and operational oversight.

Chairman:
Dr. Andrew L. Tan

Members:
Atty. Anthony Charlemange C. Yu
Ling P. Victorioso Ir.

Audit
Committee

The Audit Commitiee cversees financial
reporting, internal audit effectiveness,
operational efficiency, and compliance
with lawsand regulations.

Chairman:
Cresencio P. Aquino

Members:
Sergio R. Ortiz-Luis, Jr.
Ling P. Victorioso Ir.

Corporate Governance Committee

This committee is responsible for
upholding strong corporate governance
by reviewing policies, assessing Board
performance, and ensuring governance
practices are in place and up to date.

Related Party Transactions Committee

The committee ensures transparency and
fairness in dealings involving related parties
by reviewing transactions for compliance
with Company policies.

Chairman:
Cresencio P. Aquino

Members:
Sergio R. Ortiz-Luis, Jr.
Enrigue Santos L. Sy

Board Risk Oversight
Committee

This committee supervises the
Implementation of the Enterprise Risk
Management Framework to ensure that

GER| effectively identifies, monitors, and
mitigates key business risks.

Chairman
Sergio R. Ortiz-Luis, Jr.

Members:
Cresencio P. Aguino
Enrique Santos L. Sy

Chairman:
Cresencio P. Aquino

Members:
Sergio R. Ortiz-Luis, Jr.
Enrigue Santos L. Sy




Sustainability
Strategy

Empire East is dedicated o achieving

a sustainable future by embedding
sustainability in every aspect of its
operations. The Company’s sustainability
strategy is anchared in three principal
areas: People, Prosperity, and Planet.
This framework is designed to positively
influence the environment and local
communities while driving economic
growth.
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Sustainability
Framework

N

SUSTAINACILITY

supports all

. 17 UN SDGs

EELHI's Sustainability Strateqgy leads

the development of transport-oriented
townships, resort-style, and residential
communities, targeting the middie-
income market segment. The Company’s
strategy embodies its core beliefa—
integrity, creativity, innovation, and a
deep commitment to both people and
the planet. By integrating sustainability
into every aspect of its operations,

EELHI addresses current challenges and
establishes a resilient foundation for future
growth.

rmpactiul
Growth

G

Gowvarmanos

Aligned with its parent company's
SustainAGllity Framework, EELHI has
evalved its sustainability strategy to
encompass three interdependent pillars.
These pillars organize material topics

into three overarching pillars—Peaple,
Flanet, and Prosperity—to guide long-term
sustainable value creation which is crucial
for building resilient urban landscapes.

Pillar 1:

People

EELHI recognizes the crucial role of
workforce and community in its success.
The Company is committed to initiatives
that enhance employee wellness, training,
and community engagement. These
programs enhance workplace safety,
promote diversity, equal opportunity, and
ensure customer care .

2024 Annuat and Sustainsbility Report

Employee Wellness & Empowerment

"+ Diversity and Equal Opportunity,
Human Rights, Employee Training and
Education, Workforce Health and Safety

Empire East invests in comprehensive
training programs, occupational health

and safety measures, and well-being
initiatives to foster a resilient and motivated
workforce.

These efforts ensure employes =atisfaction,
and an improyed customer experience.

Community Transformation

“ Community Impact of Developments

Empire East engages with local
communities, addressing local needs
through Corporate Social Responsibility
(C5R) programs and sustainable urban
development

By prioritizing community welfare, the
Company strengthens its social license to
operate.

Customer Care
11 Customer Satisfaction

Through continuous product iIMmprovements
and safety standards, EELHI| ensures its
properties and facilities mest or excesed
regulatory and client expectations.

The Company's customer-centric approach
enhances brand trust and loyalty
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EELHI is dedicated to reducing its
envirenmental impact through strategic
sustainability initiatives that emphasize
carbon neutrality, resource efficiency

and sustainable building cperations. The
Company's committed to environmental
stewardship, and aims to foster eco-friendly
community integration.

Carbon Neutrality

GHG Emissions, Climate Change

EELHI focuse=s on reducing greenhouse gas
emissions through adoption of renewable
energy, energy-efficient technologies, and
regular monitoring of carbon footprini to
align with

climate goals.

Aligns with the parent company's broader
climate goals, including net-zero targets.

Resource Efficiency

Water, Waste Management, Energy,
Material Consumption

The Company adopts rigorous measures for
energy conservation, water management,
responsible waste disposzl, and sustsinable
material sourcing

Initiatives include installing energy-efficient
technologies, optimizing resource usage,
and complying with environmental.

Sustainable Building Operations

Continued Development of
Design Standards

EELH! incorporates eco-friendly designs

into its development, by following the green
building code and focusing on resilience
against climate risks and enhancing green
spaces to promote seamless integration with
local communities.

Pillar 3:
\\g(/ Prosperity

EELHI prioritizes econcmic performance as
a key element of its sustainability strategy.
The Company aims to enhance its market
presence and drive economic growth
through governance practices, ensuring
compliance to regulation and ethical
business conduct

2024 Annuat and Sustainsbility Report

Impact growth

vt/ Economic Performance

EELHI ensures stable revenus stresams and
promotes local economic development
through continuous INnovation.

Good Covernance

fﬁéf«',: Risk Management, Business Ethics
and Integrity, Anti-Corruption, Procurement
Practices, Supplier Management, Strategies
and Policies, Stakeholder Management

The Company maintains transparent
financiz| reporting, ethical sourcing and
compliance with relevant laws.

Supplier accreditation process ensures
EELHI meets standards on guality,
sustainability, and ethical conduct
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Materiality

31,32

Empire East Land Holdings Inc,,
emphasizes a deep understanding of
sustainability priorities , shaping its
business strategy to align closely with

its objectives, values and stakeholder
expectations. EELHI conducts reqular
materiality assessments that are essential
for identifying, assessing, prioritizing and
managing the Company’s significant
economic, environmental and social
impacts. The process is aligned with
globally recognized standards such as
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), the

Key steps in the process included:

-

\

Sustainability Accounting Standards
Board (SASB), and the United Nations
Environment Programme (UNEP).

in the previous reports; Empire East
performed an assessment and evaluation
of its material topics, beginning with the
identification and assessment of actual and
potential positive and negative impacis
toidentify the relevant material topic. As
part of the process, the Company engaged
internal stakeholders, including various
departments, through a survey.

A comprehensive review
aof EELHI's economic,
erwvironmental and
social factors. Positive
Impacts (achisvements)
and potential risks of the
aperation are recognized
and identified for
proaciive managemsnt

Identification &
Impact Assessment

Different channzls

of consultatian with
internal and external
stakeholders enzsuring
that feedback is
integrated into decision-
making, reinforcing
EELHI's commitrrent
o inclusiveness

and responsible
managemeant.

Stakeholder
Engagement

Material topics were
compared against
industry, global
standards, and
regulatory reqguirements.
Wey issues were validated
with senior management
1o refine the materiality
matrix based on

impact and stakeholder
relevance.

Benchmarking,
Validation, and
Prioritization

Unified Impact: An ESG Blueprint

Building upon prior sustainakbility
disclosures, Empire East has refined

and enhanced its ESG framework by
consolidating the four thematic areas
from last year—Economic, Governance,
Social, and Environmental—into three
clearly defined SustainAGIhty Pillars:
People, Planet, and Prosperity. Specifically,
the previously separate Econcmic and
Governance areas have now been unified
under the overarching "Prosperity” pillar,
recognizing the inherent connection
between sound governance practices and
sustainable ecanomic grawth.

Under this newly consolidated Prosperity
pillar, Economic Performance is now
recognized as a material topic. While
economic performance has consistently
informed EELHI's reporting, its inclusion
now formalizes its integral rale within
Empire East's sustainability narrative,
reflecting Empire East's ongoing
emphasis on financial sustainability as
fundamental to its long-term success.
Concurrently, Risk Management has
been distinctly highlighted as a material

PEOPLE PLANET

Dhversity and Egual Opportunity
Labor Management snd Human

CHG Emissions
Climats Changs

tapic, acknowledging its critical role In
preactively safequarding the Company’s
operational integrity and long-term
wiability.

Moreover, Supplier Management,
previously under Environmental, is now
repositioned within Prosperity, highlighting
its role in driving sustainable economic
growth through responsible sourcing and
strengthened supplier relationships.

Within the Planet pillar, the topic of
Design Standards, which was previausly
discussed in last year's report within

the section "Continued Development of
Design Standards,” has now been formally
elevated and included explicitly among
Empire East's environmental material
topics. This move reinforces the Company's
ongoing dedication to environmentally
responsible development and innovation.

PROSPERITY

Economic Performances
Risk Mznagement

Right= o . - Water Business Ethics and Integrity
Employee Training and Educstion |, \aeote Mansaemient Ariti-corruption
Workforce Health and Safety . Energy = o B e

Comimunity Impacts of
development
Customer Satisfaction

mMaterial Consumption
Continued Development of
Diesign Standards

Supplisr Management

Through these thoughtful adjustments— with E5SG best practices, and clearly defines
streamlining from four thematic categories  its path toward integrated and sustainable
to three pillars—Empire East enhances value creation.

reporting clarity, strengthens alignment
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Stakeholder Engagement

2-29

In 2024, Empire East Land Holdings,

Inc. [EELHI) actively engaged with its
stakeholders, addressing their specific
concerns and cultivating substantial
relationships. EELHI prioritized
transparent communication across all
stakeholder groups, including customers,
employees, applicants, business partners,
government bodies, shareholders, and
local communities. Focusing on improving
customer service, the Company responded
to project updates, payment issues,

and unit concerns through enhanced
communication channels such as
centralized platforms, SME, calls, and
emails, EELHI's customer relations team
proactively cocordinated with internal
departments to ensure timely resolutions
and offer flexible payment options, such as
anamnesty program and digital payment
systems.

For employees, EELHI implemented work-
from-home arrangements, upgraded tools,
and addressed mental health concerns,
promoting a positive and productive work
environment.

The transition to digitalized progcesses, such

as paperless applications and streamlined
communication platforms, was also
extended to applicants to improve hiring
efficiency.

EELHI maintained strong relationships with
government bodies such as DENR, LLDA,
DOLE, and the Department of Health,
ensuring compliance with envircnmental,
health, and safety regulations. The
Company also collabaorated with local
communities, including the Anawim

Lay Missions Foundation, to implement
impactful C5R initiatives and coordinated
with Fiber Internet Providers for
cannectivity improvements. The Company
also worked with third-party payment
channels tc enhance its payment systems.

EELHI's commitment to continuous
improvement, digital transformation, and
stakeholder satisfaction reinforced its
reputation as a responsible and forward-
thinking organization.

Stakeholder

Group

Customers

Employees

Channels of

Communication
Project Update concerns - i
Project Information concerns - SM5
Fayment channel concerns . Email=
Client's payment concern= . Customer
Communication Channel Feedboack
corncerns

Customer Service conoerns
Lmit turnover concerns
Title concerns

Property Management
Concerms

Lrit repair concerns
Waranty concerns
Centralized platform for
buyer's payment

Endorsement

Implementation of work-from- - Mail

home arreangemenis for select - Call
employess hMesssngers

Digitalization and uploading Teleconferance,
of files for simultansous and Videocon-
visibility to all stakehoiders ference;
Cptimization of post- Zoogle Drive
pandemic workspace sstup Individual con-
Upgrading tools and sultstion=s
resources to current stendards

Addressing inadeguats

manpower o meet

operaticnzl demands

Enhancing Sustainability

Awmsrensss initistives

Sustzinability Awarensss

En=uring accurate, guality,

pest-price, and tmely delivery

of purchass reguests

Actions Taken

Enhanced Customer Relations
Mansgement through training
and digitalization
Endorsing-concems tothe EELHI
customer relations group and
coordinating with their |atest
account officer

& proactive approach.of
periodically capturing imiages of
ongoing property construction
and meonthly reports of
completion percentags
Restructuring of payment
tWerms, offening of amnesty
pEyTTEnt prograrm

Reopening of Food Hub to draw
|ocation awareness

Caorrecting project locationson
various navigation applications
Monthiy =ocigl media monitening
and correcting to align with
communications

Enhancement of the internal flow
of the payment system through
digitalization

FPartnrering with third-party
payment channels

Digitalization of all internal
proces=es including unt turnowver,
documentation, and title process
Coordinating with POCGS for
sz==ssment and resolution
Coordinating with Unit Owners
and providing timelines for
IN=pection and repair

Dedicated team from the Property
Manzgement Office to handls
Unit Owners' conoerns

Provision of work laptops

and reimbursement of
telecommunication expenses
Enhancing work performance
through repiacing and upgrading
cutdated devices, computer
=ystems. suppliss, and other
sgquipmesnt

Expanding the team for the switt
deiivery of eszential marksting
FEEsts

Installed S0OC boxes and initiated
discussions on Sustainability
Program planning and roll-out,
onestepatatime

Sustainability webpage at 70%
Provides wvehicle trensportation
for buying, pick up of items

,and delivery to employvees,
Coordination with employess
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Stakeholder
Group

Applicants

Business Partners

Government/
Regulatory Bodies

Providing timely updates

to employees regarding

the status of their purchase
reguests

Increazes in depsriments! fBoe-
to-face activities a= well as-out
town programs

Addressing mental heslth
concarns within the
organization

Preterence for remote work
arrdngermeni=s

Transitoning from onlineto
face-to-face intervisws
Increasing manpower
reguirements, including the
sddition of a Titles Group
department

Impiementing electronic
submission of bid propo=als
Routing contractors Reguests
for Informaticn and Shop
Dirawing & Matenal Submittals
to =ecure Consultants'
approvels

Ensunng compliance with
|atest DENR/LLDA parmmetsrs
and requiremesnts
Compliance with Green
Building Codes requirements
Ensuring cormmpliancs with
DOLE regulsticns

Company commitment to
comply with Occupational
Zafety and Health [O5H)
requirements
Implementing a policy and
program on Hiv AIDSin the
wiorkplace

Implementing 2 Drug-Free
Workplace Policy
Imelementing a Workolacs
Policy and Program on
Tuberculosi=s

Implementing & Workpiace
Policy and Program on
Hepatitis B

Addressing delays in tha
processing of permitsand
[icensss

Channels of

Communication

czll

SMS
Emails
Customer
Feedhack

Coogle Mest )
Video Inferview
Phone calis
U=ing online
job portal
messaging
functions

Actions Taken

Regarding the detsiis of their
purchass requests

Utilizing Google Drive to provids
site employsss copies of approved
FOsand scoess to CFF PRIPD
ronitoring for a real-time status
of their requests

Hawve all Company vehicles in good
working condition, maximize
utihzation of all vehicles in terms
of trips, and hire additional drivers
Held regular mentsl health
Fwareness programs/activities

Continue cnline/face-to-face
interview of applicants
Promote job sds in different job
porisi=

Link with fresh greduates by
participating inonlinejob fairs
and the Ezlibrr mastery program
hManags with applicants using 3
paperiess spplication process

Bidding Portal iz being developed
ChG colisborated with MISin

the creation of the Contractor-
Consultant Portal [CTR)

Hired con=sultants and allowed for
construction budget that will take
into account designs compliant
with the Green Bullding Code
Regular retaining of as=igned
Pollution Control Officers for each
property

Attended orientation and seminar
by DEMR/ LLDA

Updated Occupational Safety &
Hesith (O5H) Program
Compliancs with reportorial on
QoVEIMMENL regquirements
Accident/incident Reporting
Heightened coordination with the
concerned agencyIes; constant
follow-ups on appiications
Adopted to changes in the
raguirements by way of gradus!
internal process adiustment

Stakeholder

Group

Shareholders

Communities

Lddressing delaysin the
processirg of transter of titles

Lovaitability of refiable financial
information for scund
decision-making

Addressing pet-related
concerns within the property
Addressing security concerns
within the property
Mansging the increase in
Property Associstion Duss
Impfementing fiber
connectivity within the
property

Impiementing Corporats
Sorcial Responsibility (C5R)
activities

Channels of
Communication

Financial
Report=
Dizclosures,
Mestings

2024 Annuatl and Sustainsbility Report

Actions Taken

Ensuring tramsparsncy snd
accurate repressentation of
financial statements in all matsrial
respects, and posting sl public
reports through the PSEand
Compsny website

Updating HRR according to
property requirements and
limitations, a= well 3= the strict
impiementation of existing HRER,
including providing sanctions Tor
violators

Review and svaluation of all
Agency and Securnty Guards/
Officers

Replacemient of New Security
Agency with much more
capability, sguipment, and
expertize to handle residential
propertiss

Properhy discuss increase in
Property As=ociation Dues with
commidnity members
Coordinate with other Fiber
Internet Providers for the Fiber
Installation Project

Conducted vanous activities to
raiz= funds for semior beneficianes
through the Anawim Lay Mission=
Foundation




150 L
E‘) ON LAND




Empire Ea=t Three Decadss of Breakthroughs 2024 Annuat and Sustainsbility Report

Societal Value/
Contribution to UN SDGs

Relevant GRI

Material Topic and

Potential Negative Impact
of Contribution

Management Approach to

Description

Indicators

Negative Impact

Diversity and Equal
Opportunity:

Empire East ensures a fair
hiring practice, equitable
carear growth and an inclusive
workplace through non-
discriminatory policies and
gender diversity.

Labor Management and
Human Rights:

Empire East upholds labaor
laws, prevents forced and child
labor and foster workplace
equity through strict hiring
policies, supplier screening
and compliance with labor
standards

Employee Training and
Education

Empire East ensures a high-
performing workforce through
enhancing skills, productivity
and career growth with this the
Company fosters innavation,
retention and long-term
business sustainability.

Workforce Health and Safety

A secure, productive and compliant
wark environment is important for
Empire East to protect its workers
from hazards, prevent accidents
and promote employees well-
being.

Community Impact of
Developments

Empire East ensures that the
development positively impacts
the communities through
responsible censtruction and
community engagement.

GRI 401: Employment

GRI 405: Diversity and
Egual Opportunity

GRI 402: Labor/
Management Relations

GRI 408: Child Labor

CRI £09: Forced or
Compulsory Labar

CRI 404: Training
and Education

GRI 403:
Occupational
Health and Safety

GRI 413: Local
Communities

Fair hiring
Equitable
growth and
training

Fair labor
practice
Protects
employee
well-being

Learning and
upskilling
programs

Training and career
develocpment
opportunities

Weekly Safety
Meeting

Daily Routine
Inspections and
Safety Checklists

Community
partnerships
Community
programs

]

=

Extended hiring
timelines

Risk of policy non-
compliance and
labor disputes

Training costs
Employee
disengagement
Skills mismatch
and lack of
retention

Compliance
Issues

Community
expectations
Resource
constraints

Streamline
recruitment
Implement
inclusrve policies

Regular compliance
audits
Employee feedback

Training evaluations
5kill deveiopment
plans

Mentorship programs

Workplace safety
training
Compliance
monitoring

Stakeholder
engagement
Community
development
strategies
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Management Approach to
Negative Impact

Societal Value/
Contribution to UN SDGs

Potential Negative Impact
of Contribution

Relevant GRI
Indicators

Material Topic and

Description

Customer Satisfaction

It is essential for Empire East
to build trust, brand loyalty
and long-term business
growth to ensure high-gquality
developments and excellent
customer experience.

CGHG Emissions

Empire East monitors the
activities that contribute
greenhousea gas and implement
energy-efficient practices and
carbon reduction strategies to
align with climate action goals
and promote responsible urban
development.

Climate Change

Rising temperature, extreme
weather events and resource
scarcity pose a threat to Empire
East rea| estate development
prioritizing climate-adaptation
strategies and environmentally
responsible developments.

Water

Empire East relies on water
resources for building
developments, recreational
facilities, and daily operations.
To ensure long term water
sustainability, the Company
implements responsible
consumption practices and
water-saving initiatives across iis
prajects.

Waste Management

Effective waste management
minimizes landhll waste,
reduces pallution, and optimizes
resource use.

GRI £18: Customer
Privacy

GRI1 305: Emissions

CRI 303: Water and
Efflusnts

GRI 206: Waste

= Transparent
transaction with
buyers

= Customer-centric
innovations

= Llising LED lights
+ Tree planting

= Energy-efficient
technologies

» Sustainable
Development

= Maintenance of
water linesand
tanks

+ Potability tests

= Recychingand
processing

» Seqgregation of
wastes

Data breaches
Customer trust
issues

Initial investments
COst

Limited adoption for
tree planting

Higher costs for
energy-efficient
upgrades

Water waste
Water infrastructure
failures

Improper waste
handling
Increased landfill
use

=

Data security
enhancements
Transparency
measures

Phased
Implementation

Long term cost-
benefit analysis

Regular
maintenance
checks

Water conservation

trict waste
managemeant polices
and awareness
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Management Approach to
Negative Impact

Societal Value/
Contribution to UN SDGs

Potential Negative Impact
of Contribution

Relevant GRI

Material Topic and

Description

Energy
Energy management

Indicators

GRI 302: Energy

» Earth Hour

-

Limited participation

Increase awareneass

ensures operational LED Lights on Energy activity Extend participation
efficiency cost—eﬁe-:-:tivenesps SRR, drives and
d Accreditation strategies

and environmental
sustainability.

Material Consumption
Responsible sourcing and
durable materials can lower
the cost and reduce waste
to promote an operational
resilience.

Continued Development of
Design Standards
Refining architectural and

GRI 3201: Materials

» Sustainable supply
spurcing

» Sustainabie

Material scarcity
Higher procurement
costs

High cost integrating

Sustainable
sourcing
Supplier
partnerships

Optime resource

engineering practices construction sustainable materials allocation m .

ensures that Empire East and design Streamline

incorporates green building » Longer project compliance process B
timeline

principles, energy-efficient
design and climate adaptive
structure allowing it to

meet the evolving standard
and long-term urban
development.

Economic Performance
Financial stability drives
business growth and attracts
stakeholders and ensures
contribution to economic
development.

Risk Management

Froactive risk strategies,
policy reinforcement and
crisis management planning
enhances resilience of
Empire East against market
fluctuation, challenges and
uncertainties within

the operation.

GRI 207: Economic
Performance

» Business planning

» Hisk assessment
strategies

incompliance with
green building
standards

Financial risks
Economic downturn

Market fluctuations
Operational
disruptions

Financial resilience
Economic
farecasting

Implement
proactive risk
mitigation plans
Enhance crisis
managermnent
strategies and
policy frameworks

WCTHT T
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Societal Value/
Contribution to UN SDGs

Potential Negative Impact Management Approach to

Relevant GRI

Material Topic and

Description

Iindicators

of Contribution

Megative Impact

Business Ethics and Integrity
Transparent operations,
regulatory compliance and
stakeholder trust upholds
business practice and
accountability for sustainability
and growth

of Empire East

Anti-corruption

Ensures ethical business
practices, regulatory
compliance and stakeholders
trust at Empire East

Procurement Practices

CRI 206:
Anti-competitive
Behavior

GRI 205:
Anti-carruption

Compliance to
regulations

Anti-corruption
training

¥

Regulatory fines and
legal penalties

Bribery risks
Unethical practices

Reqular audits
Policy
reinforcement

Ethics training
Strong compliance
mechanisms

gy 7 GRI 204: Supply Chain » Supplier non- » Supplier audits
Maintaining transparent Procurement sustainability compliance ESG performance
supplier selection and Practices Supplier social and tracking
compliance with standards environmental
ensure efficient operation and GRI 227 T
supply chain integrity Environmental
at Empire East Standards

Compliance

Supplier Management :

PP = Supply chain

Empire East assesses the
environmental and social
practices of suppliers to ensure
they meet the Company’s
standards for labor rights,

fair practices and promoies
sustainability across the supply
chain.

GRI 308: Supplier
Environmental
Aszessment

GRI &414: Supplier
Social Assessment

sustainability
Supplier social and
envircnmental
assessment

Mon compliance with

anvironmental and
social standards
Exploitation of
workers and poor
waorking conditions
within the suppliers

¥

Supplier evaluation
form
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Employee Wellness & Empowerment

Diversity and Equal Opportunity

I3 2.8 4010, 401-Z 401-3, 405

Real estate developments play a vital
role in economic growth, environmental
sustainability, and improving the quality
of life for communities. These projects
contribute to job creation, reduce
unemployment, and promote long-term
ecological balance through sustainable
practices. They also open access to
essential services like education and
healthcare to local communities.

Employee brealdown [2-7]

@ rale @ Femals

Empire East promotes diversity, equal
opportunity, and fair labor practices,
ensuring safe working conditions, ethical
business conduct, and responsible
investments, actively tracking its impact

on employment, community development,

and environmental sustainability through
comprahensive policies and continuous
dialogue

with stakeholders.

aho &0
‘50
300
o
Total:
200 0
2022- 565
2 2023- 668
Lo 2024- 55985
ko]
L 2002 2078 2004 ¥ 2002 2023 2024

By Number By Percent

Empire East’s appreoach to employment
aligns with its commitment to 5DG 8,
promaoting inclusive and sustainable

-economic growth, full and productive

employment, and decent work for all.

The Company seeks 1o create a dynamic
and safe environment where both male
and female employees thrive. Positions at
various levels especially entry-level roles,
are open to individuals eager to develop
their careers in a2 supportive setting.
Vacant positions are filled according to the
approved annual Manpower Budget

and HR guidealines, ensuring fairness,
transparency, and professionalism.

The Company focuses on attracting the
most qualified candidates through the
recruitment process. The Company uses
various communication channels, both
online and offling, such as LinkedIn,
Kalibrr, and newspapers, as well as virtual
interviews toc ensure safety protocols are
met. Empire East is dedicated to hiring
individuals with the necessary skills,
educational backgrounds, experience, and
character to thrive in their roles.

EELHI also advances gender equality In
the workplace in line with SDG 5. As of
2024, the Company’s workforce consists of
628 employees—388 {55%} women and 310
(44%) men—demonstrating a continued
commitment to gender-balanced
representation across departments. This
balance is also reflected across different
organizaticnal levels. In 2024, the number
of female non-executive employses
slightly decreased from 391 to 388, while
male non-executives rase from 277 to 310

At the executive level, male leadership

increased from 86% to 100%, while female
representation on the Board declined
from 14% to 0%. In senior management,
gender balance was maintained in 2024,
with both men and women egually
represented at 35%. Middle management
saw a slight shift, with female
representation decreasing to 46% and
male representation increasing to 54%.
Among rank-and-file employees, women
continued to hold the majority at 57%,
while men comprised 43%.,

Diversity across Organizational levels by Gender (in %) [405-7]
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Diversity across Organizotional Levels by Age {in %) [405-1]

Board of Dirsciors

Senor Management

sddle Manapsment

Rank and Fils

Board of Directors

Senor Management

Middie anagement

Rank and Fils

Board of Directors

Seniot Mansgement

Middle Management
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20
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The Group's workforce reflects a

diverse age distribution across various
organizational levels. At the Senior
Management level, employees over 50
years old made up 43% in 2022, dipped to
21% in 2023, and rose again to 53% in 2024,
Those aged 30-50 remained the majornty
in this group, peaking at 79% in 2023
before declining to 47% in 2024.

Middie Management continues to be
predominantly composed of individuals
aged 30-50, consistently accounting

for 66% to 70% from 2022 to 2024.
Representation of those under 30 slightly
declined from 13% in 2022 and 2023 to 10%
in 2024.

The Rank and File category is largely made
up of employees below 30 years old, who
represented 52% in 2022 and increased to
68% in 2023 before slightly decreasing to
B4% in 2024, Meanwhile, employees aged
30-50 made up about a third of this group,
while those over 50 accounted for just 1-2%
over the three-year period.

AL the Board of Directors level, there was

a noticeable age shift: the proportion of
members aged 30-50 rose from 14% In
2022 and 2023 to 29% in 2024, while those
over 50 decreased from 86% to 71%. No
members were under 30 across all years.

As of 2024, gender diversity at the Board
level reflects:a gap, with:all seven members
being male—indicating no female
representation.
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Workers who are Not Employees [2-8]

Total:

2022- 445 2023- 302 2024- 2651

Empire East also engages independent
contractors and third-party agency
warkers to support aperations across

its construction, sales, and property
management activities. These individuals
are not classified as direct employeses but
their contributions remain vital to the
Company's continued success.

From 2022 to 2023, the number of
contractors decreased as the Company
streamlined its engagement with sales
agents. However, in 2024, the Company
significantly expanded its contractor base
to include sales agents and skilled workers
for construction projects and personnel
for properity operations and management.
This shift led to a substantial increase in the
number of contractors engaged — from
302 in 2023 to 2,651 in 2024. Among them,
2337 were male and 314 were female,
reflecting the labor-intensive nature of
construction work.

EELHI also partners with third-party
agencies to deploy specialized workers

® Male ' Female

for security, housekeeping, and property
management services across its project
locations. In 2024, a total of 35 agency
workers were deployed, consisting of

23 male and 2 female personnel. These
individuals were assigned to site security,
office and sales hub housekeeping, and
parking cperations,

Security services were provided primarily
by Matapat Pilipino Security and
Investigation Agency, Inc, and Taipan
Security Service Inc., whose personnel
were deployed across multiple projects
such as Empire East Highland, The
Cambridge Village, and Laguna Bel Air,
Housekeeping roles were handled by Blue
Collar Manpaower Services Inc. Parking and
Froperty support services were fulfilled by
Joblink Business

Solution Inc

New Employee Hires [401-1]
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From 2022 to 2024, Empire East
maintained a consistent pace in
expanding its direct workforce. A total
of 168 new employees were hired in
2024, representing 24.075% of the total
headcount—a slight decrease from the
32.04% hiring rate in 2023.

Across all three years, female hires
consistently outnumbered male hires,
affirming the Company's commitment

to diversity and inclusion in its workforce.
In 2024, 92 women were onboarded,
accounting for 13.18% of the total employee
base, while 76 men were hired, comprising
10.89%.

The majority of new hires were under

the age of 30, reinforcing the Company's
emphasis on nurturing young professionals
and building a dynamic talent pipeline. In
2024, 142 individuals below 30 years old
were brought in, compared to 26 aged
between 30 to 50. No hires were recorded
for the 50+ age group during the reporting
period.

Employee Turnover [407-1]

2022

By Gender

By Age Group

By Gender

By Age Group

20 40 60 80 100

0

0] 20 40 60 80 100

Total:

= o = s . @ Male @ Female @ <30 years cld
2022- 1471 265 2023- 141/ 22.45% 2024- 143/ 20.65%

@ 30-50 years old = 50 years old

The attrition rate was recorded at 21% continues to seek ways to improve
in 2024, reflecting a decrease from 26% employee retention. Understanding
in 2022, The Company recognizes that these factors is critical to refining the
voluntary resignations are mainly due opportunities and ensuring a thriving
to reasons such as career advancement, warkforce.

personal matters, and relocaticon, and
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Employvess who Avoiled Benefits {in %) [$01-2] Parental Leave [£01-3]
Benefits 2022 2023 2024
Female male Female Male Female Male
555 490 4 5] 9.50 115 3.63 032
PhilHealth 315 497 3.96 409 259 1.60
Pag-ibig 420 410 554 8.55 0 0
Life Insurance ] 0 0 0 0 032 Rl
ET 73 =] g S 17 100 5294
Disability and invalidity 0 0 0 0 0 032 2T
coverage Female 57 15 15 10 18 100 LEA6
Parental leaves 490 164 475 6.32 337 192 FY 2023
Vacation leaves 9021 8566 100 100 37.05 71.47 Male 74 W 1z 5 % 1o 100
Sick leaves 3846 3320 4733 7546  60.88 9647 EStie Ge L i k3 Ln LAY L,
Medical benefits (aside 1399 1025 3641 2193 130 0.64 EEZORE
from PhilHealth) Male = 4 4 3 4 100 75.0
Housing assistance (aside 0 0 0.79 1.86 104 3.2 Female 59 4 14 12 13 100 9231
from Pag-ibig)
Retirement fund (aside 0.35 0.41 057 053 1 1
from 555)
Telecommuting 7832 89.75 152 12 0
Flexible-working Hours 78352 85975 0 o 0
) ) ) In 2024 24 employees, including both
Empire East offers its employees a Company strives to ensure that employees males (9) and females (15), took parental
comprehensive range of benefits, including of all levels, regardless of gender, can leave. The Company contiﬁueg to promote
social secur_lty, health :nsur_ance, parental benefit from these offerings. gender equality by providing job-protectad
leave, vacation leave, and sick leave. The leave for parents to care for their children,

supporting economic development and
maternal health.

The return-to-work rate in 2024 was 100%
for both male and female employees,
underscoring the effectiveness of current
reintegration programs and the importance
of sustaining inclusive support systems to
ensure continued workforce participation
for all.
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Labor Management and Human Rights

-5, 4021

Empire East Land Holdings Inc.upholids
local and international labor standards

by ensuring fair wages and safe working
conditions and promoting a workplace that
respects and values non-discrimination.
The Company demonstrates its
commitment to open communication and
employee well-being through transparent
policies, mental health support, and
wellness programs.

Active engagement through feedback
channeis and grievance mechanisms
ensures a harmonious and inclusive
work environment. Open-door policies
encourage transparent communication
between employees and management,
while collaborative decision-making
processes allow employee representation
in key discussions.

Woaorkplace grievances are addressed
through a structured and timely resolution
process. Employees are encouraged to

raise issues with the Human Resources
department, which works closely with a
grievance committee to find appropriate
soluticns. Regular dialogues, meetings,
and surveys serve as platforms for open
discussion.

EELHI continuously monitors and
evaluates the effectiveness of its labor
management strategies. Workplace safety
measures are regularly reviewed and
improved, with audits and compliance
checks ensuring adherence to industry
best practices. Progress is measured
through key indicators such as enhanced
communication channels, reduced
workplace incidents, and improved
employee heslth and wellness programs.
Training and career development
investments further demonstrate the
Company's commitment to supporting
employee growth.

Disclosure

Collective bargaining and human rights/labor low incidents [2-30, 408-1, 403-1]

2022 2023 2024

MNo. of legal actions or employee grievances invalving 0 O 0

forced or child labor

Security personnel trained in human rights policies or procedures [£70-1]

Disclosure 2022 2023 2024
Security personnel who have received formal training = = 160
in the organization's human rights poelicies or specific
procedures and their application to security (%)
Are third-party security personnel also required to un- = = Yes

dergo security and human rights training?

Empire East strictly upholds policies

that prevent child labor, aligning with its
cammitment to Sustainable Development
Coal (5DC) 8. The Company enforces
rigarous compliance measures across its
operations, ensuring all employees meet
the minimum legal working age. Hiring
protocols mandate proper documentation
verifying age eligibility, reinforcing its
dedication to ethical labor practices.
Beyond its internal workforce, Empire East
extends this commitment to its partners
and contractors. The Company conducts
due diligence to verify that all external
collaborators adhere to labor laws and
ethical employment standards. Empire
East mitigates risks and strengthens
accountability across its supply chain by
requiring documentation

before engagement.

Empire East upholds a strict policy
against forced or compulsory labor, in fully
complying with applicable labor laws and

international standards. As stated in the
Company's Code of Discipline, coercion,
exploitation, or unethical labor practice is
strictly prohibited. The Company remains
committed to developing a fair and ethical
workplace, as there are no legal actions or
employvee grievances related to forced or
child labor have been recorded since 2022,

This commitment to labor and
management relations extends beyond
internal policies as it actively involves

the community in its initiatives. EELHI's
policies promote open and respectful
communication, ensuring a safe dialague
between managament and workers, Such
an approach is crucial in preventing and
mitigating potential negsative impacts
related to labor relations, especially within
communities where developments occur.
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Employee Training and Education

Empire East cultivates employee growth
and professional development through
a comprehensive training and education
program. The Company tracks each
employee's training hours, ensuring that
both male and female employees access
continuous learning cpportunities.

EELHI offers various programs tc upgrade
employee skills, including orientation for
new hires, leadership training, and health
and wellness initiatives. These programs
enhance workplace effectiveness while
supporting employees in their cngoing
career development.

The Company implements structured
training initiatives egquipping employees
with the necessary skills and knowledge
to excel in their roles and adapt to industry
advancementis. The Human Resources
department, in collaboration with various
teams, assesses training needs and

Employee Training Hours [404-7]

® rale ¥ Famale
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In 2024, EELHI employees received
significantly more training compared to
previous years, Male employees recorded
an average of 1218 hours of training per
year, up from 2.65 hours in 2022 and 1.48

-3 404-2

develops targeted pragrams to enhance
workforce capabilities.

Orientation programs for new hires
introduce employees to the Company’s
culture, policies, and operational
proceduras, ensuring a smooth transition
into their roles. Skills enhancement training
focuses on developing interpersonal skills,
communication, teamwork, and leadership.
In-house seminars and webinars provide
industry-specific insights through expert-
led discussions and interactive learning
sessions, keeping employees updated

on best practices and innovations.

The Company also integrates heaith

and well-being programs to recognize

that employee wellness contributes to
productivity and job satisfaction.

Avergge Training Hours [&04-]]

@ Male ¥ Fernale
25

20

Total:

2022-243  1d
2023- 1.43
2024- 20.00

5
0
2022

2023 2024

hours in 2023. Female employees also
showed an increase, with 20.82 hours in
2024, compared to 219 hours in 2022 and
1.38 hours in 2023.

o
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1,598,349 6,915,628 5,637,172
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The Company significantly increased its the organization. Empire East utilizes
investment in training and development, evaluation forms and Key Performance
from Bhp 1,598,349 in 2022 to Php ©£,915628 Indicators (KPls) to measure these

in 2023, demonstrating its commitment to initiatives’ effectiveness, supplemented
employee growth. In 2024, it sustained this by semi-annual performance appraisals.
commitment with a continued investment  Employees who demonstrate cutstanding
of Php 5,637,172, performance are recognized and provided
with cppartunities for career progression,
reinforcing a culture of

merit-based advancement.

EELHI alse pricritizes reqular performance
and career development reviews
supporting employees’ growth within

AGCI Accountant's Conference collaboration-and continuous learning

as EELHI marked its 20th anniversary. It
reaffirmed the Company's commitment to
Accountants’ Canference that unites empowering professionals who help shape
finance leaders and professionals across the future of the crganization and the
Alliance Global Group to explore the theme industry at large.

‘Innovate to Elevate.” The event highlighted

the essential role of accountants in driving

inngvation and resilience amid evalving

businessand regulatory landscapes.

Empire East hosted the 1ith ACGI

DICT Secretary Ivan John Uy delivered

the keynote address, emphasizing

the profession’s impact on digital
transformation. Empire East President and
CEO Atty. Anthony Charlemagne C. Yu also
spoke, reflecting on the Group’s legacy of
innovation under Chairman Dr. Andrew

L. Tan—from redefining urban living to
setting new industry standards across real
estate, hospitality, and consumer goods.

The conference served as a platform for
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Performance reviews by gender (in % ) [404-3]

Disclosure

By Gender
Male

Female

Total

By Employee Category
Senior Management

Middle Management
Rankand File

Total

Empire East ensures regular performance
and career development reviews for all
employees. In 2022, 100% of both male and
female employees participated in these
evaluations. In 2023, participation slightly
declined to 82.16% for male employees and
79.68% for female employees. By 2074,
these figures improved to 94.84% for males
and 94.07% for fermales. The fluctuations
may be attributed to several factors.
Employees on extended |leave—such as
maternity leave, medical leave, ar career
breaks—might not have participated in
scheduled evaluations.

2022 2023 2024
100 8216 94.84
100 79.68 9407
100 8071 94.4]
100 92.86 75
100 7864 81.25
100 81.40 96.84
100 80.71 9455

Beyond skill development, Empire East
supports employees navigating career
transitions. Retirement celebration and
recognition programs acknowledge

the contributions of retiring employees,
celebrating their achievements and years
of service. Knowledge transfer initiatives
for business continuity are also practiced
through mentorship and

documentation processes.

Workforce Health and Safety

-3, 4031, 4D3-2, 4033, 403-4 4035, 403-6, 403-7, 403-

L&l
(i ]

Empire East is dedicated to maintaining
a sate and healthy work environment

for all employees that aligns with the
Labor Standards Act and relevant

safety regulations. The Company

has implemented a comprehensive
Occupational Health and Safety

{OSH) program that adheres ta legal
requirements and risk management
standards. This includes develaping
emergency response plans, regular safety
drills, and thorough hazard assessments to
ensure a proactive approach to safety.

The Health and Safety Commitiee oversees
the implementation of these measures,
ensuring continuous IMmprovemeant
through training, employee feedback, and
incident investigations. The Company’s
commitment to safety is reflected in its
ongoing efforts to create a culture of
responsibility

and preparedness.

The Company’s Occupational Health and
Safety (OHS) program, which adheres to
legal reqguirements and industry standards,
includes all workers, from office employees
to construction site personnel, ensuring
that all areas of operation are covered. The
program aligns with the Occupational
Safety and Health Standards (O5HS) and
Department Order No. 13, series of 1998,
guaranteeing caompliance with regulations
specific to the

construction industry.

It is important to note that the data on
O5H covers both construction and property

management operations, with details on
work-related incidents, safety drills, and
total safe man-hours for both sectors. On
the environmental front, compliance with
safety regulations.ensures legal conformity
and positively influences the workforce's
overall welfare, contributing to a healthier,
more productive work environment. The
Impacts are multifaceted for the people,
affecting health, job satisfaction, morale,
and productivity. The Company's cngoing
efforts to maintain and improve these
impacts focus on creating a conducive
environment for employees to thrive,

Empire East has implemented various
preventive measures to manage these
impacts, such as regular updatesto
emergency response plans for natural
disasters, accidents, and security incidents.
Drrills and training exercises are conducted
to ensure that employees are well-
prepared for emergencies, In cases of
actual negative impacts, the Company
conducts thorough investigations to
determine the root causes of incidents and
implements corrective actions to prevent
recurrence. These processes enable the
Company toevaluate progress toward
safety goals and targets, ensuring that
employees stay informed and engaged In
safety practices. The Company regularly
reviews jts safety protocols to improve

and adapt them based on feedback and
evolving risks.
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OHS Performance [403-3 403-10]

Disclosure 2022 2023 2024
Safe-Man Hours 4,857,198 3,258,005 26,435 3900
Work-related injuries 17 23 325
Work-related fatalities 0 4 0
Work related ill-health 0 0 8
Safety drills T 7 21

In 2024, Empire East recorded three
hundred twenty-five work-related

injuries and eight work-related ill health
across both construction and property
management operations, The total safe-
man hours increased to 26,435,900 in 2024,
a remarkable improvement compared to
3,258,005 in 2023 and 4,857,198 in 2022,

Empire East has established transparent
processes for investigating work-related
hazards and incidents in terms of incident
management. These investigations aim
to identify the root causes of accidents

or unsafe situations, and corrective
actions are taken based on the hierarchy
of controls to eliminate or minimize the

risks. Employees are encouraged to report
hazards and unsafe conditions through
various channeis, ensuring that their
concerns are addressed promptly. Workers
aiso have the right to remove themselves
from situations they believe could cause
injury or ill health, with the assurance that
their safety is a top priority.

Regular safety drills remain a cornerstone
of the Company's OHS program, with
twenty-one conducted in 2024, up from
seven in 2023 but slightly lower than 11 in
2022. These ongoing drills and training
exercises ensure that employees remain
prepared for emergency situations

Strengthening Employee Wellness Through Strategic Healthcare Initiatives

Empire East remains steadfast in its commitment te employee well-being by forging
a partnership with the Philippine Mental Health Association (PMHA) alongside the
renewal of its HMO coverage. Through this coliaboration, the Company enhances

its employee wellness programs with expert-led mental health resources, including
educational sessions, counseling services, and proactive interventions.

Community Transformation

EELHI townships are designed not only
o benefit homebuyers and uplift the
surrcunding communities. These projecis
catalyse area revitalisation by strategically
locating developments near key

establishments, creating job opportunities,

and forging vibrant neighborhoods. This
approach accelerates the growth of local
businesses, bringing prosperity to the
entire area.

Community Impact of Developments

3-3,203, &3
Empire East Land Heldings Inc.
continuously strengthens community
engagement through its Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) and development
programs. EELHI's initiatives create
pasitive local impacts, by advancing job
creation, supporting small businesses, and
improving overall community well-being.

. In alignment with GRI standards, Empire
East manages stakeholder relationships,
prioritizes customer health and safety, and
ensures compliance with labor relaticns.

The Company remains committed to
transparency, tracking non-compliance
incidents, and taking necessary actions to
uphold its values and contribute to long-
term cammunity transformation.

Empire East, a publicly listed Company,
serves a diverse community of stakeholders
and recognizes its significant responsibility
asan active societal participant. The
Company is committed to promaoting its
core values of community growth, resilient
cities, and safe, inclusive spaces where
individuals can thrive,

At the heart of EELHI's missian is providing
sustainabie homes supporting Filipine
families’ growth and prosperity. By

i e T e

focusing on creating homes in strategic
locations, Empire East partners with Local
Covernment Units (LGUsS) to implement a
comprehensive land

use program.

The Company also recognizes the vital
role that families play in nation-building,
alongside the contributions of the youth
in shaping a brighter future for all. As
EELHI| continues ta expand its CSR efforts
through the Adopt-a-School programand
partnerships for responsible waste disposal,
it further enhances its commitment to
sustainable community development.
Empire East encourages these values by
ensuring its projects not only meet the
immediate needs of its residents but also
contribute to the long-term development
of the communities

it serves.
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Brigada Eskwela: Adopt a School

On September 17, 2024, representatives
from the General Administrative Services
(CAS) team visited Pedro P Cruz
Elementary School in Mandaluyong City to
participate in the annual Brigada Eskwela
initiative, a nationwide effort that rallies
community support in preparing public
schools for the upcoming academic

wyear. The visit reaffirmed the Company's
commitment to education and community
development through active stakehclder
engagemeant and tangible contributions.

In tine with this commitment, the team
turned over a substantial set of donations
aimed at enhancing the learning
environment for the school's students and
faculty. These included 200 assorted books
to enrich the school’s library, 6 industrial
fans to improve classroom ventilation, 300
monoblock chairs and 30 tables to support
classroom and activity space needs, and
120 pieces of jalousie glass for facility
repairs and maintenance.

This outreach activity underscores EELHI's
broader mission to support inclusive

and gquality education by fostering safe,
well-equipped, and engaging learning
spaces. The engagement at Pedra P

Cruz Elementary School has contributed
to physical improvementsand reflected
the Company's dedication to nurturing
future generations through collaborative
community action.

&
i
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Empire East and AHA Learning Center
Collaborate to Enrich Learning Spaces
Through Art and Wellness

In 2024, Empire East partnered with AHA
Learning Center to transform educational

spaces Into vibrant, inspiring environments.

This collabaration focused on designing
classroom walls aderned with unigue
artwork and uplifting messages, aiming to
foster a more conducive atmosphere for
learning.

Research underscores the significance of

classroom design in student achievement.
A study by the Univarsity of Salford
revealed that well-designed classrooms
could enhance students' academic
progress by up to25% over an academic
year. Key factars contributing to this
improvement include optimal lighting,
color schemes, and

classroom layout.

Beyond the visual enhancements,

the partnership event featured a
feeding program, ensuring students
received nutritious meals to support
their learning. Additionally, students
participated in painting and creative
activities, encouraging self-expression
and reinforcing the positive messages
displayed in their newly

transformed classrooms.

Emergency Co Bags Distributed to
Barangay Rosario Residents

In the wake of Typhoon Kristing, which
severely impacted paris of Metro Manila—
including Barangay Rosario in Pasig
City—Empire East’'s Property Development
Division (PDD) took swift action to assist
affected residents. On November 8, 2024,
Empire East arganized a relief initiative

in partnership with Barangay Captain
Aguiling “Ely" Dela Cruz Sr. and his team,
distributing Emergency Go Bags (E-

GO Bags) to the lecal community at the
Rosario Barangay Hall

Each E-GO Bag contained essential
supplies such as first-aid kits, flashlights,

alcohol pads, and bandages—tools meant
to help residents respaond effectively to
emergencies like floods and earthgquakes.
Empire East recognizes the vital role of
public-private partnerships in enhancing
disaster response and community
resilience. As part of its long-standing
Empire East Cares program, the

Company continues to partner with local
government units to provide tangible
support to vulnerable communities. The
distribution of E-CGO Bags in Pasig is just
one example of its broader mission to build
not only homes, but also strong, prepared,
and connecited communities.
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Customer Care

o,

Empire East has actively.enhanced
customer care and satisfaction through
strategic innovations, particularly in
respanse to the accelerated digital shift
brought on by the pandemic EELHI
guickly adapted by creating online client
and buyer portals that enabled direct
communication with the Customer
Relations Group.

Customer Satisfaction

Empire East has launched a suite of

digital tools designed to improve customer
convenience and accessibility. Homebuyers
can explore their options remotely

through virtual property walkthroughs

and presentations, while digital payment
systems simplify transactions. Automating
document handling further accelerates
processes for a smoother customer
experience at every stage of their journey.

The Company made significant strides in
addressing economic concerns by forming
strategic partnerships with Pag-IBIG for
housing loans and implementing flexible
payment schemes.

EELHI also erthianced its Ask About Your
Home online portal and collaborated with
Pilipinas Teleserv 1o provide a hassie-

free, user-friendly experience, addressing
inguiries about payments, doecumentation,
and property concerns. With a ticketing

systemn in place, homebuyers can easily
submit their guestions and track progress
in real-time.

Further improvements to platforms like the
PSA Helpline Portal allows homebuyers to
conveniently request essential civil registry
documents online, eliminating the need
for in-person visits to PSA offices.

Empire East has established a central
customer grievance bank to further
improve customer satisfaction. This bank
provides a formalized systern for filing,
evaluating, and resolving complaints, This
platform allows the Company to respond
proactively to concerns so that every issue
is addressed promptly and effectively.

Empire East Connect and
Filipinas Teleserv

Empire East Connect is a dedicated event
designed to bring essential customer
services closer to homebuyers, Held at
various project locations, including Covent
Carden, the initiative offers direct, on-the-
spot assistance for bank and document-
related concerns—eliminating long queues
and streamlining the support experience,

In partnership with Pilipinas Telesery,
Empire East has furtherenhanced its
services by enabling hamebuyers to
request PSA-authenticated civil registry

documents—such as birth, marriage,
and CENOMAR certificates—through a
dedicated online partal. This exclusive
platform minimizes paperwork, shortens
processing times, and removes the need
for buyers to physically visit

government offices.

This collaboration exemplifies Empire East's
forward-thinking approach to improving
the homebuying experience. Through

the integration of digital tools and trusted
partners, the Company ensures that every
step—from financing to documentation—Is
made easier, faster, and more convenient
for aspiring

condo owners.

Empire East has established a central
customer grievance bank to further
improve customer satisfaction. This bank
provides a formalized system for filing,
evaluating, and resolving complaints. This
platform allows the Company to respond
proactively to concerns so that every issue
is.addressed promptly and effectively.
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wcidents of Non-Complionce Concerning Health and Safety Impacts of Products and Services [£16-2]
Disclosure 2022 2023 2024
Incidents of non-compliance resulting in fine or 8] ] 4]
penalty
Incidents of non-compliance resulting in a warn- 0 O ]
ing

Incidents of non-compliance with veluntary

codes

Empire East remains commitied to
customer health and safety by upholding

a high standard of compliance, ensuring
that it does not face any fines, penalties,

or warnings due to non-compliance. The
Company adheres to voluntary codes in all
its operations, resulting in zero incidents of
naon-compliance in 2024.

EELHI takes proactive steps to ensure
transparency and compliance with data
privacy regulations. The Company's HR
team has successfully met the DPS/DPO
Seal requirements, which serves as a
testament tao its commitment to privacy
standards. In addition, the Management
Information Systems (MIS) department
has implemented enhanced data privacy

protocols, significantly strengthening the
Company's data security infrastructure.

Actions taken mitigates risks by
introducing secure payment methods with
encryption, staff training on data privacy
best practices; and the restriction of access
to customer data to minimize exposure.

By strictly limiting access and adhering to
DPS/DPO standards, the Company ensures
a high transparency and trust with its
clients. Furthermore, EELHI bolsters its IT
security measures to protect against cyber
threats and unauthorized access.

Mumber of individual clients for whom dats was 49 393 45,333 44 78T
primarily stored

No. of data breaches, including leaks, thefts and ] 9] O
losses of data

No. of substantiated complaints on customer pri- 8] 0 O
vacy™ from outside parties

No. of complaints from regulatory bodies 0 0 0
No. of substantiated complaints on marketing 8 0 0
and labeling™

No. of complaints addressed N/A N/A 0

*Substantioted comploints include comploints from customers thaot went through the orgonizotion’s formal
communicotion chonnels ond grievance mechanisms, as well os complaints that were lodged to ond octed upon by

govermment ogencies.

The data highlights EELHI's strong
commitment to data management and
privacy from 2022 to 2024. The number of
individual clients whose data was stored
decreased from 49393 in 2022 to 45,333 in
2023, with 44,787 in 2024, Notably, there
have been zero data breaches, including
leaks, thefts, or losses over these years,
indicating effective security measures,
Furthermore, there were no substantiated

comiplaints from either ocutside parties
or regulatory bodies regarding customer
privacy, marketing, or labeling practices
during this period. The absence of
complaints addressed in 2022 and 2023,
and zero in 2024, reflects the Company's
robust compliance and operational
integrity in data privacy

and security.
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Carbon Neutrality

Resource Efficiency

Sustainable Building Operations
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Carbon Neutrality

EBEven before "sustainability” became a
alabal buzzword, Empire East has long
been a pioneer in promoting sustainable
practices across its business operations.
Transit-oriented homes have been
designed 1o lessen the carbon footprint

by offering residents easy access to public
transportation while reducing dependence
on private vehicles. The Company has also
integrated energy managemeant initiatives
into its communities to have efMcient
energy consumption. EELHI's commitment
to sustainability extends to waste
management and recycling initiatives,
which prioritize reducing, reusing, and

GHG Emissions

33,

Empire East's greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions arise primarily from two

key sources, direct emissions from the
consumption of non-renewable energy
spurces such as diesel and gas for
generator sets and Company-owned
vehicies, and indirect emissions from
organizational operations, mainly the uss
of purchased electricity, which is 100%
sourced from the grid.

The Company is committed to continuous
improvement to further reduce its

Emissions by Scope {in tC0O2e)
[305-1, 305-2, 305-3]

Total Emissions:

2022-10,645
2023-72146

o

Scope2 FFTCT N

2024- 24 644 81 Scope3d [Liel 631598 21,793.48
20 40 60 80 100

recycling at every stage of its operations.
The ongoing digital transformation

has allowed the Company to create a
paperless environment for all transactions,
culminating in the complete digitalization
of 1ts processes.

For 30 years, the Company has commitied
to raising the standards of urban living
but also ta redefining authenticity in
home buying and lifestyles. lts mission

to enhance cityscapes in Metro Manila
and beyond drives its efforts toward a
sustainable, carbon-neutral future for all.

envirenmental impact through tree
planting and forest adoption effarts,

as part of its broader carbon offset
program. It also actively engages in
energy conservation initiatives, including
promoting participation in Earth Hour
across its communities. In line with this,
EELHI is collaborating with MERALCO
under the Green Energy Option Program
[GEOP) to transition to renewable energy
sources, further aligning its operations with
sustainable energy practices,

@ 2022 @ 2003 o202
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GAS Emissions by Scope (in tCO2e} [305-1, 305-2, 305-3]

Disclosure 2022 2023 2024
Scope 1 emissions T4294 9490 21177
Scope 2 emissions 372.00 506.40 42189
Scope 3 emissions® 16424

*Dagto not reported from 2022-2023

PDD Emiszions by Scope (in tCO2e) [305-], 305-2, 305-3]

Disclosure 2022 2023 2024
Scope 1 emissions 115 0.947332 -
Scope 2 emissions 29428 29629 L3574
Scope 3 emissions® 18948246
*Datg not reported from 2022-2023
GHG Emissions Intensity [305-4]
Disclosure 2022 2023 2024
Scope 1+ Scope 2 =
tCOZe per revenue (tCO2e/revenue) 0.000000158 0.000000173 0.000000576
1CO2e per employee [1CO2e/employes) 1.30 1.35 £.09
Scope 3
tC02e per revenue (tC0Zefravenus) 0.00000210 0.0000012] 0.00000440
tCO2e per employee (1COZe/employee) 17.40 946 322
SL%E; nization specific metric (revenue, in 4.707,066,845 5203131447 4,950,793,738
Drganization specific metric (employees) 569 BGS 698



Empire Ea=t Three Decadss of Breakthroughs

In 2024, Empire East recorded a significant
increase In its total CHG emissions,
reaching 24.606.77 tCOze, compared

to 7.214.6 tCO=e in 2023, This increase

is primarily attributed to expanded
operational activities and higher energy
consumption. Empire East remains
dedicated to mitigating its environmental
impact through targeted initiatives and
strateqgic partnerships despite this rise.

Direct emissions from fuel consumption in
diesel generator sets and Company-owned
vehicles increased to 211.89 tCOze in 2024.
This growth reflects a surge in operational
demands requiring additional energy use.
To manage this, the Property Development
Division (PDD) implements weekly

Climate Change

Empire East acknowledges the significant
impact climate change has on its
operations. The growing frequency and
intensity of extreme weather events, such
as storms-and flooding, pose potential risks
leading to business disruptions, financial
losses, and legal challenges. EELHI is
undertaking a comprehensive study to
address these challenges and assess the
financial implications of ciimate-related
risks and opportunities. This initiative

will guide the development of a well-
established system designed to evaluate
potential impacts, ensuring informed

five-minute no-load tests on generator
sets to reduce emissions and ensure
optimal perfarmance. The team alsa uses
performance monitoring sheets to track
and enhance

generator efficiency.

Emissions linked to indirect operational
activities, including employee commutes,
supply chain processes, and outsourced
services, rose to 21, 74956 tCOz2 in

2024 This sharp increase was primarily
influenced by the expansion of business
activities and increased

project developments.

decision-making and effective risk
management

Through its launch of the 100-seedling
Highland Forest project, the Company
reinforces its dedication to environmental
preservation. The integration of the 55
Waste Management Framewark also
enhances its environmentsal commitments
through recycling efforts and waste
segregation.
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Resource Efficiency

Empire East actively monitors its usage of
raw materials, energy consumption, and
reduction, as well as water consumption,
wastewater cutput. The Company also
manages both solid and hazardous wastes
to adopt a more sustainable approach to
its projects. This proactive tracking allows

Energy
S

Empire East recognizes energy efficiency
as a vital companent of its business
operations. In developing integrated
townships and innovative lifestyle
concepts, the Company prioritizes
sustainability, ensuring that its energy
palicies align with local regulations to
promote responsible energy practices, This
carmmitment is reflected in the Company’s
adherence to the Philippine Green Building
Code emphasizing resource management
efficiency and site sustainability.

Warking alongside technical consultants
and contractors, the Company's Design
and Construction Management Group
ensures that energy conservation
strategies are integrated into project

the Company to better manage these
resaurces, reduce its envircnmental impact
and align with its overall design principles
for rescurce efficiency.

designs and construciion practices.
Caontractors are tasked with identifying and
applying energy-saving measures, while
the design team emphasizes efficiency in
building designs.

The Property Management Group (PMG)
further strengthens these efforis by
training engineers as Pollution Control
Officers (PCOs) to uphold environmental
regulations set by the Department of
Environment and Natural Resources
(DENR], Empire East also collaborates
with service providers to maintain
efficient generator operations, reducing
unnecessary energy use.

Energy Consumption within the Orgaonization* (in gigajoules, G3) [302-1]

 Gasoline . Diesel Electricity
Total Energy Consumption
within the Organization:
2022- 4 48767
2023- 5355.86
2024-16,810.47
0 20 40 60 BO 100

*Restotement: The 2022 diesel figure wos restoted from 37122 GJ to 10594 GJ to include D20, which wos previously

reparted under Motsrials.

Cverview of Empire East Total Energy Consumption (in gigajoules, G3)

Electricity Gasolime Diess]  Electricity Gasoline  Diesel

ERHI 891.57 - = 1195105
GAS 908.67 1036 95581 124729
FDD 1,487.50 2] 1541 1429337
Additional BO1& - = N727
Showrooms
Subiotal

£
Total 4 BL0 .46

Empire East's energy consumption data
demonsirates a consistent increase in
electricity, gasoline, and diesel usage
over the past three years. In 2024, the
Company recorded a total internal enerqy
consumption of 16,437.39 GJ, marking a

Electricity Gasoline Diesel

13640 114883 214159 33375 26400
0 1274 271006 : -
- - 100.40 - :

336788 1036 97122 405788 13640 116l58 &4£952.05 39375 264007

5,355.86 7,985.81
significant increase from 5,355.86 GJ in
2023, This increase is primarily attributed
to the expansion of operational facilities,

additional showrooms, and enhanced
project activities.

Energy Consumption outside the Orgaonization® (in giggjoules, GJ) [302-3]

Total Energy Consumption outside the Crganization

2022 |1

clor Xl 33 101.41

60 80 100

0 20 40

*Diaotg not reported from 2022
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Energy intensity™ [302-3]

Energy intensity ratio within the organization

Gigajoules per revenue (GJ/revenue) 0.000000953 *0.000001029 0.000003396
Gigajoules per employee [Gl/employee) 7.589 8.02 24.08
Energy intensity ratio outside the organization

Gigajoules per revenue (Gl/revenus) 0.000006362 0.00001721
Gigajoules per revenue (Gllemployes) 4955 122.07

*Dato restated for FY 2023 due to wrong computation

Empire East actively pursued energy
reduction initiatives to improve efficiency
despite the increased energy consumptiaon.
In 2024, the Company implemented
different energy management strategies
such as the conversion of lighting fixtures

Water

-5 3031 3032

Empire East Land Holdings, Inc. (EELHI)
recognizes the significant impact of the
construction and real estate sectors on
water resources. The Company adopts
proactive measures addressing water
canservation and effluent management to
ensure sustainabie water management.

EELHI sources water from various providers,
including deep wells, Maynilad, and Manila
Water. This supply supports a range of
activities, such as construction operations,
fire water reserves, recreational facilities
like pools and fountains, as well as general
cleaning, maintenance, and housshold use.
EELHI utilizes a cistern and elevated water
tanks to ensure a sufficient potable water
supply for condominium units. Regular
monthly potability tests are conducted to
maintain water safety across all sites.

to energy-efficient alternatives, regular
maintenance of generator sets and
implementing lights-off at certain hours of
operations.

EELHI reduced its water withdrawal
from 1,922.80 ML in 2023 to 1,484.59
ML in 2024._ This decrease reflects
improved cperational efficiencies and
the implementation of targeted water
conservation measures.

Water consumption declined significantly,
dropping from 541.99 ML in 2023 to 299.27
ML In 2024 in 2024, This substantial
decrease was mainly due to.enhanced
rnonitoring processes, improved water-
saving practices, and conscious efforts to
minimize unnecessary consumption.
Similarly, water discharge fell from
1380.80 ML in 2023 to 1185.32 ML in 2024,
This improvement highlights EELHI's
strengthened wastewater management
practices, including closely manitaring
sewage treatment plant (STP) operations

Waste Management

-5, 30613062

Empire East actively commits 1o
responsible waste management practices
to minimize environmental impact and
ensure compliance with regulatory
standards. The Company monitors and
manages waste generation, diversion, and

Water and Effluents (in Megaliters, ML) [303-3, 303-4, 303-5]

o A |

IGRST L]

0 Waterwithdrawal @ Water conspmption
IS j

b Water discharge @ Water recyclad and menased

B0 100

Warar Intensity

by third-party contractors to ensure
compliance with regulatory standards.

Although 6.58 ML of water was recycled
and reused in 2023, this figure dropped to O
ML In 2024. The decline reflects a transition
period in EELHI's reuse systems, with

plans underway to upgrade infrastructure
and integrate long-term water recycling
technologies.

Water intensity, measured as the volume

of water used per unit of output, saw a
substantial decrease in 2024—from 36957
ML/unit in 2023 to 029986 ML/unit. This
sharp drop demonstrates EELHI's success
in decoupling water use from operational
growth, highlighting the effectiveness of its
conservation initiatives.

disposal across its project sites, guided by
the regulations set by the Department

of Environment and Natural Resources
(DENR), particularly DAO 34, DAO 35, and
DAO 20716-08.
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Waste generation (in metric tonnes, MT) [306-3]

@ Non-hazardous waste

202: |
2022

2021

Waste Management (in MT) [306-4, 306-5]

Waste diverted from disposal

Hzusable
Recyclzble

Waste directed to disposal
Landfill

18,733.40

Hazardous waste

Total Waste
Cenerated

2022-18,734.77

2023- 26,990.99
2024- 1696693

80 100

1.37 *2,601.19 3,129.56
157 = =
3125956
24,389.80 18,337.37
= 1833737

*The totol omount of wostes olso indude scrop metols which are neither cotegornzed os Property Operotion nor

Construction Stoge

In 2024, Empire East generated 16,966.93
metric tons (MT) of total waste, a notable
decrease from 2699099 MT in 2023. This
reduction reflects improved operational
efficiencies and enhanced waste
management initiatives. Non-hazardous
waste comprised the majority of the

total waste at 16,862.88 MT, while 4.058 MT
accounted for hazardous waste.

Hazardous waste increased slightly from
259 MT in 2023, showing the Company's
rneed to improve its hazardous waste
management strategies.

The Company successfully diverted 3,129.56

MT of waste from disposal, a sighificant
increase compared to 2,601.19 MT in 20235,
The increase in diverted non-hazardous
waste highlights EELHI's strengthened

recycling and resource recovery initiatives.

SEGREGATION + 55 | Paving the Path to
Enhanced Waste Segregation: Empire
East's Strategic Approach to Waste
Diversion and Operational Excellence

Empire East continues to elevate its
commitment to sustamability and
operational efficiency through the
implementation of targeted waste
segregation and diversion initiatives.
This rcadmap aligns with the Coampany's
overarching objective to minimize
envircnmental impact while fostering
systemic order and excellence across its
operations,

In 2024, Empire East initiated the Trash to
Cash Pilot Program in partnership with BEST
My Basurerc. The program emphasized
proper waste seqgregation at the source, with
all collected waste remitted to BEST every
Friday. While the pilot's impact was modest,
it laid the groundwork far mare structured
waste diversion strategies, setting the stage
for future initiatives.

55 ol Good

uusaluﬂuln

of Empire East's 55 Program, a structured

Building on this momentum, Empire East
launched the STEPS Campaign (Segregate
Trash for Environmental Protection and
Sustainability) at its former headquarters.
The campaign incorporated a unigue
approach to engage employees effectively,
drawing Iinspiration from the globally
popular Squid Game series. The initiative
transformed the office’s oval-shaped runway
into a strategic zone for waste segregation
challenges. Four teams were tasked with
completing 30 rounds per week, equivalent
to approximately 2,100 steps per week (70
steps per round). Through segregation-
themed guizzes and games, the campaign
fostered employee participation while
reinforcing proper waste sorting practices.
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approach aimed at fostering order,
efficiency, and excellence. As operations
expanded across multiple lecations, the
Company observed variations in workplace
cultures, particularly in managing
accounts, documentation, and paper trails.
This inconsistency underscored the need
to reintroduce 55 principles — Seiri, Seiton,
Seisa, Seiketsu, and Shitsuke — which had
been the bedrock of Empire East since jis
establishment.

Mow that the Company has cansolidated
its headquarters into The Paddington
Place in 2025, the STEPS Campaign and
55 principles are being systematically
reinforced to-ensure that all waste I1s
praperly classified and disposed of,

and that operational processes are
standardized across the organization.

This unified workspace enables a more
consistent application of 55, ensuring that
all departments align with the Company's
goal of achieving operational excellence
and sustainable growth.

Looking ahead, Empire East plans

to extend the STEPS Campaign and

55 principles to its condaminium
cammunities, integrating the successful
mechanics of the campaign while
caollabeorating with recycling facilities to
optimize waste diversion. This expanded
focus aligns with the Campany's
mission to not only foster environmental
responsibility but also to establish a culture
of operational discipline and excellence
across its entire footprint.

Materials Consumption

e

Empire East consistently emphasizes technical consultants, carefully monitors
efficient matenal consumption, aligning materials usage throughout all stages of
with sustainability goals tc minimize its projects. This approach ensures that
environmental impact. The Company, resource efficiency remains a priority 1n
guided by the Design and Construction every design process, as outlined in the
Management Group in collaboration with Company's Design Terms of Reference.

Materials Used by the Organization {in MT} [301-1]

Construction Stage

Alcohol® 20.44
Bleach® 3.41
Cement/RMC 570791 20,18837 11647164
Belts™ 0.002
Deodorizer® 0.004
Building Materials*® 1150433
Other Chemicals® 004
Adhesives® 0.36
Ceramic tiles 169.58 228.04 132.44
Paint 31.32 1773 25167.88
Copper® 0.03
Sand*® 030
Cypsum Board 396 29799 0.19
PVC Pipes 7141 3774 0.01
Reinfarcing steel bars 585812 8103.41 15,087.56
Steel pipes 476 24854 74853
Wood (doors and cabinets) 24915 42559 0.05
Glass 66.11 153.97 256,30
Welding Rod* 0.07
Wires 319.67 200.40 T.62
Property Operation Stage
Fluorescent Lights 0.40 256 0.71
LED Lights 024 024 824
Magnetic Contactors 0.02 D.02 0.02
Mixed office supplies® 043
Ink 0.06 0.06 043
Total **12,482.7M **29,521.66 169,414.98

*Doto not reported/ovaifloble in 2022-2023
“Restotement: realign of moteriols ond computation of correct dota
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For 2024, Empire East achieved a
significant milestone on its material
management from the previous year,
particularly in reducing paper usage.

The Praperty Management Group (PMG)
continues to innovate by enhancing the
PMGC mobile and web applications (E-PrO%)
across all managed properties to facilitate
online transactians for form applications
and payments. This initiative promotes
digital aiternatives for administrative
tasks that ance relied on heavy physical
paperwork.

Empire East remains committed to track
and report on materials consumption,
with a detalled breakdown of materials
used acrass different categories, including
renawable and non-renewable resources,
such as paper, cement, and steel, This
ongoing initiative reflects the Company's
commitment to continuously improving
its resource management practices and
reducing environmental impact.

A notable increase in the use of Cement/
Ready-Mix Concrete (RMC) was recorded
in 2024, rising significantly to 116,471.64 MT
from 20,188.37 MT Iin 2023, This sharp rise

Recycled input materials used [301-2]

is primarily attributed to the acceleration
of construction activities across various
newly developed and itemized properties,
including residential towers, showroams,
clubhouses, and common areas under
the PDD portfolio. Newly constructed

and itemized properties such as Pioneer
Woodlands Towers 3-6, San Lorenzo
Place Towers 1-4, Kasara Urban Besort
Residences, The Rochester developments,
The Scnoma Project Sites, and The
Paddington Place drove this demand.
The construction of support facilities such
as sales offices, information kiosks, and
commercial spaces also contributed to the
increased material consumption.

The use cf paints and other construction
finishing materials increased in parallel,
reflecting the transition of multiple
properties from structural completion

to finishing stages, particularly across
showrcoms, commaon areas, and newly
cpened sales offices at The Sonoma,
Empire East Elite 5M Batangas, SLP Mall,
and others.

96 of recycled input materials used to
manufacture the organization’s primary
products and services

Empire East has not vet incorporated
recycled materials into its production
pracess since 2022, Moving forward,
Empire East is focusing to enhance their
strategies and in optimizing resource use

effectively by reducing reliance on non-
renewable resources and exploring the
use of recycled materials as a part of the
Company's commitment to sustainability
and enviranmental responsibility.

Sustainable Building
Operations
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Empire East integrates sustainable
design principles throughout its
operations, actively promoting
environmental responsibility In its
praject developments.

Continued Development of Design Standards

Empire East Land Holdings, Inc. upholds
the highest standards of architectural
design in all its developments. The
Company has established a strong
framework for the cngoing development
and enhancement of its design standards,
emphasizing strict adherence to the
Philippine Green Building Code and the
efficient use of materials..

The Design and Construction Management
Group collaborates closely with third-party
technical consultants and contractors to
ensure that all projects meet the stringent
requirements of the Philippine Green
Building Code. Contractors incorporate
energy conservation measures into their
projects, while the design team partners
with technical consultants to integrate
energy-efficient solutions from the very
start.

EELHI maintains a comprehensive
monitoring system for the materials

used in its developments. Both in-house
staff from the Design and Construction
Management Group and external technical
consultants closely oversee this process.
Such diligent attention to material
selection guarantees that all resocurces are
used efficiently and sustainabily.

The Company alsc provides a Design
Terms of Reference, a key guide forthe
design process. This document streamlines
operations, ensuring that environmental
considerations are seamlessly integrated
into every design stage.
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and resilience. Despite external
challenges, the Company continues
strengthening its financial performance
through optimized cost management,
strategic promotions, and innovative
homeownership proegrams.
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Beyond financial success, the Company
contributes to nation-building through
job creation, community support, and
sustainable initiatives. lts comprehensive
governance framework, reinforced

by ethical business practices and a
proactive risk management strategy,
ensures long-term stability.
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Anti-Corruption
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Impactful Growth

Empire East demonstrated resilience and
continued its trajectory of growth despite
previous years' challenges. Key drivers

for this growth included optimized cost
management, the acquisition of new
clients, and attractive payment options
for homebuyers. The Transmutation
Program, which focuses on enhancing
the homebuyers' experience, remained a
carnerstone of the Company's strategy.

EELHI's commitment toaffordability
during the pandemic, alongside strategic
promotions such as the Home Opportunity
Alert, further strengthened its position in
the market. Despite external economic
pressures, including inflation and the
effects of the pandemic, the Company
achieved outstanding financial results,
surpassing its target sales gquotas.

The Company's initiatives in nation-
building through job creation, support for
schools as well as the older people, and
envircnmental efforts such as tree-planting
and clean-up drives were also integral to its

Economic Performance

S5 202

Empire East Land Holdings, Inc.'s (EELHI)
objectives in managing its capital are
twofold: safeguarding the Company’s
ability to continue operations to generate
sustainable returns for shareholders

and benefits for stakeholders and
maintaining an optimal capital structure
that reduces the overall cost of capital.
EELHI continuously seeks to streamline its
operations by reducing non-value-adding
tasks and cutiing unnecessary

operating costs.

EELHI also actively monitors various

mission. The Company's hybrid approach,
integrating online and face-to-Tace
transactions, enhanced its reach to aspiring
homeowners. Empire East’s financial
growth not only contributed to its own
success and had a positive ripple effect
on the local economy. Strateqic target
setting, careful expenditure moniterings,
and constant communication within the
Company were key to mitigating risks and
driving impactful growth in 2024,

external risks, including those posed

by climate change, which aligns with

its comprehensive risk management
strategy. Physical risks, such as destructive
earthguakes and storms, threaten the
Company's properties and operations.
Regulatory risks, related to compliance
with laws and regulations are a critical area
of focus, with non-compliance potentially
leading to fines or operational disruptions.

Direct economic value generated and distributed (In Philippine Peso millions, Php millions) [201-1]

T.B50
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@ Fevenue @ Distributed

@ Operating costs

The Company has consistently
demonstrated a solid economic
performance over the years. EELHI's
revenue generation in recent years reflects
steady growth, reaching Php 5,203,131,447
in 2023, compared to Php 4,707,066,845

in 2022, However, in 2024, revenue slightly

@ Taxes given to governmeant

@ Investments 1o community (8.8 donations,...

2023 2024

0 Employee wages and henefits

Dividends ghien to stockholders an,

dipped to Php 4,950,793,738. Despite this,
the Company has remained resilient in
managing its cperating costs, employee
wages, dividends, taxes, and community
investments.

Defined benefit plan obligations and other retirement plans (In Philippine peso, Php) [201-3]

Disclosure

Estimated Value of retirement benefits

EELH| adopts a proactive approach to its
employee refirement plans. The estimated
value of retirement benefits has steadily
increased, from Php 429.74 million in 2022
to Php 602.56 million in 2024.

The Company's non-contributory
retirement plan follows a final salary-
defined benefit type. Banefits are
calculated based on years of service and

429,740,305

2022 2023 2024

57 7.559,9495 602,557,070

plan salary, providing employees with a
meaningful retirement package. Actuarial
services are employed to assess the
adequacy of the retirement fund, and

the Company ensures that any unfunded
claims will be covered promptly.
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Financial implication due to climate change

Empire East acknowledges that

climate change presents both risks and
opportunities that can materially affect its
business. In line with the TCFD framework,

four pillars—Governance, Strategy, Risk
Management, and Metrics and Targeis—
to support long-term resilience and
sustainable value creation.

the Company evaluates these factors across

TCFD Pillar Disclosure

Covernance

Strategy

Risk Management

Metrics and Targets

Board Oversight The Board defines and upholds the Company's
mission and values, integrating sustainability into its core strategy. It
approves long-term strategies, including sustainsble development
and risk mitigation. It also ensures policy adherence via the Audit
and Compliance Commitiees. Independent directors provide
objective oversight on ESG matters

Senior Management Role: Executives implement the strategy
through cperational plans. Leaders in Property Development,
Administration, Audit, and MIS spearhead programs like energy
efficiency and waste managementi. Sustzinability metrics are tracked
and reported to the Board annually.

Key climate-related risks and opportunities identified by the
Company include the following:
Fhysical Risks. Earthquakes and intense storms may damage
property and halt operations. Impacts include legal claims,
business disruptions, and revenue loss.
FEegulatory Risks: Mon-compliance may result in fines, penal-
ties, or suspension.
Other Risks: High interest rates and commodity price spikes
may reduce demzand and raise operating costs.
Opportunities/Response: The Company strengthens financial
strategies, builds climate-resilient communities, and ensures
adherence to environmential regulations.

Risks are managed through:
- Due diligence with regulatory deadlines and issuances
Vigilance on compliance obligations
Building sustainable and disaster-resilient developments
Utilizing available internal resocurces, with no sdditional
financial cost reported

While no quantified financial impacts were reported, the Company
identifies the following as key areas for future monitoring:
Losses due to property damage or operational disruption.
Penalties from non-compliance
Rising operational costs from inflation and regulation
A fimancial assessment framework is not yet in place, but the
Company has begun integrating environmenial and resilience
indicators into its planning processes

Good Governance

Empire East prioritizes transparency,

ethical business practices, and effective

risk management toc promote good
governance, The Company addresses
natural and unfareseen risks, including
environmental hazards and global

health challenges, to ensure long-term
success, EELHI commits to integrity by
iImplementing strict anti-corruption policies
and practicing fair procurement, which

Risk Management

33

supports local suppliers and community
growth. lts-resilient risk management
system undergoes continual evaluation
and refinement to mitigate disruptions.
Additionally, the Company's focus on
ethical operations positions it as a leader in
creating resilient, sustainable communities
for Filipinos.

Empire East remains steadfast in its commitment to good governance and effective

risk management, ensuring its operations’ long-term sustainability and success. With a
clear focus on corporate responsibility and resilience, the Company continues to develop
thriving communities that are not only safe and sustainable but also empower the

Filipinos they serve.
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Impact

Empire East plays a transformative role in
reshaping urban spaces, turning plois of
land into vibrant, mixed-use developments
that create opportunities for growth.
These communities are designed to
promote productive families, generate job
cpportunities, and provide a quality living
experience for first-time homebuyers,
starting families, and property investors.
The Company’s initiatives extend beyond
hausing, positively impacting the lives

of Filipinos through its comprehensive
approach to community development.
From project conceptualization to
partnerships, construction, and eventual
occupancy, Empire East creates jobs at
every stage, ensuring a positive influence
that extends to the broader economy.

Risks

Empire East acknowledges the risks the
natural environment poses, particularly the
threats of earthguakes and intense storms
that could lead to floods. As a Company
operating in the Philippines—a regicn in
the Ring of Fire and the Pacific typhoan
belt—these risks are ever-present. The West
Valley Fauit System, which runs through
Metro Manila, and the country’s frequent
tropical cyclones put the Company's assets
and communities at risk. Earthguakes,
floods, and other natural disasters may
cause property damage, legal claims, and
disruptions to business gperations.

The COVID-19 pandemic introduced
unforesesn risks, impacting stakeholders
and prompting regulatory challenges
related to health and safety guidelines
compliance, These emerging risks are
closely monitored to ensure

business continuity.

Opportunities

Empire East takes a proactive approach

to mitigating risks while seizing new
opportunities. The Company pricritizes
regulatory compliance, meeting all
deadlines and staying informed about new
regulations. Sustainable development is
another key area where Empire East excels,
with innovations in community planning
and resilient building designs that stand
up io the challenges posed by natural
disasters. The Company is also embracing
digital transformation, improving systems
and processes through automation and
digitization to increase efficiency and
minimize human error. The shift to online
transactions reduces the risk of COVID-19
transmission and enhances customer
experience, further strengthening Empire
East’s position in the market.

Enterprise Risk
Management System

Empire East's Enterprise Risk Management
System provides a structured approach

to identifying, assessing, and addressing
potential risks. With clear risk management
policies, the Company iswell-equipped

to reduce the likelihood of operational
disruptions and to mitigate possible harm.

2024 Annuat and Sustainsbility Report

Risk Management
Philosophy

The Company’s risk management
philosophy is based on continuous
evaluation and improvement, The Beard,
with the support of the Audit Committee,
regularly assesses the effectiveness

of risk management strategies and
ensures that any emerging risks are
promptly addressed. An annual risk
review, conducted in collaboration with
the internal Audit Department, helps
assess the accuracy of identified risks,
the effectiveness of mitigation strategies,
and the overall adeguacy of the risk
management framework.
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Business Ethics and Integrity

Empire East Land Holdings Inc: ([EELHI)
commits to strictly adhering to all relevant
Philippine national and local laws and
regulations. This includes complying with
labor laws, meeting taxation requirements,
and following regulatory pronouncements
from key agencies such as the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC), Bureau
of Internal Revenue {BIR), Philippine Stock
Exchange (PSE), and the Banko Sentral ng
Pilipinas. The Company also upholds the
principles of the Anti-Money Laundering
Act and ensures conformity with local
governmeant unit regulations.

In project design and construction,
Empire East ensures that it fully complies
with all regulatory requirements. The
Company works closely with contractors
to meet environmental and construction
standards, including securing the
necessary Environmental Compliance
Certificate ([ECC) issued by the Department
of Environment and Natural Resources
(DENR) or the Laguna Lake Development
Authority (LLDA), depending an each
project lecation. Empire East meticulously
integrates these environmental and
regulatory compliance measuras into
contracts with technical consultants

and contractors to ensure seamiless
implementation.

The Company also follows regulations from
the Department of Human Settlements

and Urban Development (DHSUD) and
adheres to the advertising standards set
forth by the Philippine Association of
Maticnal Advertisers (PANA) and the Ad
Standards

Council [ASC),

EELHI| adheres strictly to its codes of
conduct, ensuring that all transactions
within the Company are executed fairly.
The organization holds its employees to
the highest standards of business ethics,
expecting them to refrain from engaging
in any activities that could create conflicts
of interast or interfere with executing their
responsibilities. Employees are prohibited
from receiving gifts or favors from third
parties, ensuring that all material party
transactions are thoroughly reviewed for
fairness and conducted at arm's length by
the Board's Party Transactions Cammitiee.

The Company actively supporis
transparency and encourages stakeholders,
including employvees and others, to report
any cancerns regarding illegal, unethical,
or questionable practices. Empire East
values information from whistleblowers
and anonymous sources, forging a safe
environment where individuals can
confidently communicate their concerns
without fear of reprisal.

Legal actions for anti-competitive behavior, anti-trust, and monopoly practice 206-1

Disclosure

MNumber of legal actions pending

or completed during the reporting
period regarding anti-competitive
behavior and violations of anti-trust
and monopoly legislation inwhich the
organization has been identified a= a
participant

Empire East places the utmost importance
on ensuring fair and ethical business
practices in every aspect of its operations.
During the reporting period, there

have been no legal actions pending or

2022 2023 2024

0 0 0

completed related to anti-competitive
behavior, viclations of anti-trust laws,
or monopoly practices inwhich the
arganization has been identified as a
participant have occurred.

Administration Division (LCAD).

regulatory standards.

Enhancing Title and Tax Declaration Transfers

In 2024, significant internal and external changes impacted the title transfer
process, promptiing necessary adjustments to procedures and compliance
requirements; The Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) directed the
submission of the first and last twelve ({12) official receipts, while the Registry
of Deeds (RD) required four (4) checks to cover registration fees.

Despite these evalving requlatory demands, the Company successfully
transferred and secured 931 titles in buyers’ names by December 11, 2024—
an increase from the 676 fitles recorded in 2023. The processing of tax
declaratians (TDs) alsa saw growth, with the Company handling 660 TDs in
2024 compared to 511 the previous year.

The Property Registration Department (PRD) navigated multipie
operational shifts, including procedural adjustments and broader
governmental policy changes. A key development in 2024 involved the
transition of PRD under the Finance Department, a structural change
with significant implications for PRD and the entire Land and Coentract

As policies evolve, the Company focuses on aligning internal processes
with external regulations. This adaptive approach ensures efficiency in the
transfer of titles and tax declarations while maintaining compliance with
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Anti-Corruption

T g |

EELHI strengthens compliance

by implementing key monitoring
mechanisms, including reqguiring all
vendors to submit Letter 101, adhering
to the Site Gate Pass system, overseeing
Material Transfers, and enforcing strict
vendor accreditation and formal bidding
processes. While these measures are in
place, the team recognizes that regular
moenitoring of sites and headquarters
needs improvement.

The Company’s anti-corruption efforts
positively impact both the economy and
the environment. By adhering to these
policies, Empire East strengthens buyers’
confidence, ensuring that property
transactions are fair and transparent. This
approach helps maintain market stability
and guarantees that buyers receive
high-quality properties at reasonable
prices, with all payments directly applied
to construction. However, delays in
securing necessary permits and licenses
may adversely affect project timelines,
impacting buyer confidence and project
delivery schedules,

Environmentally, EELHI can allocate
resources to sustainable practices

that benefit the community and the
environment. These efforts allow the

Company to pursue projects that
contribute positively to environmental
restoration and conservation. Regarding
people and human rights, Empire

East's commitment ensures that

buyers’ payments are directed towards
constructing and maintaining habitabie
properties. This directly supports the

right to secure, sustainable housing.
Mevertheless, delays in securing titles and
permits pose challenges to timely property
transfers, affecting the enjoyment of these
rights.

EELHI has experienced difficulties

with government agencies regarding
permits, licenses, and title transfers. These
challenges have occasionally resulted in
delays and complaints from stakeholders.
Despite this, Empire East remains steadfast
inits commitment to anti-corruption

and adheres to policies that streamline
processas and mitigate these issues. The
Company closely warks with regulatory
bodies to ensure compliance and prevent
corrupt practices. Employees are also
prohibited from accepting gifts, reinforcing
the Company's zero-tolerance stance on
corruptian.

Communication and training on anti-corruption policies and procedures (in %) [205-2]

Disclosure 2022 2023 2024
Employees to whom the organization's anti-corruption 100 100 100
policies and procedures have besn communicated o
Business partners to whom the organization’s anti- N/A N/A N/A
corruption policies and procedures have been
communicated to
Directors and management that have received anti- 100 100 100
corruption training
Employees that have received anti-corruption training 100 100 160

Confirmed incidents of corruption ond actions taken [205-3]

Disclosure 2022 2023 2024
Mumber of incidents in which directors were removed or 0 O O
disciplined for corruption
Mumber of incidents in which employees were dismissed O o o
or disciplined for corruption
Mumber of incidents when contracts with business O o 0

partners were terminated due to incidents of corruption

Empire East upholds strict anti-

corruption policies and procedures

across all its operations. These policies are
communicated to all emplayees, business
partners, and directors, ensuring complete
transparency in the Company's dealings.
Employees and management are reqgularly

trained on anti-corruption practices to
cultivate a culture of integrity, and the
Company enforces a no-tolerance policy
towards carruption, with actions taken
swiftly in the event of any incidents.

Streamlined Processes
for Zero Backlogs

The Company eliminated backlogsin
filing and scanning buyer documents,
which ensured timely creation of digital
buyer accounts. They also streamlined
warehouse retrieval systems toc improve
the efficiency of pulling and returning
buyer folders. These enhancements
sirengthened document accessibility

and accuracy, reduced processing time,
and ensured seamless transactions. The
team maintained an updated master list
for recpened accounts, title transfers, and
reactivated buyer records, reinforcing data
accuracy and operaticnal transparency.
This improved process flow enhanced
coordination among teams handling buyer
recards, supparting a more structured and
error-free document tracking system,

In response to evolving operational
demands, the Technical Support—
Verification teams prioritized efficiency
Improvements and cross-departmental
collaboration. By achieving zero backlog,
they ensured all tasks were completed
on schedule, preventing delays.and
maintaining uninterrupted progress. The

teams conducted regular discussions
and interdepartmental meetings to
refine workflows, address challenges,

and align processes with best practices.
They strengthened collabaration through
DMG team-building activities and year-
end gatherings, fostering a cohesive and
motivated workforce.

The Contract Processing Unit —
Document and Account Services

(CPU DAS) introduced key initiatives

to enhance transaction accuracy and
streamline title transfer procedures.
They conducted department-wide
training sessions and discussions to
clarify title transfer processes, ensuring
uniformity and compliance with evolving
regulations. By implementing digital
farms, they minimized human errors
and expedited transactions across all
departments involvaed in title transfers.
Activities that fostered camaraderie and
closer coordination between CPU and
DMG teams reinforced teamwork and
operational efficiency.
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Procurement Practices

Empire East actively upholds ethical
sourcing practices and engages
responsibly with vendors through its

Proportion of spending on focal suppliers {in %) [204-1]

Disclosure

procurement policies. The Company
prioritizes local suppliers to support the
community and economy.

% of procurement budget used for significant locations of 100 100 100

operations that is spent on local suppliers

For the past three years, Empire East has
spent 100% of its procurement budget

on local suppliers, demonstrating its
dedication to fostering the growth of local
businesses and the economy.

EELHI employs a proccurement strategy
that focuses on sourcing from vendaors
compliant with government regulations
and standards. Suppliers undergo rigorous
annual assessmentis and screenings to
qualify for business with the group. The
procurement team requires all suppliers to
present the necessary documentation to
evaluate their operational stability, legality,

and fairness. The Company excludes any
vendor that fails to comply.

Empire East has also taken strict measures
to prevent its purchasing staff from
accepting favoritism or gifts from suppliers.
The Company remains dedicated to
enhancing diversity and competifion by
consistently expanding its supplier network
and driving innovation and efficiency in its
procurement practices,

Supplier Management

S gt |

Empire East Land Holdings, Inc. (EELHI)
has implemented rigorous measures to
ensure its suppliers meet stringent social
and environmental criteria. As part of the
Company's commitment to sustainability
and ethical operations, all suppliers will
undergo screening and must pass based
on social and environmental criteria
screening to align with the Company’'s
envircnmental stewardship goals.

The Purchasing Department plays a
critical role in managing suppliers,
mandating that they provide government
permits for assessment. Currently, the
Company screens one new supplier solely
based on environmental criteria. PDD
requires suppliers to create accounts and
log into the Company's accreditation
website, where they can easily access the
supplier policy. In contrast, the General
Administrative Services Department [(GAS)
requires suppliers to submit essential
government permits, such as the Mayor's/
Sanitary Permit and PCAB license, which
serve as environmental performance
indicators.

Through these screening measures,
EELHI| has not encountered any suppliers
engaged in fllegal practices, showcasing
the effectiveness of its due diligence
processes, The Pre-Construction Group
(PrCG) contributes to social assessment
by incorporating a technical competence
evaluation within its Pre-Quszlification
criteria. This evaluation includes a

review of training certificates and

overall satisfaction ratings derived fram

background investigations. While technical
assessments form only-a small part of the

averall evaluation, they help ensure that
all documentation is complete and that

suppliers meet the required qualifications.
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PrCG further strengthens its social
assessment by conducting background
investigations toverify that suppliers do

not have a his.tc}r}_f of serioug legal actions Eheclotiie 2022 2023 2024
before accreditation. To build trust and

mutual respect WI_th vendors, EELHF—_PrCG Total amount of monetary fines for non-compliance with O o 8]

encourages suppliers to present their environmental laws and/or regulations

praducts and invites them te training

sessions to enhance the team's knowledge

and understanding of

vendor capabilities. MNo. of cases resolved through dispute resolution 0 0 O
mechanism

Compiiance with laws and regulations [2-27]

MNo. of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with 0 0 0
environmental laws and/or regulations

EELH| continues to prioritize social
compliance through systematic

evaluations, using collected data to In 2?)24, Empiret East r?porteq 6] o Cc_mstructir;m Management Groups, along
refine and improve its accreditation environmental infractions, reinforcing its with technical consultants and contractors,
questionnaires. As part of its ongoing dedication to sustainable practices and play a crucial role in overseeing adherence
efforts to enhance supplier relations regulatory campliance. Professianals to environmental regulations.

and uphold sustainability standards, from the Design, Pre-Construction, and

the Company plans to strengthen its
assessment of vendors' environmental
compliance in the upcoming year, as
outlined in the Environmental Compliance
", section of this report.

-#- " Empire East is committed to sustainability

. = in constructing and designing integrated
‘ =~ ;' townships and innovative lifestyle concepts.
= Faas |
i | .'I

5

I i The Company emphasizes transport-
| _.:4“.'1 l'..-| criented planning and ensures that all

ﬂ‘,-ﬂ"‘ : buildings comply with the Philippine Green
Building Code.

Empire East strictly adheres to
envirenmental laws and regulations
throughout the design and construction
phases. It collaborates closely with
contractors to guarantee compliance with
key regulatory mandates, such as obtaining
the Environmental Compliance Certificate
(ECC) from agencies like the Department
of Environment and Natural Resources
(DENMR) and the Laguna Lake Development
Authority (LLDA). The contracts of the
Company's technical consultants and
contractors specify these compliance
reguirements.
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Report of Independent Auditors Phifpsings
T +63 2 8988 2288

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Empire East Land Hoidings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation)

2nd Floor, Kasara Urban Resort Resldences Towsr 2
P. Antonio St., Barangay Ugong

Pasig City 1604, Matro Manila

Opinion

Wa have audited the consolldated financial statements of Empire East Land Holdings, Inc. and
Subsicharies (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the consolidsted slatemants of comprehensive income,
consolidated statements of changes in equily and consolidated statements of cash flows for each
ol the thrae years in the pericd ended December 31, 2024, and notes o the consolidated financial
statements, including matenal accounting policy information.

In our opinian, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairy in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group, and iis consolidaled financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024 in
accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS Accounting Standards), and
as at December 31, 2023 and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 in accordance
with PFRS Accounting Standards, as modified by the application of the financial reporting reliefs
issued and approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) as described
in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA). Our
responsibiliies under those standards are further described In the Auditors” Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Staternents section of our reporl. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines
(Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the
consolidated financial statemants in the Philippines, and we have luffilled our other athical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. Wi believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained 15 sulficient and appropriate o provide a basis for our
opinion,

Carfified Public Accountants
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Punorgoayan & Arsulo (FEA) S The Phpoes mamber bom of Grand Thomize iefematonal Lio "
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Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Nota 2 1o the consolidated financial stataments, which discusses the
adoption and impact of the previously deferred provisions of PFRS 15, Revenue from Conlracts
with Customers, and the related flinancing reporting imerpretations affecting the real estate
industry, using modified retrospective approach. Our conclusion is nol modified in respect of this
mtter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consalidated financial sialements of the current perod, These mallers are addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial siatements as a whole and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separale opinion on theses matlers,

(@) Revenue Recognition on Real Estarte Sales and Determination of Related Costs of Real
Estate Sales

Descrption of the Matier

The Group's revenue recognition process, policies and procedures on real eslate sales are
significant to our audit because of the volume of fransactions, complexity of the application
ol PFRS 15 and the retated financial reponting interpretations, and involvernant ol significant
judgment and estimation. Moreover, real estate sales amaunting to P3.2 billion and cost of real
estate sales amounfing to P2.1 billion account for 65.5% of consolidated Revenues and Income
and 48.1% of consolidated Costs and Expenses, respectively, for the year ended December 31,
2024, The areas affected by revenue recognilion and determination of related cosis, which
require significant judgment and estimate, include determining when a contract will qualify for
revenus recognition, measuring the progress ol the development of real estate projects that
defines the amount of revenue to be recognized, and determining the amount of actual costs
incurred as cost of real estate sales.

In addition, the Group adopled in 2024 the previously deferred provisions ol PFRS 15 and the
related financial reporting interpretations affecting the real estate industry using modified
relrospective approach. These areas were significant to our audil as an error In the application
of such complex accounting framewark, which also requires significant judgment and estimate,
could cause a material misstaternent in the consalidated financial statements.

The Group's policy for revenue recognition on real estale sales and the application of the
modified retrospective approach are more fully described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements. The significant judgmenis applied and estimates used by management related to
revanue recognition are more fully described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The breakdown of real estate sales and cosis ol real estate sales are also disclosed in Notes 19
and 20, respectively, to the consolidated tinancial statements.

Cestified Public Accourants
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How the Matier was Addressed in the Audit

Woe obtained an understanding of the revenue recognition policy regarding real estale sales
transactions and the related significant business processes of the Group .

Our proceduras in testing the appropriateness and proper application of the Group's revenue
recognition palicy and process include tests of design and operaling eflectiveness of relevant
controls over revenue generation and recognition, as well as tests of information technology (IT)
general and application controls. We also parformed tesis ol delails o ascertain accuracy and
ocourrence of revenue recognized through examination of real estate sales contracts and other
relevant supporting documents of the samples selected and performed overall analylical review
of actual results.

As part of our test of compliance with revenue recognition criteria. we tested the reasonabieness
of management's judament in delermining the probability of collection of the consideration in
a contract which involves a historical analysis of customer payment pattem and behawvior.

Relative to the Group's measurement of progress towards complete safisfaction of performance
obligation using the inpul method, we have tesied the progress reporied for the year in reference
to the actual costs incurred relative to the total budgeted project development costs. We have
also perlormed physical inspection ol sslecled projects under developmenl o assess |l the
completion based on costs is not inconsigtent with the physical completion of the project.
In testing the reasonableness of budgelary estimates, we have asceriained the gqualification
ot projects engineers who prepared the budgets and reviewed the actual performance
ol completed projects with reference of their budgeted costs.

In relation to the adoption of the previously deferred provisions of PFRS 15 and the related
financial reporting interpretations; we obtained an understanding of the relevant changes in the
Group’'s revenue recognition policy and related business processes. We evaluated the Group's
applicaticn of the adopted provisions mentioned above and compliance thereto. We also
performed lests of malhematical accuracy of the Group’s analysis and schedule of significant
financing component and completeness of the relevant supporting confract summary
and calculations, review of reasonableness of applicable prior period adjusiments accounted for
under modified retrospective approach, examination of supporting documents of a sample
of agreemenis, and perfarming overall analytical review of aciual resulls,

In relation o cost of real estale sales, we oblained an understanding of the Group's cost
accumulation process. On a sampling basis, we traced costs accumulated to supporting
documents such as invoices and accomplishment reponrs from the contraclors and official
receipts.

Carfifiod Public Accourntants
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{b) Net Realizable Value of Real Eslale Inveniories
Descnption of the Matter

Real estate inventories consist of raw land and residential real estate projects under development
or construction. As of Decembar 31, 2024, real esfate inventories amountad to P20.9 billion,
which accounts for 42.3% of total consolidated assets of the Group. Inventory is measured at
the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventory includes, amiong others, land,
engineering and construction fees, professional fees direclly aftributable to the project,
construction overheads and ather directly related costs,

The Group assessed internally the net realizable value of the invenlory and reduced the carying
amourt when the nel realizable value was lower than the cosl. The net realizable value
caleulation is highly dependent on estimates like, among othars, the astimaled sales prices per
square meter, the estimated remaining construction costs and the expected timing of sale of the
units. The Group's management performed the valuation and assessed any possible
write-downs on inventory for each project separately.

The nel realizable value of real estate inventories was considered as a key aucdil matter due to
the significance of the balance of inventories over the tolal consolidated assels of the Group and
the involvement of significant estimates and management judgment in determining the net
reallzable value of inventories.

The Group's palicy on accounting for real estate invenlones s disclosed n Noles 2 and 3 to the
consolidated financial statements and an analysis of the assets’' components is presented in
Mote 7.

How the Matter was Addrassed i the Audif

We have obtained an undaerstanding and evaluated the net realizable vaiue assessment process.
We alsn examined whather real eslale inventorigs are perodically assessad by the Group's
management and the net realizable values are estimated based on accuracy and completeness
of data. Additionally, we perdormed substantive audil procedures and tesled in detall with the
Group’s management the net realizable value method applied and the key assumptions used.
Moreover, we performed lest of reasonableness on the assumption used and obtained
supporting documents on the samples selected for the data inputs.

Other Information

Marnagement is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Group’s SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement),
SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2024 but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditors” report thereon. The SEC Form 20-15,
SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2024 are expected 1o be
made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statemants doas not cover the other information and
we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is matenally inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audits, or olherwise appears to be matarially misstated.

Cerijfied Publiy Accountiants
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Managemen! is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statemants in accordance with the relevant accounting Iramaworks as discussed in Note 2 to the
financial statemants, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financlal statements that are free from material
misslatemant, whether due (o fraud or emror.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible lor assessing the
Group's ability o continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to going
concem and using the going concern basis of accounting uniess management either intends 1o
ligquidate the Group or 1o cease operations, or has no realistic atermative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Qur objectives are (o oblain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due fo fraud or error, and o
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinlon. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always
detect a material misstatement when il exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or efror and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
o influence the economic decisions of users laken on the basis of thesa consolidated financial
statements,

As part of an audil in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skeplicism throughout the audll. We also:

= |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
1o those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
lor our opimion, The risk of not detecling a malerial misstalement resulling from fraud
is higher than for ana resulting from arror, &8 fraud may involve coliusion, torgery, intentional
amissions, misreprasentations, or the override of internal control.

= Obtain an understanding of intemal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
proceduras that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's intermal control,

s Evaluate the appropraleness of accounting policies uwsed and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management,

= Conclude on the appropriateness of management’'s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obiained, whether a matenal uncerainty exists
related to evenis or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability fo
continug as a going concern. T we conclude thal a material uncerainly exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financlal statements or, I such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinlon. Qur
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.
However, luiure events or conditions may cause the Group to cease o conlinue as a going
conceanm.
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= Evaluate the overall preseniation, siructure and conlenl of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated linancial slatemants
represent the underying transactions and events in a manner that achieves lair presentaton,

= Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidaled financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the group
audil. We remnain solely responsible for our audit opinlon,

We communicate with those charged with govermmance regarding, among other maners,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify duning our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statemen! thal we have complied with
relevant ethical reguirements regarding independence and communicate with them afl
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence
and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audil of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are tharefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors'
report unless law or regudation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremaly
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our repart
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 10 outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement pariner on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report is
Edeel U. Costales.

PUNONGEAYAN & ARAULLO

Edcel U. Costales
Fartner

CFA Reg. No. 0134633

TIN 274-543-395

PTR Mo. 10465802, January 2, 2025, Makati City

BIF AN 08-002557-045-2023 (until January 24, 2026)
BOA/PRC Ceart. of Reg. No. 0002/P-017 (until August 12, 2027)

February 24. 2025

Canlified Putilic Accountanis
Puronghoyan § Armelo (PEA) o the Philppes meribar B ol Grani Thermion Inlesmetonal Lid
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EMPIRE EAST LAND HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(A Subsidiary of Megaworld Corporation)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
{Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
Bt v M 2023
CUURRENT ASSETS
Cash amd cosh equivalenis 5 2,B63,878,581 r 3717468 500
P'racde and oiher recesvabilea - nee 6 9,264 431,239 9607 626,445
Cisntrust weset ] 2498, 252 566 28 001,730)
Advances to related parries 1 5,965,760, 1632 567,534,052
Real et myveninmcs T 20,922,248,973 H625, 100,501
Fu-rm\;r‘nmﬂs anel ather CurrenT dNet 7.1 1,.“5.“7.331 1,258, 3445, 2909
Toeal Current Assots 42 R6S 618,908 43 300088 537
NOMN-CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other reccivables i 3,516,695,723 311,569,342
Comirict assels 19 768,746,952 207,154,338
Firmneial asser ar furr value throogh other
L'.l_:rslr.!n:lu-rluhe mncorme (FYOMCT E l.ﬂl.’.,dm,nm 1,270, 128 1K)
Aclvances to landowners ard NNt vemtuTes L] 1,1-?.,,%5“ 24 l}m.m
[tmwesstmment oo am asscture 1 280,274,248 XYM RT5,7T4
Property arsd evuiprnent - niet it 146,640,719 I o1 B5R, 357
Inrangibde peets - et 2 28,050,013 63T
Irvestiment propertics — e I3 559,063,862 SHTHZA11
Uither nem—vurrent wssets 5,190,893 5,100,493
Towal MNon-current Assers 6,555,567 009 &, [SLIH5,768
TOTAL ASSETS 49,425,185,917 I 494590 134205

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interese-bearing loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Customern deposits
Advanees from related parties
Conteaet lalafities
COrther current linbilites

Total Current Liabfdines
MON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Inrercse beanng, Iozns and borowings
Contmct labilitics
Renement benefi oblipaton
Teferred tux lishilites - net
Taral Mon current Liahalioes

Tosial Lialiliises

EQUITY

Anmbutable o the Parem {:nlhrulw'-\ wtomckblibers

I'.'-'l]'rﬂrli stirck
Molifiresrml rmiﬂ-ln {'upiru|

Wrewsury stk - at st
Revilusnnm reserves
Chther resorves
Respined exmings

Toml eqquiry arnbutable w the
Pareny Company’s stockhaolders

MNon-contmling intercsts

Tiweal Faguiny

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

bt

14,14

14, 533

Fa

4

%
4
s

M
Xy

X

2024 2023
200,000,000 P R TR
2,512,630,683 ZS58.TI3723
4,743,665,793 5140775975
6,394 850,556 GANGL, T30,667
170,000,828 06,357 478
1,208,620,5831 LUM2 240 285
15,129, 768,391 15,0190 544,128
AS0, 000, B0 ERTLCTRL T
112,633,784 | r 4000 A S5
238,098,964 133,998,342
2062,B13,576 24171, 285,856
2,863,546,331 335693 NE
18,003,314,722 15,1 35 538 037
14, 803,455,238 14 Q003 455 33%
4,307 B87,9% 4 30V7 BB 006
1002, 104,558 ) 102,106,658
259 448,994 547 624,720
292,118,243 ) 292118243
0,577,871,830 9,514,581 026
25,554 430,157 28,579,324, 085
2,777,432,038 278402173
31,331,871,195 31,363, 596,258
49,425,185,917 P A9.49.134 205

See Nores to Consalidared Financial Starcments,
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EMPIRE EAST LAND HOLPINGS, INC. AND SUBSTIHARIES

A Sihsidiary of Megawonk! Comocanion)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FEE: o =8 &
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 324, 2021 AMD 2002 l :’ HEE JE E E 3
| 2T 4 - B
. '8 - - . -
My FLs LY 1= = = - - Ry 3
I ¢E B 33 &
REVEMUES AND INCOME | 1] 25 ; ] g =
Hio] Enbise aalss 1" P30 P ATSIE PoOETGEEA | 2 T"I 4 4 ?;
Fanance incrame z Y13, 638,778 SRTANTATA A 76,516 |
e Inenme 1 134, bk B6E 107 i B2 B0 = o = = ey =
€ amirri by e = A%, E14 490 T2 081 9,588, 11 !
Equiny slusie i vct cominggs of 1n amocliie it 308 AT 125,202 194, 160 L 1 48 ﬂi £ ; |
Ceher e 4 024,416,332 AT 2MTS,168 y @ %E; R 3§ EE §
i E gl = I if 5y
P . = ¥ 3 £ 4
450,795,738 2001144 4TI M S | g | i | L | g
- - - LY [ = .
COSTS AND EXPENSES =
Cose of real evtase sales m L5, 715,778 ZA97 JB3R4 LIBAXLS [ 2 IigE 4l 3 E §|_ z
T oisls ] 471,862,711 WA fREaTY R, VA E_-,g ‘Fj = 3 = ; Fl i 5 | i
Saiancs and employee benefin n 408,105,427 43102200 369,02, 595 i 3 =z dg¢g g 5 I 8 Al
[ — i 240,443,785 DT 47 551, ii i = i) 3 2P 3
Aswannn dags 159,901 588 14,76 1 T e b i & i = i = I F
Taxes sod beermes i 158,401 638 B, L 014 8 A Aol -
Aalweruising aml g F5,2005,029 T2l TLE 144,108 i = = - = = - E
Vvl s munspoimnion 61,104,262 B2 733,002 RATTI 5 i Q . 4 4 4 A B 4
hgrvriasdoge anl smorinesiom T bd 12 54,218,021 Ml 7519 ARG SPH 22 I 5 = 3 - H o H
it i i T AR50 TNATI AR 122201 938 E I E ﬁ H R ] i 1 3 i
T exponsc " 207 404,930 294000154 e E Zg : .!i I g
4 3 = o = ELI. = 5
= - =
4,270,512,604 AN IATE 4 T z g ﬁz - - _
SOg I | & |BE BE A §E g
ST TS L
NET PROFIT _ ER2RLEYY TRT08NETI ) TIEATEIRY g ,§ % it'i i‘; 5 TE ] FE L £ =-| = g
= |
= = 5. }l _ = -
O ILER COMPRUTIENGIVE INCOME (LOSS) E 1 g 5 ‘;i ;: ¥ A w | & 3 2 :
Tiems that will not be seclassilied wbasdguenily §= ?gi {l 3 . ) 2'
thrugh prodie or bows; b E % i - .J]I E J:’:' : E‘ 5’1 E‘ 5’ ;
Ve walve guins fonses) ou E--%g: !ii-ﬁ! 5 5 5 3 b b i
Ihtamial st m FYUH) L { FEGTIEO00 ) GEL2 00 ) 112001 AWK & - e H! ¥ .k | L L.: L L.
Rerrarsmmsremunts o resireress beneft = { #,30030) | 112290070 iR LG 5 g £ it i
‘I'ex Incomme (epenss) hi'} 111,882 578 MITISN | 13,30, 354 ) [ = s - = — — - -
, ! E E 3 £ 3 5
{ 2HN75,TIE) 154 1020 341 | 51 1708 z £ |5 £ 7]
L] g8 & |5 s 8 3 s
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Parend comprany's sharchobders r GHY, 12,200 r THTHAAT T TH | 4R | = = - £ - a
M- comimmiling infceesd [ GEARIIE) TAXTR0N o 4ANHSG5 ) Al - af o o s +
3 E [l ol X 1 3 X -
) - - - -
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EMFPIRE EAST LAND HOLDINGS, NG, AND FURSITMARIES

PUROR e .t pu g R EMPIRE EAST LAND HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMRBER 31, 204, 3023 AND M2t (A &hmo-af”‘gﬂwntd C‘a‘wﬂm‘;
e s 4 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023
G i i e (Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

CASH FLOWSE FROM OFERATING ACTIVITIES

Tresin By 1an " m F T M T (il A L
Kiljmsrmeni s foir
Fimmar v s i VINESETIS) ST AMATY ARSI | CORPORATE INFORMATION
Fimanee cisirs i) AN AELTI bt ¥ Lor g | TR A, HHA
Hipsecmiton sl sttt I 130 34,288,171 [P S L R ) ) .
Fagnity slars: b m1cs intene iof i mesoscsine i i mA) iHaEy | 114, 14 Empire Fast Lanul Haoldings, Inc, (the Company) was incorporited in the Philippines and
:::::::::;ffnhh Fo mp— e Bl ; p— il registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on July 15, 1994, primarily
e b et f - TR - to engage in the business of real esmre development, mass community housing,
Chpernmyg pooi befuoe woeking oopial ¢ hanpe S0 STEANT W& 8T WIT RG22 e e " i :
Nerrenie (nrmeee) i omibe sl orber oeeeresdiles BIT 505 | LATR S SRS SN tIMhnlL iy Hml indhe h“.“‘ e dﬂl_:llq'!mmf. Thr l‘.:-:'J":I-II:"‘:.II-I.]" W Wﬁmﬂ}r -anu:d l.naThc
T et ¢ TR ) | VA AR S 15,1787 development and marketing of mid-cost housing projeces in the form of condominium
P e (erigrretmas | e vl i fe- inrenics e i 55.!..51'.,“] HT\J.ThE!"I s BT e t T % "_'q' . . H H
ke p sk . o vl by communitics, subsdivisii n lots and house and lot pn:!:ﬂgcﬁ. _and crfmmcn:la.l units
TSR T p—— to a limited extent. The Company also leases our commercial and industrial propertics,
larlormrmrrs sl joine vonnies E1a%. 74T i 1.5 | A 25050
Ieverrmar heormary i irsdde sl metver o ysbdes 42,7007 § Fhd i 5T i, 1 . . . . I .
[ ;,..m.,_,: ,::;;:ulﬂ.,-;":! X a7 :;1,,..1;.... 2 S S The shares of common stock of the Company are bsted at the Philippine Stock Exchange
| flerrrmand i rrmmaress et { T IR IR RARATIATT BT TH {ps!_..‘}_
Iescrrarms &1 (#hes eurrcrss lsbsliies {666,380, b ErRR T Lepa
Imrrrame [derreaar) in mmmrrl--linhh;lrrrm AR q b i | ) Y i 2B 0R |
Cash el B flsiod s emperssbinise { 08, TEEATE ) (45,258 10 E39TE, 108 Ll Compositon of the Group
Tongmon segeived Deom eooonaldoy AT bl AT e
Cisli gradill fior i duiicse i Ry | TE R 1 FEE b LT ] ) _ _
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company holds ownership interests in the
ot Cih o [Usia] ) 4 porsemi Ao { ANETLITE ) 450, el A LT ﬁj“gmg chttes:
CASH FLOWS FHOM INYESTI NG ACTIVITIES
Irvrest rwred frem ek and ceh g 1} W, 1 BRI EIREELON] Explanatory Percentage of
(b stbeamecs frarseed s melatrd oo "‘ ( e | kAT ki Subsidiaries/ Associutes Nuotes Dwnership
Nxpirtims oo pmapere sl sguipeer " L MESEENT) (s L0 LATTAR )
Calliramm iof whrare i e e % 1,480,015 (LS FrT
Pemagals frm il gl o prospaiy smll ez sses) 1" 450137 & L5 He0 Sulsidinries:
1 inzgnyThbs s i - E ( TAIETAR R
Vorpition ek il m—is ' : - Easnwood Property Helding, Ine (EPHI ) e
St Canae Pompen (Uil i) Enesing Acrivities 19,480 05 A5 I5A41T { TAFLAIN ) Yallp Verde Propermm, Inc, (VVIPI) {hi (LT
Sherman Clak Haldings, Inc. (301 Ly TURLIR Ly
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES I Fasr o i FECT ; - AT L]
I it |mterar-Dwearmy e s beenmetngs TR] { e | RN T T T SN TR angrine Fast Communioes, boc, (BT 1=l MR
Ieprasrmensts i by e From eeland purmes B i TLAETINL} TA_TIMAR AT 20k Conaury Mokon Slelrt Co, Ine. (2590 Cenpury) fils ETELN
itz HEo AT | M) o el Beltir Seience Selwol, 1 ASSE) ) 2.50%
Ieiciali frass bbbl dabinnioes Vo ielaeed fasics = = 5,750 I:qs.uu - il ”UJ_‘ o e (e
Soneema Promoce Land, Lac (ST {hi el
e Caly Vel i Vinsbncing A s i LA ) | FILGGLET { AR ) Pacific Cimst Mmh}-_ I (PN 13l REERY Y
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CABH
ANDCASH BOUTIVALENTS i FA3, 500,919 ) AT KT A AT eas Mssisciane —
Gilmore Propeny Mirketing Associoe, Ine, [GPMATL (b} AT AN

AN AN CASH BUUIYALINTS
AT BEGINMNING OF YEAR 8,717 A 300 AT TR LA TE AT

I-.'I]J-Iamu'm:.' N ies:
P D — (o) Sulwicdiary incorporated o marker real estate properties of the Group and other related parties,
AT GEYRAR P ZAGLETR SN ¥ ATITARER P RAYT b Subsidinres/agsociate incorporated in prior veurs bot bive aot vt started commercial operstions
as of Decembaer 31, 2024
tg Subsidiary ineorporited in 2008 but ceased its operations as o marketing arm of real cstate propertics

Sugrplermnerstal Tnfimmation din Mon-cssh Trresting Activitiss = in 2014,
[rp T, sk Bl gt 1 e e et g by 457 s s eyl e kst 111 i bt Bl e emcmmprebme sl e th Chinap ha liren Aty Subsidinry seguired in 200 5 which is ver 1o resume is operstions, which is primarib 0 manefacoree,
et ] sl s evedivn woramygg o PIOG L pellin, sl was prosenmed s purt ol O loces i ihe 9127 coneofdaed staverse uf comrgiebs e distnlrate, and buy and sell wearing apparel and its secessones such o= wpper, huttons, etc,

micowrer {er Moes 2 wml 35 Tle cussusnling balsres of lesse evedin axvoumiersg s PR A indllam ks jreseniod s pan of Presaveesis amd Oibsy Cutom
Assers i thar T eonmedclane] sba s of fiomocil poaiion

iy Subsidiary primanly engaged in opemting a schond for primarny and secondary educatdon. In 2022,
the subsadiury eeased s opestions,
i Subsidiary of the Company smrong 2018 when the Company obtuined de faem contml over the

i o Conmnisssed Fitvamesal 5t entity aned was seoouned for pnder the pooling of-inteeest method [see Note 3.0(j).
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The registered office address, which is also the place of operations, of the Company and
its subsicharies and associates, except for EPHI, LBASSI, 20" Century and PCMI, is located
at 2nd Floor, Kasara Urban Resort Residences Tower 2, P. Antonio St., Brgy. Ugong,
Pasig Ciry 1604, Metro Manila,

Belowe is the summuary of the registered office address of the other subsidiaries, which
is alsa the place of their operation,

fw)  EPHI — #188 EC Information Center, F. Rodriguez Jr. Ave,, Fastwood CyberPark
Ciry, Bagumbayan, Quezon City

fbl LBASS] —Brgy. Don Jose, Sta, Rosa, Lapuna

fo) 20" Century — 632 Shaw Blvd. Highway Hills, Mandaluyong City

@) PCMI—77 Floor, 1880 Building Eastwood Ciry Cyberpark, 188 E. Rodrguez Jr. Ave,
Bagumbavan, Queson City

In prior vears, the Company increased its ownership interest 1n VVPL and LBASSI,
resuling in 100.00% and 72,500 ownership interest, respectively, over the respective
subsidiaries. This resulted in the recognition of poodwill which amounted to PT83 million,
In 20023, the Group has recopnized an impairment loss on poodwill related o LBASS]
amounting to P77.3 million [see Note 3.2(0)). The remaining poodwill which arose from
the acquisiion of VVP1 amounted o PLO million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
is shown as part of Intangible Assers — net account in the consolidared starements of
financial position (see Note 12),

Megaworld Corporation  (Megaworld  or Parent Company) is the parent company
of Empire Fast Land Moldings, Incand subsidiarics (the Grouph. Megaworld is presemtly
engaged in property-related actuvines, such as, project design, construction and property
management.  Megaworld s 53.90% owned by Alhance Global Group, Inc, (AGI), the
Company's Uldmate Parent Company.  AGIH 15 a holding company with diversified
investments in food and beverage, real estate, tounsm-enterminment and gaming and quick
service cestaurant businesses. The shares of common stock of both Mepaworld and AG1
are also listed at the PSE.

Megaworld's registered office addreess i locared on Mith Floor, Alliance Global Tower,
3oth Streer cor, 1lth Avenue, Uptown Bonifacio, Taguig City, AGIs registered office is
located at 7" Floor, 1880 Fastwood Avenue, Fastwood City CyberPark, 188 E. Rodriques
Jr. Avenue, Bagumbayan, Quezon City, These entities” registered office addresses are also
their respective principal places of business.

1.2 Approval of the Consolidated Financial Starcments

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2024 (including the eomparative gonsolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2023 and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022) were authorized
for issuc by the Group’s Board of Directors (BOD) on Februany 24, 2025,

¥

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The material accounnng policy informaton that have been used in the preparanon of these
consolidated financial statements are summarized below and in the succeeding pages.
These policies have been consistendy applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation of Consolidared Financial Starements
fap  Statement of Complicnce with Philippine Financial Reporting Ntanderds

The consolidated financial statements of rthe Group as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2024 were prepared in aceordance with Philippine Finaneial Reporting
Standards (PFRS Accountng Standards), In 2023, the Group’s consolidated financial
statements wete prepared in oaccordance with PERS Accounting Standards
as modified by the applicatdon of the financial reporting reliefs issued and approved
by the SEC in rsponse to the COVID-19 Pandemic |see Note 2.1(h)]. PFRS
Accounting Standards are adopted by the Financial and Sustainability Reporting
Standards Couneil (FSRSC) from the pronouncements tssued by the International
Accounnng Smndards Board and approved by the Philippine Board of Accountney,

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the measurement
hases specified by the relevant accounting framewarks for each type of asset, liability,
income and expense.  The measurement bases are more fully deseribed in the
accounting palicies that fallow,

(b SEC Financial Reporting Reliefs Aeailed and Adopted by the Group

I 2023 and priot vears, the Group has availed of several financinl reporting reliefs
granted by the SEC relating o the number of implementation issucs of PFRS 15,
Revenne from Comtracts with Curtomers, and the related financial reporting interpretations
affecting the real estate industry. In 2024, the Group adopted the previously deferred
provisions of PFRS 15 and the related issuances of the Philippine Interpretations
Committee (PIC), and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committes
(IFRIC) Agenda Decision on Over Time Transfer of Constructed Guoaods (PAS 23)
using modified retrospective approach as allowed by SEC MC No. 08-2021,
Amendmernt o SEC MC Noo 042008, MC Noo 03.2009, MC Noo 04-2020,
aed MC No, 34-2020 ro clarify transitory provision,

The adoption of these stndards and interpretatons has resulted in adjustments
to the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements as ar January 1,
2024, with the cumulative effect recognized in equity as an adjustment to the opening
bulance of Retained Earnmyps for the carrent period.

Discussed in the succeeding pages are the relevant information about these standards
and interpretations, and the resulung adjustments to the relevant consolidated
financial statements accounts as at January 1, 2024,




Empire Ea=t Three Decadss of Breakthroughs

2024 Annuatl and Sustainsbility Report

i}

(o)

-

IFRIC Agenda Decision on Over Time Transfer of Constructed Goods (PAS 23)
tor Real Estate Industoy

The IFRIC concluded thar any inventoey (work-in-progress) for unsold unis under
construction that the entity recognizes is nor a qualifying asser, as the asset is ready
for its intended sale in its current condition (Le., the developer intends wo sell the
partially constructed units as soon as it finds -uutahlt customers and, in signing
a comrraet with o customer, will ansfer control of any work-in-progress relanng
to that unir to the customer), Accordingly, no borrowing costs can be capiralized
om such unsold real estate inventories.

As a result of the adoption of the IPRIC Agenda Decision, Real estate inventories
decreased by P256.4 million and Deferred tax lahilides — net decreased
by P52.6 million as of January 1, 2024,

PIC Q&A No, 2008-12-D, Concepe of the significant findncing congponent in the contract to
sl and PIC Q&A No. 2020-04, Addewdum o PIC L&A 2018-12-D: Significant
Finandng Component Arising from Mismatol betuven the Percentage of Completion and Nchedule
of Paympents

PFRS 15 requires thar in derermining the rransaction pricc, an entity shall adjust the
rHTJ'ITII'H:{I amount of consideration for the effects of the dme value of money if the
tming of payments agreed 1o by the p.l.rﬂﬁ to the contract (elther :xphmh or
implicitly) provides the customer or the entity with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of gowmlds or services to the customer. In those eircumstances, the
contract contains a significant Anancing component.

There s no significant firancing component if the difference between the promised
consideration and the cash sclling price of the good or setvice arses for reasons
other than the provision of finance to either the customer or the entity, and the
difference between those amounts is proportional to the reason for the difference,
Further, the Group does not need to adjust the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of a significant financing component if the enrity expects, at contract
inceprion that the timing difference of the receipr of full payment of the contract
price and that of the completion of the project, are expected within one year and
significant financing component is not expected o be significant.

As a result of the adoption of this interpretation, Coneeaer assers as of January 1,
2024 decreased by P202.7 million, while Coneract linbilines as ar the said dare
increased by P17.3 million.

f2)

fd)

=3

The following table shows the summary of the impact of the adoprion of IFRIC
Agenda (PAS 23) and PIC Q&A No. 2018:12D on the Group's retained earnings
a5 at january 1, 2024,

As previously
ol g PRIEY B reporied Restatemeni As restated
lanwary 1, 2004
Vatad vrantr
Carrmt sl
Crpmwiract ausety J.!Elltlj 25301 T (1,854,303 607 ) 7 G 130
Reil enimie 21k )
Inveninrics 525, P s !mmﬂi} M TN T
{2100, 764, (65
Nawrmvent siieli =
Cioniract anscts 2B kAPl LS 1,651,678, 164 | BS54 R 40K
gm.ﬂﬁb,ws!
Tl Bl
arreid Garlyilties ~
Contract bahilines 2.0 hi) WOISTATE  (15,866,289) 112.203,767
o Sk
Contract Halsilitics 21 bii | 67 i 455 (1,481,807 161,891 266
Drefermed tax .
Kicbillicies » s 24b) HOTLHSEE o 603596 262,262
35,255, 5040
Imipact om net

Presentation of Consolidated Fivandial Statements

The eonsolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine
Accounting Sundard (PAS) 1, Presentation of Finaneial Ntatenments. The Group presents
all items of income, expenses, and other comprehensive income or loss 10 a single
comsolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The Group presents a third eonsolidated statement of financial posmion as at the
beginning of the preceding period when it applies an accounnng policy
retrospectvely or mokes a retrospecove restatement or reclassificanion of items that
have matenal effect on the informaton in the consolidated smatement of
financial posinon at the beginning of the préceding penod. The related nowes m the
third consolidated statement of fnancial posinon are not required o he disclosed.

Fametional awel Presentution Carniecy

These consolidated finnncial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the
functional and presentation currency of the Group, and all values represent absolute
amounts except when otherwise indicared.

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured
using the Group’s functional currency. Functional currency is the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Group operates.
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22 Adoprion of New and Amended PFRS Accounting Standards

fat)

Effective s 2024 that are Relevant to the Gronp

The Group adopred for the first ime the following amendments o PFRS Accounting
Standards, which are mandarorily effectve for annual pedods begmmning on or after
January 1, 2024

PAS 1 (Amendments)

Presenmation of Pinancial Smwments —
Classification of Liahilities as Current or
Mon-current, and Non-current Liabilities
with Covenanrs

PAST and PFRS 7

{Amendments) Statement of Cash Flow, and Financial
Instruments: Disclosurcs — Supplicr Finance
Armangements

PIRS 16

{Amendments) Teases — Laise Liahility ina Sale and Leascehack

Discussed below and in the succeeding page are the relevantinformanon about these

PrOROUNCEMEnts.
@ PAS | [(Amendments), Presentation of Fimancial Ntatements — Classification of

(i)

Lihilities ws Carrort or Nemecwrrews,  The amendments prowide guidance
on whether a liahility showuld be chissified as either curmenr or non-current, The
amendments clarfy thar the classificaton of habilites as curremt or non-current
should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period
and that the cassification is unaffected by expeetations abour whether an entity
will exereise its right o defer sertlement of a lability, The application of these
amendments had no significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

PAS 1 (Amendments), Presontation of Financal Statoments — Non-current | dabiliter
with Coventants. 'The amendments specify that if the rght to defer settlement for
at least 12 months is subject to an entity complying with condidons after the
reporting pered, then those conditons would not affect whether the nghe
to defer settlement exists at the end of the repoming penod for the purposes
of classifying a liability as eurrent or non-current. For non-current liabilities
subject to conditions, an entity is required 1o disclose information about the
condinons, whether the cnnty would comply with the condidons based on irs
circumstances ar the reporting date and whether and how the entry expects
to commply with the condlions by the dae on which they are contractually
required 1o be tested, The required disclosures under these amendmemis are
disclosed in Nowe 14,

(b

i)

fiv)

B 5

PAS 7 and PFRS 7 {Amendments), Safowent of Cash Flans, Financial Indrasents:
Diselosaves — Supplier Fimance Arrangementr. The amendments add a disclosure
ohjective to PAS 7 smring that an entity is required to disclose information
about its suppliet finance arrangements that enable users of financial statements
to assesk the effects of those armnpgements on the entin'’s liabilites and
cash flows, In addition, PFRS 7 is amended o add supplier finance
arrangements g8 an example within the requirements o disclose information
abour an enfin’s exposure to concentration of liquidity risk. The application of
these amendments had no significant impact on the Group’s eonsolidated
financial statements,

PFRS 16 (Amendments), Loaser — Lease aability in a Safe and Leaseback, The
amendments requires a scller-lessee to subsequently measure Jease liabilities
arising from a leaschack in 4 way that it does not recogmize any amoant of the
pain or loss that relates to the right of use it retins. The new requirements
do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognizing in profir or loss any gain or loss
relating to the partal or full rerminaton of a lease,

Fiffective Subseqquent to 2024 bur net Adopred Farly

There are amendments to existing standards effective for annual periods subsequent
to 2024, which are adopted by the FSRSC, Management will adopt the following
relevant pronouncements in accordance with their transitonal provisions; and
none of these arc expected to have significant impact on the Group's consolidared
financial statements;

n

{i)

(1)

(iv)

(v)

PAS 21 (Amendments), The Effects of Changer in Foredon Excobangy Rates — Lack of
Exchanpeability (effectve from January 1, 2025)

PFRS 9 and PFRS 7 (Amendments), Fuanda! Initrents, and Fiwanidal
Tnitrwmente: Disclossres — Amendments fo the Classification and Measurement of Fisanetal
Instrumpnts (effective from January 1, 2026)

PEFRS 18, Preentation and Dicdaswrs & Fivancad Ntatements {cffecdve from
January 1, 2027}, The new standard impacts the classification of profit or loss
items (.., into operating, investng and financing  categories) and  the
presentation of subtotals in the statement of profit or loss (Le., operating profit
and profit before financing and income taxes). The new standard also changes
the agprepanon and disagerepanon of information presented in the primary
financial statements and in the notes, It also introduces required disclosures
about  management-defined  performance measures. The amendments,
however, do not affect how an entity recognizes and measures its financal
condition, financial performance and eash Jows,

PERS 19, Nubsidiarier withont Pablic Avconntability: Disclvowrer (effective from
January 1, 2027). The new standard reduces the disclosure requirements
preseribed by other standards for subsidianes without public accountability,
It changes diselosure requirements: preseribed by other standards s the
reporting entity will instead refer 1o PTRS 19 for required diselosures.

PEFRS 10 and PAS 28 (Amendmenis), Consoffdloted Fimancol Statvoreits and
nwwwsitmeenis i _Associates and Jormt Veminres — Nade or Contrebtion of ALiels befween an
Tnestor and ftr Arsociate or Joint 1 entwre (effective date deferred indefinitely).
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2.3 Basis of Consofidation

The Group's consolidated financal sttements comprse the accounts of the Parent
Company, and its subsidianes as enumerated in Nore 1, afrer the eimination of material
INIETCOMPany Iransac oS,

The financial statements of subsidinnes are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Parent Company, using consistent accounting principles.  Adjustments are made 1o bring
i line any dissimilar aceountng policies that may exist

Acquired subsidianies are subjeet to cither of the following relevant policies:

() Business scguisitions of entities not under commean control of 2 principal stockholder
are accounted for using the acguisition method of accounung,

{b) Business combinations ansing from tmnsfors of interests in enotes that are under the
common conttol of the principal stockholder are aceounted  for under the
pooling-of interests methoud, Transfers of assets berween commonly-controlled entities
are accounted for under historical cost accounting; hence, the assets and labiliges are
reflected in the consulidared financial statements ar carrying values and no adjustments
are made o retlecr fair values or recognize any new assers or Hahbilides, ar the dane
of the eombinaton that othetwise would have heen done under the acquisidon methesd.

Aequired investment in assodate is subject o the purchase muethod,

24 Financial Instrumenis

fal  Fewancal Asts

Regular purchises and sales of Gnancial assets are reeognized on their trade dite
(Le., the date dhat the Group commits to purchase or sell the assct),

fi)  Classifrcations, Meanment and Recassification of Fimaneal Avsets

The Group’s financial assets include fnancial assers at amortized cost
and financial asscts ar fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCT).

Fisaneial ~sivts af Awrortized Cogl

Where the business mode] is o hold assers o collecr contractual cash flows, the
Giroup assesses whether the financial instrumenrs” cash flows represent solely
pavments of principal and interest.  In making this assessment, the Group
considers whether the conractual cash fows are consistent with basic lending
arrangements, e, interest includes only consideration for the ome value of
money, eredin risk, or other basie lending risks and a profit margin. Where the
contractual terms introduce exposure o risk or volaility that are inconsistent
with basic lending arranpements, the related Anancial asset is clossified and
micasurcdd at far value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

The Group may irrevocably eleet at initial recopnition to classify o financial asset
that meets the amortzed cost crtena as ar PVTPL if thar desiwrnaton climinares
or sipmficandy reduces an accounung nusmatch had the fnanceal asser been
measured ot amortized cost

()

At inigal recogmition, the Group can make an irrevocable election
{on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designare equity investments as ar
FVOCI; however, such designation is not permitted if the equity investment is
held by the Group for rading or as mandatorily required 0 be classified as
FVTPL. The Group has designated certain equity instrument at FVOCI on
initial recognition,

(i) lepaivment of Financial Arvets

The expected credit losses (ECL) on trade nnd other recervables and contract
assets are estimated by applying the simplified approach using a provision matrix
developed based on the Group’s historical eredit loss experienee and eredit
information that are speeific to the debrors, adjusted for general economie
conditons and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporng date, including ome value of money where
appropriate, These assets are assessed for impairment on a collective hasis based
on shared credir risk characlerisncs,

The Group applies a general approach specifically, in relation w receivables from
related partics. The maximuomn perod over which ECL should be measured is
the longest comractual period where an entity is exposed w credit risk. 1n the
case of these receivables from relared parties, which are repavable on demand,
the conteactual periodd is the very short period needed 1o transfer the cash once
demanded,  Management determines  possible  impairment based on the
sufficiency of the related parties” highly liguid assets in order 1o repay the
Group's recesvables if demanded at the reportng date, talang into consideraton
the historical defaults of the related parties. If the Group cannot immediaely
collect its recetvables, management considers the expected manner of recovery
1o measure ECL. 1f the recovery strategies indicate that the outstanding balance
of advances to related parties can be collected, the ECL is hmited m the effect
of discounting the amount due over the period unnl cash is realized.

Huowever, if the credit risk on a financial asser has not increased significantly
since inital recognition, for debt instruments measured ar amortized eost
(except trade and other receivables where simplified approach is used) and
at FVOCI, the Group measures and provides for eredin losses that are expeeted
ts result from default events thar are possible within 12 months after the end of
the reporting period, cxeepr when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on the financial asset since inital recagniton,

Financtal dabiiities

Financial liabilities include Interest-beanng Loans and Bommowings, Trade and Other
Payables (excepr tax-related liabilites), Advances from Relared Parties and Other
Current Liabilities (excluding Miscellaneous), Refund hability is measured using the
probabilicy-weighted avetage amount approach similar to the expecred value method
under PFRS 15,
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2.5  Real Estate Inventorics

Costs of real estate inventories are assigned using specific identificanon of their individual
COSLS.

The Group recognizes the effecr of revisions in the ol project cost esimares in the year
in which these changes become known. Any impairment loss from o real estate inventory
is charged 10 operations during the period in which the Joss is determined,

Repossessed property ansing from sales cancellation is recognized ar cost. The difference
between the carying amount of the recelvable or contract asset to be derecognized and the
cost of the repossessed  property |5 recognized in the consolidated  statement
of comprehensive income,

26  Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, except for land, are stated at cost less accumulared depreciation,
amortzation and any impatmment losses, As the land has no finite vsceful life, it eelated
SAFFVINg Amount is not depreciated,

Diepreciaton and amortzaton are computed on a straighe-line basis over the estimarted
uscful ives of the assers as presenmed below, Leaschold improvements ane amortized over
thie lease rerm or the estimated useful hives of the imprivements, whichever is shorrer.

Building and other improvements 5 1o 25 years
Office Furniture and cquipment 3 to 5 years
Transportation equipment 5 years

2.7 Inrangible Assets

Intungible assers include goodwill and acquired computer software license, which
is capitalized on the basis of the ensts ineurred 10 aequire, install and service the specifie
software. Costs associated with mainraining computer software are expensed as incurred.

Capitalized costs of intangible assets are amortized on a stright-line basis over the
estimated useful life (100 vears) as the lives of these inmangble assets are considered fmite.
Goodwill iz classified as intanpible asser with infinite life and, chue, nov subject
o amortzation but requires an annoal test for impairment.  Goodwill is subsequenty
carried ar cost less sccumulated impairment losses.

2.8  Investment Properties

Properties held for lease under operating lease agreements, which comprise mainly of
building and office and commereial units held for lease and a parcel of land held for capital
appreciation, are clssified as Investment Properties and carded ar cost, ner of accumulated
depreciation and any impaimment in value, excepr land for which @ nor subjecr
o deprectation,  Depreciation for building and office and commercial unirs classified
as investment property is computed on a steaight-line basis over the estimated useful life
of 20} ro 30 years,

- 1f-

29 Revenue and Expense Recognition

Revenue comprises revenue from sale of real properies, leasing activines and ﬂmdcring
of services,

The Group develops real properties such as house and lor and condominium unirs. The
Group often enters into contracts (o sell real properties as they are being developed. The
significant judgment used in determining the timing of satisfaction of the Group's
performance obligation with respect to its eontracts o sell pre-completed real properties is
disclosed in Note 3.1(c). Sales cancellations, which are aceounted for as modification of
contracts, are charged to profit or loss on the year of forfeiture,

The specific recognition entetia of varous revenue streams of the Group arc as follows:

fa) Real estate sales on pre-compioted ral estate propetier — Revenue from real estate sales
is recognized over time proportionate to the progress of the development. The Group
measures its progress based on actaal costs incurred relative to the ol expected costs
tor be incurred in completing the development. Revenue recognized from real esate
sales is presented as part of Real Estare Sales account in the consolidated starement
of comprehensive income,

(b Real estate sales on completed real estate properties — Revenue from real esmte sales
is recognized at point 0 mme when the control over the real estare property is
rransferred to the buyet. Revenue recognized from real estate sales is presented as part
of Real Estate Sales account in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

For tax reporting purposes, a modified basis of computing the taxable income for the
vear based on collections from sales is used by the Group,

{e) Marketing and management fees — Revenue is recomized over time in the same amount to
which the entity has the rght of invoice to the customer. Any amounts remaining
unbilled at the end of the reporting period are presented in the consolidated seatement
of financial position as reccivables as only the passage of time is required before
pavment of these amounts will be due,

(el) Comaizsion — Revenue i recognized by the amount in which the Group has a rght
to invoice that corresponds directly with the wvalue of services rendered
iy customers thar are ﬂ'rmpI:lr:d over time (ie, end of each month).

fe) Twitron aia merscelioneons foer — Revenue 15 recopnized over ome over the corresponding
school term,

Fer tax reporting purposes, a modified basis of compunng the txable income for the vear
hased on collections from real estate sales s used by the Group.

Incremental costs of obmining a conterer to sell real property o customers are recognized
as part of Prepayments and Orther Current Assers and is subsequently amortized over the
duration of the contract on the same basis as revenue from such contract is recognized.
(nher costs and expenses are recognized in profir or loss upon urilization of services or
receipt of goods or ar the date they are incurred. Finanee costs are reported on an acerual
basis except eapimlized borrowng costs.
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In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the contract price for the effects
of tme value of money when the timing of payvments agreed to with the customer provides
cithet party with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In buver finincing armngements where buyer payvments arc shead of the
development of the sold property, the Group recognizes interest expense which is
presented s part of Finance Costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
Conversely, in scller financing arrangements where the development of the sold property
is ahead of buyer payment terms, the Group recognizes interest income which is presented
a5 part of Finance Income in the consolidated starement of comprehensive income.

The Group applies the pracocal expedient under PFRS 15 where the promised amount
of considerarion is no longer adjusted for the effects of significant financing component
when the Giroup expects, at conteact inception, that the pm.'it:u] between when the Group
transfers the promised good or serviee 1o a customer and when the customer pays for such
pood or service will be one vear or less, The significant judpgment used in determinmng the
existence of significant financing component in the conteact is disclosed in Now 3.1(d).

Under s contracts with customers, the Group will receive an uncondivonal right
1o payment for the total consideration upon the completion of the development of the
properry sold. Any nghes o consideration recopmized by the Group as 1t develops the
property are presented as Contract Assets in the consolidated statement of financal
position. Contract assets are subsequently tested for impairment in the same manner
as the Group assesses impairment of its financial assets [see Note 2.4a)(18).

Anv consideration received by the Group in excess of the amount for which the
Group is enfitled 15 presenred as Contract Linbilities in the consolidared statement of
financial position,

210 Direct Contract Cosr

Commissions represent a certain percentage of contract price given to the real estate
brakers and/or agents who handle the sales and marketing of the Group's residential and
high-rise projects,  Incremental costs of commission incurred to obtain contracts are
capitalized and presented as Deferred commission preseoted under Prepayments and
Odther Current Assets in the consolidated statement of financial position (see Note 19.3),
Commissions are charged to profit or loss proportionate o the progress of the project
development and are presented as Commissions under Costs and Expenses section in the
consolidared statement of comprehensive income,

211 Leases
The Group accounts for its leases as follows:
fa)  Cooup as Lessee
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group amortizes the right-of-use asset on a

straighe-line basis from the Jease commencement date 1o the earfier of the end of the
useful life of the rnghr-o f-use asser or the end of the lease term which is 3 3 VEATS,

3‘!‘
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The Group has elecred o account for short-term leases using the practical expedients.
Instead of recognizing a right-of-use asset and lease lability, the payments in relation
ro these are recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease renm,

) Group as | zssor

The CGroup apphes judement in detcrmuning whether a lease conueact 15 o finance
or operating lease.

212 Impairment of Non-financial Asscts

The Group's Advances o Landowners and Joint Ventures, Investment in an Associate,
Property and BEquipment, Intangible Assers, Investment Properties, goodwill and other
non-financial assets are tested for impairment. Goodwill is tested For impaioment at least
annually. All other individual assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicare thar the carrving amoant may not be recoverable.

213 Emplovee Benefirs

The Group provides post-employment benefits to employees through a defined benefit
plan and defined contriburion pl-.rnr., and ather employvee benefirs,

The Group’s defined benefit posr-employment plan covers all regular full-time emplovees.
The pension plan is tax-gualified, noneoneributory and administered by trustees,

The defined benefit obligaoon (DBO) is caleulated annually by an independent actuary
using the projected unie eredit methiod.

214 Earnings Per Share

The Group does not have potentially dilutive shares ourstanding, hence, the diluted
eirnings per share is equal 1o the basic earnings per share,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's eonsolidated financial statements in aceordance with PERS
requires management to make judgments and esumares that affect amounts reported in the
consalidated financial statements and related notes.  Judgments and estimanes are
continually evaluated and arc based on histoneal experence and other fctors, including
expectations of future events that are believed o be reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results may ultimarely vary from these estimates.
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3.1 Critical Judgments in Applving Accounting Policies

In the process of applyng the Group's accounting policies, management has made the
judgments mentioned below and in the succeeding pages, apart from those involang
estimation, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements:

() Dutermination of Lease Term of Cottdracts aith Renewal and Termination Option

(b

In determining the lease term, manapement considers all relevant factors and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise 4 renewal opton or not
exercise a termination option.  Renewal optons and/or periods after termination
oprions are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably cerain o be
extended or nor terminated and the renewal of the conreaer s not subject o mutual
agreement of both partes.

The renewal and rerminaton option for the lease of office space was not included as
part of the lease term due to the provisions in its contract that require mutual agreement
of both parties on the s and agrecments of the renewal and rermination of the
lease contract,

The lease term is reassessed if an opton 1s actually exercised or not exercised or the
Group becomes obliged 1o exercise or nor exercise it. The assessment of reasonable
cerminty 15 only revised if a significant evenr or a significant change in circomsrances
occurs, which affects this assessment, and thar is within the conmal of the Group,

Deternringy Foodtence of o Confroct with Cusioner

In a sale of real estate properties, the Group's primary document for a contract with
a customer is a signed contract o sell which is executed when the real estate property
sold is completed and ready for use by customer. In rare cases wherein contract to sell
arc not cxecuted by both parties, management has determined that the combination
of other signed documentations with the customers sach as reservation agreement,
official receipts, computation sheets and invoices, would contain all the elements
tor qualify as contract with the customer (Le, approval of the contrace by the parties,
which has commercial substance, identificaion of each partys rights regarding the

goods or services and the related payvment terms),

Moreover, as part of the evaluation, the Group assesses the probabilicy thae the Group
will collect the consideration o which jt will be entitled in exchange for the real estate
property that will be transferred to the customer,

In evaluanng whether collecrability of an amount of consideration is probable, the
Group considers the significance of the customer’s downpayment in relation 1o the
total contract price [see Nore 3.1(¢)].

Collectability 15 also assessed by considering factors such as past lustory with the
customer and pricing of the property, Management regularly evaluates the historical
cancellabons and back-outs if it would stll support its current threshold of customers”
equity before commencing revenue recognition.

= I5.

(¢ Evaluation of Timing of Satisfsction of Performance Obligations

ff)  Real Estafe Nader

The Group excrcises significant judgment in determining whether each
performance obliganon o develop properties promised in its conmaces: with
customers is satisfied over tme orat a point in tme. In making this judgment, the
Group considers the factors enumerated below.

® any asset created or enhanced as the Group performs;

®  the ability of the customer to control such asset as it is being created or
enhanced:

o the timing of receipt and consumpuon of benefits by the customer; and,

o the Group's enforeeable right for payment for performunce completed to date.

The Group determined thar its performance obligaton for pre-complered real
esrare inventonies is satsfed over time singe it does nor have an aliernarive use of
the specific property sald as it is precluded by its contract from redirecting the use
of the property for a different purpose,  Further, the Group has dghts over
payment for development completed o date as the Group can chowse to complete
the development and enforee s rights to full payment under its contrets even if
the customer defaulis on amortizatnon payments, On the other hand, performance
obligation for completed real estate properties is satisfied at a point in tme when
the control over the real estate property s transferred 1o the buver,

fit)] Masketing. Managesent Teet and Coneisicon

The Group determines that its rovenue from marketing, management fees and
commission shall be recognized over tme,  In making its judgment, the Group
considers the tming of receipt and consumption of benefits provided by the Group
o the customers, The Group applies the practical expedient to recopnize revenue
ar the amount to which it has a dghr o invoice, which corresponds di.rL'Cﬂ!.-' o the
value m the customer of the entitg’s performance completed o dare e, generally
when the customer has acknowledged the Group's Aght to invoice.

fii) Tuition Fees

The Group determines that its revenue from tuition fees shall be recognized over
time.  In making its judgment, the Group considers the uming of receipt and
consumption of benefits provided by the Group o the counrerparoes. The Group
renders services withouot the need for reperformance of other companies. This
demonstrates that the counterparties simultaneously recetve and eonsume the
benefits of the Group’s rendeting of services as it perfomms.

fd) Determination of the Fxisterse af the Niguifecarns Financing Compowent in the Contract

The Group enters into real esmare sales contracts offering various payment schemes
o its customers. The nming of rransacrion price collection can sipnificantdy differ from
the nming of the Group's fulfillment of its performance obligations. The Group
exercises judgment in derermining whether the contract terms provide a significant
financing benefit to either the Group or its customers. This assessment 15 conducted
at the inception of the contract, considering the contractual payment terms and the
projected completion tmeling of the related real estate development.
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{e) Estimation of Collection Threshold for Retenne Revognition

i

The Group uses judgment in evaluating the probability of collection of contract price
on real eswmte sales 4s 4 criterion for revenue recognition, The Group uses historical
pavment partern of customers m establishing a percentage of collection threshold over
which the Group determines that collection of toal contract price is reasonably assured.
Reaching this level of colleeton is an indication of buver’s continuing commirment ani
the probability that economic benefits will flow o the Group., The Group considers
that the initial and continuing investments by the buver when reaching the set colleetion
threshold would demonstrate the buver’s commirment 1o pay the wtal coneraer price.

Daterimination ef FCL on Trdde and Otber Recoiialies, Comtrace Assets wmd Advawces to Reloted
Tartter

The Group uses a provision matrix to caleulate ECL for Trade Recervables, Contract
Assets and other receivables. The provision rares are based on days past due for groups
of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (Le., projects and
Customer type).

The provision marrix 15 based on the Group’s historical observed default rates, The
Group's management intends o regularly ealibeate (e, on an annual basis) the marix
iy consider the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking informarion
(1., torecast coonomic conditons).

With respect to Advances to Related Parties and other related party receivables, the
Group uses the liquidity approach as the receivables are collectible on demand.

Details about the ECL on the Group's Trade and Other Receivables, Contract Asscts
and Advances to Related Parties are disclosed in Note 29.2.

Distinctton Amorg Dnvertent Property and Chansermianaged Properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as investment property or property
and equipment. In making its judgment, the Group considers whether the propenty
generates cash flows largely independent of the other assets held by an ennty,
Orwwner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are ateributable not only 10 the
property but also to other assers used in the production or supply process while land
held for future development are properties intended solely for furure development
and sale.

Some propertics comprise i portion that is held to carn rental or for capital appreciation
and another portion that is beld for administrative purposes. If these portions can be
sald separately (or leased out separately under finance lease), the Group accounts for
the portions separately, If the portions cannot be sold separately, the property is
accounted for as investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
administrative purposges. Judgment is applied in determining whether ancillary services
are so significant that a property divis it qunhﬂ as investment property, The Group
considers each property separately in making its judgment.

Based on management’s assessment, properties held for lease and for eapital
appréciation qualifies as invéstment property,

()
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Distenction Bedween Kaal Frtate Inventories and Iuveitment Proprerty

Inventories comprise propertes that are held for sale in the ordinary course of husiness.
Meanwhile, investment propertes comprise of land and hmldings which are nor
oecupled substantially for use by, or in the operations of, the Group, nor for sale in the
ordinary course of business, but are held primarly o earn rental income and eapital
appreciation.  The Group considers management’s use over these assets in making
its Judpment.

Distinetion Between Operating aned Fimance | zases

The Group has entered into various lease agreements as either a lessor or lessee. Crrical
|udgm|:11r was exercised by management to distnguish each lease agreement as either
an operating or finance lease by lru:rkmj.., at the tmnsfer or retention of significant sk
and rewards of ownership of the properties covered by the agreements. Failure to make
the right judgment will result in either overstatement or understatement of assers
and liabilitics.

Based on management’s assessment, all of the Group’s lease agreements are classified
as operatng leases,

Distinetion between operating wnd Anance leises is applicable only ro lease agrecments
a5 a lessor.  All leases entered into as a lessee, except for those qualified under the
optonal cxemptions as provided by the standard, are required o be recopnized
ovn-balance sheer

Caattaltclation af Fandidis dn which the Cironp Haldy 50% ar Tess

Management considers thar the Group has de facto conrrol over PCMI even though
it holds less than 50% of the ordinary shares and vorng rights in thar subsidiary, The
Group considers its ability 1o exercise control over these entities through voting rights
held by its subsidiaries or through inerdocking directors:

Recogmition af Provicins ana Coniingencies

Provisions are recopnized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of
ceonomic resources and they can be estmued reliably even if the nming or amount of
the outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence
of 1 lepal or construetive ablipation that has resubied from past evenis.

Where the possible outflow of economic resource as a resule of present oblisanons
is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be
measured relinbly, no Hablliey is recognized in the financial stitements: Similarly,
possible inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not ver meet the
recognition critena of an asset are considered confngent assers; hence, are not
recognized in the financial statements, On the other hand, any reimbursement thar the
Grroup can be virtwally certain to collect from a third party with respeet to the obligation
is recognized as a separate asset not exceeding the amount of the celied provision,

Judgment s exercised by management 1o distinguish  between  provisions and
Li]tlt]ngtlll:lr:'\, qul,lmurﬂ on relevant provisions and contingencies are presented
in Mot 28,
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42  Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerminag the futare, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporong perind, that have a sipnificant nsk
of causing 1 marenal adjusrment o the carrving amoans of assers and habilines wirhin

the next reporting period:

fua}

(b

{ell

Deterninalion of Appropriate Discownd Batn in Measaing T eose Tiabilites

The Group measures its lease Habilites ar present value of the lease payments that are
not paid ar the commencement date of the lease contract. The lease payments were
discounted using a reasonable mte deemed by management equal w the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate. In determining a reasonable discount rate, management
considers the term of the leases, the underlying asser and the ceonomie environment,
Avtual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought about by changes
in such factors.

Rererae Recugnition for Pecformance Oldipation Satigfied Uver Linve

In determining the amount of revenue 1o be recopnized for performance obligations
satsfied over ome, the Group measures progress on the basis of acmal costs incurred
relative o the wl expected coses o complere such perfurmance obligations,
Spectfically, the Group estimares the torl development costs with reference to the
project development plan and any agreement with customers, Management regularly
monitors its estimates and applies changes as necessary, A significant change in
cstimared costs would resule in a significant change in the amounr of revenue
recognized in the year of change.

Deterswination of Appropriate Diseonnt Rate fnv Mearsring Significant inancing Componesnt

In the sale of real estare propertics, the transaction price Is reeognized ot the present
value ol the installment payments discounted 1o the date the entity expects o satisfy s
performance obligaton.

When adjusting the consideratton for sigafficant financing COMpONEnt, an ¢ntiry shall
use the discount rate that would be reflected in 2 separate finaneing transaction
at contract incepuon. Management considers the discount rate which would reflect the
credit characrenistics of the party recciving financing in the conrmacr as well as any
collateral or security provided by the customer or enriry,

Specifically, for contraces classified as “seller financing,’ the Group bases its lending rate
on the rate extended ro buyers who wilize is in-house Anancing. This lending rare is
adjusted to reflect the specific circomsrances of each financing transaction, For
contracts classified as "huyer financing,” the Group estimates the discount rne using a
borrowing rate that would be consistent with a separate financing transaction where
the Group is considered the borrower.

V- stimation of Allwwenee for BT

The measurement of the allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortized cost is
an area that requires the use of significant assumptions about the future economic
conditions and eredit behaviour (e, likelhood of counterparties defaulting and the
resulting Iosses).  Explination of the inputs, assumptions and estimadon used
in measuring BCL s further detailed in Nore 29,2,

fe)
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Determination of Net Reslizubie Valoe of Rewd Estute Tnventories

In determining the ner realizable value of real estate invenmories, management takes into
account the most reliable evidence available at the rimes the estimates are made. The
future realization of the carrving amounts of these assers s affected by price changes
in the different market segments as well as the trends in the real estare industry, These
are considered key sources of cstimanon oncertmunty and may cause signaficant
adpsiments o the Group's wentones within the next reporong period.

Considering the Group's pricing policy, the net realizable value of the Real Estate
Inventones is higher than their related carrying values as of the end of the reporting
periods.

FEtemartion of Usefied Liver of Property and Egaipment, Hatangatie Asvets, and Tovestwent Properties

The Group estimates the useful lives of Property and Equipment, Intangible Assers,
and Tnvestment Propertics based on the period over which the assers are expected
1o be available for use,  The esumated useful hves of these assers are reviewed
pericdically and are updated it expectadons differ from previous esomares due to
physical wear and wear, technical or commerciial obsolescence and legal or other limits
on the use of the assets,

The earrying amounts of Property and Eguipment, Intangible Assets, and Investment
Propertics are analysed in Notes 11, 12 and 13, respectively. Based on management's
assessment a5 1t December 31, 2024 and 2023, there is no change in estimated wseful
lives of Property and Equipment, Intangible Assers and Investment Properties duning
those vears. Actual results, however, may vary due to d't:l.nge-g in estimates brought
about by changes in factors mennoned above.

Determeination of Realizable Amssret of Deferred Tax: Assens

The Group reviews iis deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period
and reduees the carrying amount o the extent that it ¥ no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available o allow all or pant of the deferred s asset
tis be utilized. Management assessed that the balance of deferred rax assers recognized
as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 will be utibized in the succeeding vears.

The carrving values of the Group's deferred tax assers as of Deeember 31, 2024
and 2023 are disclosed 1n Note 24.

Imprairmoent of Goodwell and Otber Non-financial ssets

Goodwill is reviewed annually for impairment while other non-financial assets
are rested whenever cermain imparment indicators become present.  In assessing
impairment, the management estimates the recoverable amount of ecach asset or a
eash-generating unit (CGLT) bused on expected future cash flows and uses an mrerest
rate to calculave the present value of those cash fows. Estimation uncenainty relates
o assumptions about future operating resulis and the determination of a suitable
hiscount rate,
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On March 17, 2021, the Group submitted a letter to the Department of Edueanon
Sta. Rosa City Division Office regarding the eessation of the operations of LBASS]
tiking effect after school vear 2021-2022. On October 20, 2022, LBASSL filed
for the certificate of clearance wath the BIR Revenue District Office Mo, 057, Binan,
West Laguna,

In 20023, LBASSI retracted its filed applicanion for the certificate of clearance with BIR,
LBASSI will remain as a non-operating entity until such ame that it ventures again into
business,

Based on manggement’s assessment, impaitment loss amounting o P77.3 million
on goodwill has been recognized since the recoverble amount of the cash generating
unies is less than their carrving amount in 2023 (see Note 12). There was no similar
impairment in 2024 and 2022,

No impairment losses were recognized on Advances w Landowners and  Joint
Ventures, Investment in an Associate, Property and Equipment, Investment Propertes,
and other non-fnancial sssers in 2024, 2023 and 2022 (see Notes 9, 10, 11 and 13),

Valnation of Poast-enpioyment Defined Benefit

The determination of the Group's obligaton and cost of post-emplovment benefit
is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by an actuary in-calculating
such amounts. Those assumpnions incluode, among orhers, discount rares and
salary increase rate. A significant change in any of these actuarial assumptions may
penerally affect the recognized expense, other comprehensive income or losses and the
carrying amount of the retirement benefit abligation in the nexe reporting period,

The amounts of rerrement benefit obliganon and expense and an analysis of the
moverments in the estmated present value of post-employment benefirs, as well as the
significant assumptions used in estimating such obligaton are presented in Nore 23.2,

Dedermepraivon of Ferr | adve of Tnvestomgt Propertres

lovestment propertics are measured using the cost model. The Group determines the
fair values of building and building improvements using either thru the discounted
cash flows valuanon technique (income approach) or market-based valuaton technique
{(market approach). The Group uses assumptions that are mainly based on marker
conditions existing at the end of each reporting penod, such as: the receipt of
comiractual rentals; expected  future mwrker rentals; void p::rim.ls.; maintensnce
requirements, and Appropriate discount rares. These valuations are regularly I.'Hl‘l'lplil.lt‘il
to actual market vield dim and acrual ransactions by the Group and those reporied
by the marker, The expected future marker rentals are determined on the basls of
current market rentals for similar properties in the same locanon and condition.

For land, the Group determines the fair value using market-based valuation approach
where prices of comparable properties are adequate for specific market factors such
as locanon and condition of the property.

A significant change in these clements may affect prices and the value of the assers,
The fair value of investment propertics is disclosed in Note 314,

-2f-

SEGMENT INFORMATION
4.0 Business Segments

Operating: segments are reported in 4 manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the Group's chief operating decision-maker who is responsible for allocabing
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,

The Group's operating lusinesses are organized and managed separately according o the
nature of produces and services provided, with each segment representing a serategic business
unit thar offers different products and serves different markers. The Group is engaged in the
development and marketing of mid-cost housing projects in the form of condominium
communities, subdivision lots and house and lor packages, and commeromal units to a limited
extent. [telassifies and monitors its projects into high-nse and horizontal, Figh-nse projects
refer to condominiums and other medmm scale properties while the horzontal projects refer
to house and lot packages, and subdivision lors. Both are intended for middle income marker.

The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under PERS 8,
Chpwerdingg Negmmonts, are the same as those used in its consolidared financial statements, except
thar post-emplovment benefir expense is aor included i asriving ar the operating profit
of the operatng segments.

There have been no changes from pror periods in the measurement methods used
tor détermine reporred segment profit or loss.

4.2 Scgment Assets and Liabilities

Scgment assets include all operating asscts wsed by a scgment and consist principally
of operating recetvables, Contract Assets and Real Estawe loventones.  Escluded from
sepment assets are Cash and Cash Equivalents, Advances 1o Related Parties, Prepayments,
Advances o Landowners and Joint Ventures, Investments in an Associate, Property and
Equipment, Intangible Assers, Tnvesmment Properties and other assers which are considened
corporate assers and are not allocated o any segment’s assets,

Segment liahilities include all operating liabilities incurred by management in each pamicular
segment and consist principally of Contract Liahilities and Customers” Deposits. Excluded
from segment liabilives are Interest-bearing Loans and Borrowings, Trade and Other
Pavables, Advances from Related Partics, Defersed Tax Liabilitics and Retirerment Benefit
Obligation as the Group’s management determined that these aceounts are not dircetly
related o the Group's sepment.

4.3 Intersegmemt Transactions

There are oo inwesegment mansactions, In case of iner-segment sales and cmnsters, the
Group generally aceounts for them as if the sales or mansfers were made o third parnies
ar current marker prices.  Inrersegment sales and transfers, if any, are elimimaed in rthe
preparanon of the consolidated financial stmements,

4.4 Analysis of Segment Information

The tables presented in the succeeding pages present the revenue and profic infermaten for
the yeurs ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 and certain asset and lability information
regrarding segments as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,
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There was no segment interest expense allocated in 2023 and 2022,

4.5 Reconciliations

Presented below and in the succeeding page 8 a reconcilianon of the Group's segment
informartion 1o the L'r.-_r Anancial information presented in its consolidated Anancial sttements.

LAt i FHIY

Hevenues

Toral scement revenmes

Unillocated revenues:
Finsnce mcome
Renml icome from

IFVESHTICRE Projpcrt

Uil ssbon mcome
Chilsor inconme

Revenues as reported
in the cansalidated smtermenis
of comprehensive income

Profit or loss
Seprmient operating freesfiy
Ohher unallocaad income
Cirher unallopared expenses

Met profit as reported
i the consulidated staremens
of eomprehersive income

Assets
Sepment ahscts

Unallocared sssers;
Cash utl ensh eguavalenes

Trade and other reeeivabiles - net

Addvances to related partes
Prepayments ans

other current asiers
Financial msser o PVOCT
Advanees v landoners

ancd joing ventunes
IH'I."I.“'-'I“'I{'HF 0 AT A5 MIADE
Property and equipment - net
Investment property - net
Intangible ussets - net
Ohihetr pon-current asets

Total assets s neported n the
comaliduted statements
of financial posidon

2024 223 222
4,182, 181,070 4447 308,133 4,127 526,793
556,103,031 430.172,805 T 117,963
121,606,913 0, 7,526 T AW T
35,514,891 3‘.‘-‘~I.’-.'I.I5_3I 20635, 161
55,327,833 186,739,212 129.956032
TiB, 612,668 755,823,314 76140 052
4,950,793,738 5208, 131,447 4707 f16h 845
1,412,991,196 1LA05,632,125 100 267 375
ThE,G12,668 755,823,314 574,140,052
(1,501,322, 790) (1,403 514 867 (1,268,051, 204
680,281,074 F57 04572 713.376,123
32,247.118,652 F1ESHAZT 004
2,863,878,581 3,747 469,500
4,713,256,801 5,316, 865,852
5,565,760,162 5467 534,052
1,365,047, 387 1,258, 344,204
1,013,400,000 1,270, 128,000
237,504,599 242,894,340
260,274,248 279,875,774
146,540,719 184,858,557
559,063,862 SETOE2411
28,050,013 M.2062,307
5,191,893 BN LT
17, 078,067,265 1B 3400507 2%
49,425 185,917 40440 134 205
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[Awennants g PHIY 024 2023
Liabilities
Scement labilities 5,006,101, 640 5259472761
Unallocaned labilinies:
Interest- bearing loans
and horredngs 650,000,140 B0 HE
Trade nnd other pavables 2,312,630,683 2558.733,723
Custoimers” deponis 416,417 484 A2 104 702
Advanees from relued porties 6, 304 850,556 061,736,667
Other current laibilines B12,400,817 THL037H
Retrement benofit obligation 238,098, %4 153,998,502
Deferred rax linbilities - net 2,062,513,578 2.0171,285.858
13,087 213,082 12876465376
Total linhilities as reported in the
consolidated stniements of
finnncial position 18,0493 314,722 18,135 536037

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components as of December 31

Amonnis in PFHP) 2024 2023

Cash on hand and in banks 1,510,537,269 2198642 524

Shorr-rerm placements 1,353,341,312 1318826970
2.863,878,581 3,717 469 500

Cash in banks gencrally earns interest based on the daily bank deposit rates.

Peso-denominated short-term placements are made for varying periods of up to 72 days
in 2024, 76 days in 2023 and 2022 and earn annual effective interest ranging from 4.50% wo
6,25% in 2024, 3.13% to 6.25% in 2023, and 0.38% to 5.75% in 2022, Dollar-denominated
short-term placements are made for varving perods of up to W days in 2024, 2023 and 2022
and earn annual effective interest runging from 1500 to 5.25% in 2024, 1.50M% to 5.00%
in 2023 and 005% eo 4.00% in 2022 (see Note 22,13,

6.
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

This aceount 1s cnmpu::sed of the following:

LAmonnts in PHP) Mot 2024 2023
Current:
Trade receivables 252 5,305,013,429 5,222 381,770
Advances to suppliers
and contractors 2,591,659,737 2934983423
Advances i condominium
ASKOCEIN DN 403,803,520 FT75,842 604
Rene receivable 252 395,271,465 386,081 089
Interest receivable 94,773,830 96,333, 77H
Management fee receivable 252 44,119 4119
Others 463,998,845 082,245 B
4,254,504,945 SONT BI2.04T
Mlowance for impairment (133,706) {186,202)
49,254,431,239 YT 626,445
Mon-current:
Trade receivaliles 3,377,226,648 327706700
Refundable secunoy deposits 139,469,075 134,502,332
3,516,095,723 3411509342
12,771,126,962 13,104,195, TET

The Group's tade and other recervables (excluding advances o suppliers and contmctors
and pdvances o condominium essodanons) are subjected o onedie oske These roecivables
are evaluated by the Group for impairmient and assessed that no FCL should be provided for
the perinds presented.

Trde recavables of the Group arc cicher interest-bearng o nomnweecst-bearing.  The
instllment period of interest-beanng sales contracts mnges from 2 1o 15 vears while interest
ranges from 8% to 22%, The relared interest earned on these sales contracts amounting to
P25 8 million, P27.0 million, and 26,5 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are reported
as part of Finance Income account in the consolidaced smmements of comprehensive income
(see Note 22,1},

The installment period of noninrerest-hearing sales contraces ranges from wo o five years with
impured interest of 9.01% in 2024, 7.33% in 2023 and 5.75% in 2022, Noninterest-bearing trade
receivables are measured ar amortzed cost using the effective mrerest method based on the
imerest rate of similar financial  mstruments in the marker.  Day-one loss  amounting
o P193.5 million, P1729 million and P1213 million i 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively,
are presented as a deducnon against the Real Estare Sales account in the consolidated smrements
of comprehepsive income.  Amortzagon of day one loss amouonng o PL72.9 milbon,
P121.3 million and P117.8 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are presented
as Amortization of day-one loss on noninterest-bearing financial instruments under Finance
Income account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (see Note 22,10,
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Advances 1o suppliers and conteactors represent down payvments made by the Group w the
suppliers and contractors: based on a cemain percentage of the contmct price, construction
muaterials purchased by the Group that is used by the contrictors, and arility consumption that
are chargeable 1o contractors. The inital payvment will eventually be recouped or deducted from
the amount pavable of the Group either on a pro-rared basis or in full once billed by the suppliers
and contractors.

Advances 1o condominium associtons represent the Group's payment for the mmial operatons
of the sur-up associaoon of @ completed project. The purpose of these advances s mainly
tor the charges of utlines, real property taxes, beenses, and mamgement foc,

Refundable security deposits include various deposits to third parties for elecinical, merner
subscopuon, exhibits and other udlides, and equipment necded 1 the development of the
projects.  All deposits, excepr fur deposits o an clectne Group, do not carn interest. . Such
depasits are only refundable upon completion of the projects or upon recum of the equipment
used. However, the exact date or period of completion of projects or retum of equipment
is indeterminable, Accordingly, refundable deposits age accounted for at cost.

Eher receivables include advances to joinr ventures for processing of business permits and
licenses, and unliquidaied advances o emplovess and real estate comsulanis,

All trade receivables are subjeet to credir risk exposure, However, the Group does not identfy
specific concentrations of credit Ask with regard 1o rrade recevables from real estire sales s the
amounts recognized eonsist of a large number of recelvaliles from variows customers, The Group
considers the muarket value of propertes sold held a5 collateral in assessing the expected
erudit luss on trade reccivables and contract assets from real estare sales Jsee Nowe 29,20b)).

In 2024, the Group wrote off certain receivables that are fully provided with allowanee amounting
10 P52,596 as the management assessed that those recervables are no longer collecuble.

A reconchiation of the allowance for impairment at the begnning and end of the vear is
shwn below.

(Amasnts in PHP) w24 203
Balance at bepinning of year 186,202 186,202
Write off (52,436) -

Balance at ¢nd of vear 133,706 186,202

REAL ESTATE INVENTORIES

The Group's real estate inventories at the end of 2024 and 2023 were stated ar cost
The composition of this account as at December 31 is shown below (see Note 20,

{-Ameeenrey i PFIP) 2024 2023
Residential and condominium units
forsale 14,605,650,957 14,307 097 266
Raw land mventury 4,424,215,132 4,424, 215,132
Property development costs 1,892,382 884 1,843,788, 103
20,922.248.973 200625,100,501

The summury of the movements in real estate inventories is presented below:

{Aswarints e PHID) Notes 2024 2023
Balance at begnning of vear 20,625,100,501 21,105 557 021
Effect oof adopton of PFRS 15 2.1} (256,370,374) -
20,368,730,127 21,105,557,021
Development costs incurned 2,607,234,624 1,953, 911,813
Capitalized borrowing cost - 63,020,051
Amount charped o cost of sales 20 (2,053,715,778) (2,497 388 384)

20,922,248,973 20,625,100,501]

Prior to the adopdon of the IFRS Apenda Decision on PAS 23, borrowing costs capinalized
in 2023 as part of inventones amounted o P30 million {nil in 2024), which represent the
interest costs incurred on the general bormwings. obrained by the Group w fund irs
construction projects [see Notes 21 0), and 147,

7 Residential and Condominfum Enits for Safe
This aceount represents the accumulated costs incurred, net of recopnized Cost of Real Fatate
Sales in the consulidated statements of comprehensive income (see Mote 200, on house and loes

and condomimum units available forsale, The subdivision houses include houses thar are ready
fisr fecupancy, howse models and units under construetion,

No properey is used as a secunty for the Groop's interest-bearing loans and borrowings for the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,

7.2 Property Developmenr Cosrs

This aceount pertains o accumulated costs incurred on projects which are not yet offered
for sale as of the end of the reporting periods,

7.3 Ner Realizable Value

Based on management assessment the net carrying amounts of these assets are lower than their
net realizable values considering the present marker rates; henee, no provisions for write-down
of Real Estate Inventories have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.




Empire Ea=t Three Decadss of Breakthroughs

2024 Annuatl and Sustainsbility Report

8.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVOCI

The movements in the carrving amounts of financial assers at FVOCT as of December 31

are as follows:

{Amesnts in PHP) 2024 2023
Balance ar beginning of vear 1,270,128,000 1,339,940,000
Fair value losses (256,728,000) (69.812,000)
Balance at end of year 1,013,400,000 1,270, 1 28,000
Cost B32,950,000 832,950 10
Accumulated fair value gains:
Balance ar beginning of year 437,178,000 S0, 0 (K
Fair value losses for the vear (256,728,000 (649,51 200000
180,450,000 437,178,000
Balance at end of vear 1,003,400,000 1,270,1 28,000

Financial assers ar TVOCT pertain to investments held by EPHI in equity securities of the
LUldmare Parent Company, whose shares are hsted in the PSE. The fair value of these securities
has been determined divectly by reference to published prices in an active market. The fair
vilue of these investments as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, is categorized as Level 1 in the
fair value hicrarchy (see Note 31.2).

The net accumulated fair value gains or losses in financial assets ar FVOCI are shown as part
of Revaluntion Reserves account in the equity section of the consolidated statements
of financial position (see Nore 26.4).

Dividend income earned amounted o P11.3 million, PL6.9 million, and P13.5 million in 2024,
2023 and 2022, respectively, and is presented as Dividend income under Finance Income in the
consalidated statements of comprehensive income (see Note 22.1),

ADVANCES TO LANDOWNERS AND JOINT VENTURES

The cash advances made by the Group relate 1o a number of joint venture agreements entered
into with landowners covering the development of cortmn parcels of land. The joint venture
agreements stipulate that the Group's joint venture parmers shall contribute parcels of land and
the Group shall be responsible for the planning, conceprualization, desym, demolition
of existing improvements, construction, Ananciag and marketing of condominium umnits to be
constructed on the propertes. Costs incurred by the Group for these projects are recognized
as part of Real Estate Inventories sccount in the consolidared statements of financial positon
(see Note 7).

_29.

In additon wo providing specified portion of the total project development costs, the Group
also commits o advance muteally agreed-upon amounts o the landowners which will then be
used for purposes such as rc:r:rmsnhd:uinn,."!.epnrnlinn:’suhdwuinn of mother titles and
relocation of existing occupants. Repayments of these advances may be made upon completion
of the project development either in the form of residental condominium, commercial unies or
developed lots corresponding 1o the lindowners” share in the projeces or in the form of cash
to be derived from the sales of the landowners” share in the saleable lots and residendal
conclominium unirs,

The reconcliaton of this aceount as of Decertber 31 are as follows:

LA monnty in PHP) 2024 2023
Advanees o landowners:
Balance ar beginning of vear 137,457,632 136,561,076
Addinonal advances (payments) (5,393,047) 846,556
Balance ar end of yeéar 132,064,585 137,457,632
Advances 10 joint ventures:
Balance at beginning of vear 105,436,714 105,004,514
Addinonal advances 3,300 341,500
Balance at end of vear 105,440,014 105,436,714
237,504,599 242 804 544,

The Growp commits w developing the propertics based on the terms agreed with the jeinr
venture partners, The Group has no existing commitment for cash advances under the joine
venlure agreements as this commitment has been fully compliad with by the Group as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023,

The net commitment for construcnion espenditures amounts to

(Amonnts in PHIP) 2024 2023
Total commimment For
construction expenditunes 11,205,054,936 11,205,054 936
Total expenciturcs incurred (9,436,413,353) {9,187 561 472
Net commutment 1,768,641,583 2,017 493,404

The Group’s inrerest in jointy controlled operarons and projects ranges from 353% m 82%
in 2024 and 2023, The Groups jointy conrmolled projects are as follows:

¢ Pioncer Woodlands
¢  San Lorenzo Place
¢ Various Metro Manila and CALABARZON projects
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The Group accounts for its B2% interest in Pioncer Woodlands as jointly eonmralled operations
since the property where the project s situated is fully owned by the co-joint operator and the
Group wns engaged in the agreement for the purposes of providing financing, planning,
designing, marketing, construction, monitoring, and supervision of all faces of the work on the
project.  Administrative and operational functions of the project are provided by the Group
and bills the co-joint operator for relared fees. Decisions related to the operations of the project
are defined under an agreement beoween the Group and the co-joint operator.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2025, the Group has no other marenal contingent lighilities with

regarnd 1o these joint ventures.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE AND TRANSACTIONS WITH
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The components of investment in an associate as of December 31 are as follows:

-3l

The reconcilianon of the summarized informaton o the carrving amount of the interest
in GPMAT is as follows:

{Ameants in PHP) 2024 2023

Net assets at end of year 580,381,295 576,502,678
Share of GPMAL in net asser

of MCPL {56,215,498) (53,178,075)
524,165,797 523,324,603
Equity cownership interest 47.37% $7 37V
248,297,338 247 BUR.B64
Mominal poodwill 31,976,910 JAUT6 010
Balance at end of vear 280,274,248 279875, 774

LA meents i PHEP) 2024 2023
Investments n associnte

aL Uity 293,960,618 293,960,618
Avvumulated eguity in

net Ingscs (14,084,844) (14.210,046)
Fouiry shares n ner menme

foor the veur 398,474 125,202
Balanee ar eod of year (13,686,370) (14,084 844

280,274,248 27T9.875.774

0.1 Summarized Financial Information

Ad of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there are no available fair values for this investment in
an associate as this s not listed in stock marckets,

Based on the assessment of the munagement, the investment in an associate 18 not impaired
due to the actve efforts of the Group to raise funds to push through with the assocate's
projects.

10.2 Subsidiaries with Material Non-controlling Interest

The subsidiares with material non-controlling intercse (NCI are shown below,

ion of Ohamenhip Iierest Sabsidiany's Consolidated Loss

[Tty s FEHI amad Voring Rights Held by NC1 Adloested b M1 Accumnbiivd Equiry of NCI1
Dwcembser 31, hegermnber 31,
MName Az Pt A ek 4 30N
[RLETSS L1758 e |I,,J!I'.H&'l-'} A2 20N 5,169, Tds T, AT T
SPLd A . L1 L] (7h,S46) (PT87H S 145, 842 TN RS2
PO L LR (3,443 328y (525, 553) 060,018, Yk LG5 563,714

‘The appregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and net profit (loss) of GPMAIL as The summarized financial informagon of LBASSL, SPLL and PCMI before intmagroup

of December 31 are as follows:

ol raerety 1 P Cuarreéni M i-cuEreni Curreni THaMCUrTeEn. Mt Profia
Asscis Asscis Lisbilielen Liabilitics Bevensen i Lisaa)
nx SR 98 N, 6%, R85 12,518,088 - LLSIRERR MBTRATT
ol T T 750 4T 1341558 U TRE TN T2I6T
M2 L e 233187
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UPTRE T [LITLEET 1Y b R =t Lhe ] FLLE ] =K1} AN
1,5
ey .-'.-.-. [ mi T Na=)
Sy nmrh mbem o) - [ELES S LT ] T L] LT 10 o

In 2024, 2023 and 2023, LBASSI, SPLI and PCMT have not declared nor paid any dividends.
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10.3  Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group has no contingent Hahilivies for subskliaries
with significant non-contralling interest and associate which were incurred jointly with other
investors and the Group is not severally lable for all or part of the connngent liabilines of the
subsidiarics and associate,

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The gross carrving amounts and accumulated depreciation and amortbzation of items
of property and equipment at the beginning and end of 2024 and 2023 are shown below.

Thnd ity L
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LTTER 1 HTTeL Y
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A reconciliznon of the corrying amounts at the beginnng and end of 2024, 2023 and 2022 15
shown as follows:

Buildlag LI
i [Hiben

[Tt Trerspmision Faremn s Wi

| T (VY Pt L ] EE_“ g Frpageimin L Tl
[[H ey p—— 111

[T

ddejmrrinien

T,

aral Lamysimia LIFLAN T 1T ks L LAY ) Lithum AT . LK TR o e A E
L] LLULEL] Lws N LY @ il
Chepraal M 2
[ -

E TR |

fat = - ZARINE (RIHL N (AL e P ks AT (1T

M-I-II::?:'T;-UI .ﬂ .E"Hf ﬂn lulai :ﬂ"dﬂ ﬂl Iﬂﬁﬁl

edstnn i} |usmatiy 1. BEID
P

rapinion
e,
aral s LIECENTTT LLRTAT S g TTH [REVEIE] EETERT L, b
[RETS, i LITAE= WTETIMR L i LR TS

Wk il [ELEA T Tan

ST A
Tat i i L el ET) [T 1 s L) (NI (e Ll 7 il

Rudi pwrry ————;
o Mg it 1,286 AT ThE L AL LR AT o TR0 g

Malaisiz. ai lasmiif 105
P e gy

Haprtnee

At

. L et LRCENTT T e 11, LT A Al P an R
[RRTA RIH 108, 188 i
[ Fprnaat (LB [LLEH ] 138 242 [

=

EETRA I

Vol i it Zei W e (Rt [AE1T AL (L
i ] m—

o Tietemlm A7, Sary yLAEI i L P L | TRy EAPEE ELa 17

12.

s37a

The amount of depreciation and amortization of property and equipment is presented as part
of Depreciaton and Amortization account under Costs and Expenses section of the
comsolidared statements of comprehensive income,

Tn 2024 and 2023, the Group derecognized certmin fully depreciared transportation equipment
with a cost of P32 million and P21 million, respeervely, and eertain furniture and fistures with
w earrving value of PO.2 million in 2023 There was no similar rransaction in 2022,

In 2021, certain leaschold improvements amounting to P78.5 million were derecognized due
to termunation of related lease, In 2023, such cost of leaschold improvements were considered
as part of lease credits in the Group’s new lease agreement with Megaworkl (see Note 17),
There were no similar transactons m 2024 and 2022,

The Group sold vanous fixed assers with total carrving value of P03 million in 2024 and
P16 million in 2022, The Group received proceeds u.mnumin_gtn P4 mailhion and P46 mallion
from the sale of property and equipment and recognired gain amounting o P01 million and
P3.0 million in 2024 and 2022, respectively, and is presented as part of Miscellaneous under
Chher Income in the Revenue and Income secton of the consolidated  starements
of comprehensive income (see Note 21,1). There were no similar transactions in 2023,

Property and equipment are subject 1o impairment testing whenever there i an indication that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. No impairment loss was recognized in 2024,
2023 and 2022 as the recoverable amount of these assers determined by management is higher

than iis carrving value,

The cost of Rlly depreciated assets sall vsed in business amounted w0 P254.6 million
and PZE10 million us of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively,

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

This acenunt is composed of the following:

(Aweounes in PHP) 2024 2023

Software licenses 27,070,890 33283184

Goodwll 979,123 979123
28,050,013 34,262 307

In 2023, the Group has recognized an impairment logs on goodwill relared o LBASS]
amounting to P77.3 million (see Note 3.2}, The rematning poodwill arose from the scquisition
of VVPL

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries mentioned above were recognized based
on management’s expected future economic benefic and synergies thar will result from
combining the operation of the acquired subsidiaries.
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The gross earrying amounts and allowanee for impairment of goodwill at the beginning
and end of 2024 and 2023 are shown below.

{l sty i PHP)

Cost 18,326,757
Allowanee for impairment (7 7.347.634)
Met carrving amount 979,123

The pross carrving amounts and accumulazed amorozaton of software licenses at the beginning
and cod of 2024 and 2025 are shown below,

{Amannts in PHP) 2024 2023

Cost 62,122,935 62,122,935
Accomulated amortization (35,052,045) (28.839,751)
Mer carmying amount 27,070,890 33,283,184

A reconcilinnon of the carrping amounts of intangible assets for the bepinning and ead of 2024,
2023 and 2022 15 shown below,

fA s i PHP) 2024 2023 A22
Balance ar begmnning of year 34,262,307 | 17,822,235 1 16,628,807
Amaortizaton expense for the year (6,212,294) (6,212,2494) (6,212,294)
Impairment loss on goodwill - (77,347,634) =
Additions - - 7405722
Balance ar end of year 28,050,013 34,262,307 117.822.23%5

The impairment loss on goodwill is presented as part of Other Expenses account, while the
amount of amortization charges is presented as part of Depreciation and Amorization
account under Coses and Expenses section of the consolidared starements of comprehensive
income (see Note 21.2).

Intangible assers are subject 1o mpairment testing whenever there is an indication that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. No impairment loss was recogpmzed i 2024 and
2022 us the recoverable amount of intangible asscts determined by management is higher than
its earrving value.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment propertics pertain to building and office and commeretal unirs held
for lease and a parcel of land held for capital appreciaton, Rental income arising from the
Group's openting leases tecognized for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022
amounted to PI2LT million, PO2E million, and P72.4 million, respectively, and are presented
as patt of Rental Income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. There is
no rental income arising from finance lease in 2024, 2023 and 2022, Real estate taxes and
deprecation substantally represent direct costs incurred related o these properties. Since all
recorded investment properties eamed rental income during the vear, there were no direct
operating expenses pertaining to investment properties not generating rental income.
Real estate tax amounting to P23 million in 2024, P15 million in 2023 and 2022 and repairs
and maintenance amounting to P1LE million, P2.6 million, and P1LE million, in 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectvely, were recognized as related expense in those vears, and were presented
as part of Taxes and Licenses, and Repairs and maintenance under Orher Expenses account
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (see Nore 21.2).

The rental income from the operating leases of the Group is composed of the following:

ol moaerts fa PHP) 2024 2023 2022

Fined 82,709,280 81,021,234 61, 145827

Variable 38,957,633 11,768,202 12,284,970
ﬂ!,ﬁﬁﬁ,ﬂtﬂ 92 THD 526 TE A3 BOT

The gross carrving amounts and accumulated depreciation of investment properties at the
begmning and end of 2024 and 2023 are shown below,

Hulad for Lease
(- Ammarnedr o 1P Chiler
Liiiwd Haild Profperthies Tistal

Dccember 31, X124

Coxt 1 MO0 47274140 925 46,396 TS

Neeurmilabed L]l:rrtmulluwl . L-IHIP:I-'?E'TIEUI |'3'?3|E|E+54._'|"l l-l-l-l-"-"i]rfl"-l-".

Nei canrying value 1, 40 (i i, 302 011 551,641,551 530,043,862
December 31, 2123

Lot [EC LT 4T ATA 140 U254 3, TTATTA 30

Accumulased du:rrmu'a:.un {38,764, 795 (3T I 33T (386602135

Met carrybog value P L] B0 T 57T 55000 SATIRZ 411
Jarmary 1. 2022

Lt LR 47274140 25 ) 3 UTATTA 530

Acrumulated depreciation - 36,637 457) [322,1156, 1 1) [ASRATSTH)

Mt carmving value 1 JHiL iR 111636, 683 LT fr| 5, 1001, S
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A reconciliation of the carrving amount of investment properties at the beginning and end
of 2024, 2023, and 2022 is shown below.

Held for Lease
Orber

{Amwrueretr fu PP Ll Building Propertics Tural
Balamee wr Janiazy 1, 2004, aor of

aecumulnted depreciating 1 (e} BE0E T 5TTEN3 SHTOR2 411
Dreprecistion charges for the year - (2,127 356 25.891.213) EE01R54T
Balamew s Dedember 311, 2004,

net of aocuimibired depreonbon 1,401,030} 6,382,001 551,641,851 59,003,862
Balmocy at Jamiary 1, 20235, not of

accumuinted d.r:]nn:l:nl.m ].l“-'.l',llil.l 11,636,085 ul.&.ﬂ»\t;_?:".-‘ 615, 1000
Dicpeccition chavges fir the year (2,137 336) 25215 [ZR01E,547
Baleoce ot Decenvber 31, 20235,

ner of accwmmbated deprromsnon 1 i b H.504 347 577 555 (Ml SEYE2 411
Balunce at fanisry 1, 2022, net of

scoumubmred depreciarion | AATD 08 b 12,764,001 629,51 5,4 043,119,500
|3r]1mu:!{nn clurgu- for the year |:2.127 1.’:1-_] {EIH'H'TJ 5:| (2B DTE 54T
Balsnee st December 11, 22,

mrr nf ncrwminted dq-m.mrrm: (LS TLEL L linhAdGnH3 Ol A2 7T fil ﬁ,]llll\l(‘dl

The amount of depreciation an investment properties is pn,-semed as part of Depreciation and
Amertization account under Coses and Expenses section in the consolidared statements
of comprehensive income,

Investment propertes are subject 1o impairment testing whenever there is an indication thm
the carryving amount may not be recoverable, No imparment loss was recognized in 2024,
2023 and 2022 as the recoverable amount of these assets determined by management 15 hagher
than its carrying value,

Other informartion relanng to fair value measurements and disclosures of investment properties
are disclosed in Note 314,

INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

The details of interest-bearing loans and borrowings from local bank is discussed below,

f-Amawes iy PHP)

2024 i Es ] Imteresr Hare Interest Rate Mz
650, 0, 06 s LERHITTLE Y Flostng rate Linsecured Lpto
HE subect o o

quartcrdy ropronge

In 2021, the Group oliained an interest-bearing, unsecured seven-year PLD billion loan
from a local bank. The loan was released in full in February 2021 and bears a Aoating interest
rite per annum. The proceeds were used 1o fund the development of the Group’s various
real estate projects and its working capitil requirements. The principal of the loan is payable
in 20 equal quarteely pavments starting on May 5, 2023, with two-vear grace period and interest
Is payable quarterly in arrears,

e

The bank loan requires the Group to maintain a debt-to-cquity rado of not more than 131,
a debr service coverage ratio of not less than 1.25:1, and a current ratio of not less than 2:1.
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group is in compliance with such financial covenant
ubligations,

The total interest on these interest-bearing loans and borrowings in 2024, 2023, and 2022
amounted o P65.7 million, PRO.4 million, and P32.5 million, respectvely (see Note 22.2), The
related interest amountng o PA30 million in 2023 & capitlized as pant of Real Esote
Inventories account in the 2023 consalidated statement of Ananeial positon. Unpaid interest
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 amounted to P86 million, and P11.9 million, respectively,
and 18 presensed as laterest payable under the Trade and Other Pavables account in the
consolidated statements of financial position {(see Note 13).

Capialization rate used in derermining the amount of interest charges quabified tor
capitalization is B.(M% mn 2023 (see Note 7). There was no similar transaction in 2022, As a
result of the adoprion of the IFRIC Agenda Decision on PAS 23 in 2024, no borrowing costs
are capitalized on the Group's real estare invenrories.

There were no loan issuance coses incurred as all loans are directly availed from banks,

Interest-beating loans and borrowings are presented in the consolidated  statements of
financial position as follows:

{Amonnts in PHP) 2024 2023

Current 200,000,000 2000, 00O

Mon-current 450,000,000 650,000 00
650,000,000 B0 00O

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

This account consises of:

Amennts i PHP) Mot 2024 2023

Trade payable 2,158,166,886 2,342, 747,639

Accrued expenses 179,767,902 TOL66%9,220

Tases payable 165,880,217 133,177,197

Interest payable 14 8,615,678 11,939,667

Miseellaneous 200,000 200,00
2,512,630,683 2.558.733,723

Accrued expenses include the Group's obligations o its sappliers thar are expected o be sended
within 12 months from the end of the reporting perind.  These liabilities arise mainly from
accrual of constructon expendirures incurred during the vear,

Taxes payable pertains o withholding taxes payable and other smmrory payables such as 888,
Philippine Fealth Insurance Corporation and Home Development Mutual Fund contribwtion.
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CUSTOMERS' DEPOSITS

Presented below are the derals of this aceount

(- Ameemts i PHE) 2024 2023

Advances from customers 3,567,815,251 3,884 867,069

Other deposits 1,175,850,542 1,255,908.906
4,743,665,793 5,140,775,975

Advances from customers represent cash réceived from custorners for real estate property
purchases which have not yet complied with the sales recognition criteria of the Group. The
advances are deducted from the contract price once the relared real estate sales are recognized
by the Growp,

Other deposits mainly perain to cash received from customers for miscellaneous fees and other
relared expenses to process the transfer of dile w customers.

LEASES

In 2023, the Group entered into a lease apreement for its office spaces with remaining lense
terma of three vears. No lease liabilities were recopmized due 1o lease eredits pranted 1o the
CGiroup amountng (0 P106.1 milion, which 1= pre-semed a5 part of (ther Income in the 2023
consolidated starement of comprehensive income {see Note 21.1).  These lease credits
represent the cost of leaschold improvements and expenses incurred by the Group in irs
previously pre-terminated lease agreement with Megaworld, which was later reimbursed by way
of application w the Group’s futare lease payments 1o Megaworld (see Note 1),

In 2024 and 2023, portions of the lease credits amounting o P51.4 million and P42.7 million,
respectively, were applicd as pavment for the lease agreement with Megaworld, The remaining
lease credits amounting o P12.0 million and P63.4 million in 2024 and 2023, respectively, were
presentecl as part of Prepayments and Oyther Corrent Assers in the consolidared statermenes of
financinl position,

The lease does not have varable lease payments which depend on an index or a rate. The lease
15 non-cancellable and does not contain an option to purchase the underlying lease asset
outdght at the end of the lease, or m extend the lease for a further term without mwtual
agreement an both parties, The Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the underving
leased assets as securdty, The Group must also keep the property in 4 good state of repair and
return the property in its orlginal condition ar the end of the lease. Further, the Group must
incur maintenance fees on such items in accordance with the leise contracts,

The Group has elected not to recognize lease liability for short-term leases. Payments made
under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis,

The December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 expenses relanng short-term leases amounted
to P19.8 mllion, P13.0 million, and P13.5 million, respectively, are presented as Rentals
uncler Uther Expenses aeccount in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
{see MNotes 21,7,

18,

1.

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
As of December 31, other currente habihoes include the following:

{Amennis i PHP) MNotes 2024 2023
Retentnon payable 749,941,703 694,122,718
Refund lability 21.2 396,218,713 287 636,53
Refundable deposits 28.1 50,913,269 48,934,172
Miscellaneous 11,546,546 11,546,845
1,208,620,531 1,042,240 285

Retentinn payable pertains to amounts withheld from payments made to contrctors (o ensure
complinnce and completion of contracted projects, which ranges from 3% o 1076 of every hilling
made by the contractor. Upon completon of the contracted projects, submission of required
honds and final acceprance of works, the amounts are returned to contractors.

Refund liability pertains to the amount due to buvers of real estare properties which 1s the cash
surrenider value of the payments made by them on the cancelled real estate contraets as required
by Republic Act (R.AL) 6552, Realty Installment Bayer Aet. The amount of provision for the years
ended 2024, 2023, and 2022 amounted to P17 mallion, P57.8 millen, and P44.2 million,
respectively, and is presented as Provision for refund Lability under Other Expenses account
in the consolidated starement of comprehensive income (see Noe 21.2),

REAL ESTATE SALES

19.1 Disaggregation of Revenues

The Group derives revenues from sale of real properties and other income.  An unalysis of
the Group’s real estate sales is presented below,

(A mesunes an PHP) 2024 2023 2022
Geographical areas
Within Metio Marila 3,004,498,017 3,430 460,43 3130, 268,670
Charsde Metmo Maniia 238,144,981 SARITH, 2260 G35, 606,970
3,242,642,998 3,717 538,209 AT D65 40
Types of product or services
Reaidensal eondomiinhm 3. 136,454,1T1 A5V RA2 AT 3, 560 S84 6500
Resiclential lots ancd howse and log 106,188 827 345,655,432 253,380,990
3,242,642.998 3,197 538,269 3,79 .065 40
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19.2 Contract Accounts

a  Contrget Aerets

The Group's contract assets as of December 31 are classified as follows:

{Amewnts in PHP) 2024 2023

Current 2,498,252,566 2,534,011,730

Non-current 768,746,952 207,184,338
3,266,999,518 2,741,196, 068

The sigaificant changes in the contract assets balances as of December 31 are as follows;

(A weeerty it FHP) Nioies 2024 2023
Balance at beginning of veur 2,741,196, 068 2583113379
Effect of adoption of PFRS 15 21 (202,715,531) -
2,538, 480,537 283,113,379
Increase as a result of changes in
messurement of progress 572,668,405 1,131,957 897
Accretion of interest income from
significant foancing component 221 155,850,576
Transfers from conrucr asses
recognized at the beginning of
year to trade recetvables - {73,575, 208)
Balance at enud of year 3,266,999,518 2.740,196,068
&, Contrizet §Saliditics
The Group's contract habilities as of December 31 are classified as follows:
{Ameopents i PHIP) 2024 2023
Curremt 170,000,828 96,357 478
MOn-current 112,633,789 L0 409 459
282,634,617 256,760,937

widfa

The sipnificant changes in the contract lighilities balances as of December 31 are
as follows:

{Raemnsits i PHP) Nofes 2024 223

Balance at beginning of vear 256,766,937 308,855,445

Effeet of adopeion of PERS 13 21(b) 17,348,096 .
274,115,033 JOR B35, 445

Inerense {deerease) due o cash

recetved in exeess of

perfirmance o date 23,177,108 (27,218,382
Revienue recopnized that was

inciuded 1 conerece hnbilines ae

the begmmng of year (22,650, 1207 24.870,126)
Aceretion of hterest expense from

significant financing component 222 7,942,596
Balanee ar end of vear 282,634,617 256,706,937

193 Direcr Conerace Coses

The Group incurs sales commissions upon execution of conmacts to sell real properties
customers, Incremental costs of commission incurred to obtain contracts are capitalized and
are presented as part of Prepayments and Other Current Assets in the consolidated statements
of financial posinon, These are amortized over the expected construcnon peniod on the same
basis as how the Group measures progress towards complete sansfaction of its performance
abligation in its revenue contmcts. The total amount of amortization for 2024, 2023, and 2022
is presented as part of Commissions account under Cost and Expenses section of the
eonsolidated statements of comprehensive income,

The movements in balances of deferred commission i 2024 and 2023 are presented below,

{Amenints i PHP) 2024 2023

Balance at beginning of year 353,313,187 286,738,125
Additional capitalized cost 156,217,463 1200, 344 1145
Amortization for the year (40,325,268) {53,768,983)
Balance at end of voir 469,205,382 353,313,187

18,4 Transaction Price Alfocared to Unsadstied Performance Obligations

The agprepate amount of trunsacton price allocated w paroally or wholly unsaustied contracts
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 is Po.] billion and P47 billion, respectively, As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group expects 1o recognize revenue from unsatisfied
contracts as presented below,

{Amvarents in PHP) 2024 2023

Within a vear 2,913,019,941 2.061,764,238
More than one year to three vears 3,008,620,097 283,346,476
More than three vears to five years 228,062,716 546,532 407
Balance at end of vear 6,149,702,754 4,691,643,121
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20, COST OF REAL ESTATE SALES 202 Other cos

The breakdown of the cost of real estare sales are as follows (see Note Ty
The breakdown of this aceount 15 shown below,

{o-dmemenitr v AP 2024 2025 ey rard
Elmidminty du PRI Mot 2024 Ni23 2122
Contrncted services 1,B04),065,159 2007 443145 1AM 0,736
bl gt 224,542,314 2R6.217 315 23 40 R Provison for refund
Borrowmg cost - T5,7UR 696 411,525 285 Tahiliy 18 111,670,352 57,705 185 HANNIETT
Cheher copsts 29,108,305 AT MR 224 31065163 Bepairs and maintenance 13 35,006,943 10152921 431,019
Professional foes 233 26,769,046 12083101 5,460,740
2,053,715,778 2 497 34K 354 232021015 Rental I7 19,762,740 12,955,227 13,447,284
Security services 18,943,242 1L 402 7.201,534
Uiiliries 16,911,713 15,360, 430 14,103,535
Cm‘rlrmm license
2.  OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES subscription 13,333,761 s413,127 5,305,159
Onutside ==rvloes 12,558,756 1,256,786 403,868
Jumirowial services 12,144,154 5,525 555 10,916,172
211 Other Income Insurance 11,413,934 6,674,259 4,279,546
Office supplies 8,416,762 2,184,651 1,920,155
The derails oof this account are shown Delow. Training, seminars and
other hene firs 5,637,172 6915628 | 58,340
, . Marketing evers and aswands 3,938,543 4RI L 2,124,805
i de 140 N 0 - - oo Deocumentation 2,346,785 1620 262 1,080,504
i 2,212 206,34
Fuowrferied colleciloms and }‘mq-;xm:?l:?m ) s = T
Md:‘m:m” 522 563,375 247937 104 131 906 577 ool 12 ) T T 634 )
i | - ..-u
RTCHE Fe 253 01,611,260 115,119.430 145,106,042 Miscclancous 5,212,510 407,435 439418
Ingorse v bedie coodith e - 161,00 ' 307,622,515 234,472 848 122,241,931
Tuteon wrid miascellaneonos
fees - 13,637 376
Mhsce s H 10,241,697 L9217 5554273 Miscellaneous expenses include bank charges, motor vehicle registration and others.
f2d, 416,332 473,434 500 25 275,168

22, FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS
Forfeired collecrions and deposits include reservation fees and all payments made by delinguent

buyers, net of any loss on cancellations, This also includes portion of payments received by the 22! Finance Income
Group upan approval of buyer's request to mansfer o other units,

The breakdown of this aceount is shown belimw.
Miscelfanenus fees include manning charges, registration fees, medical and dental fecs, aiboratory

fees, energy fees, and other fees charged to students upon enrollment. Ll i Tpies i s 2l
Interest incomes
Advances i related parmes 251 446,129 092 341,017,636 M2 459 256
Siprficant financing
componen 19.20x) 155,850,576 : -

Cash and cash equivalents 5 91,440,493 80,049,550 30,733,042
Trade and other recelvahles i 28,827,986 2707 752 26442 1
Tiniom feca . 223,759

Amcrizarion of day-ane
loss on ponmterest-beartng

finsncial instrumens ] 172,577,182 121259226 117,776,313
Disidend Income 4 11 260,000 4y S (WD 13,512 000
Fureipn curreney gain - net 7273444 215,700 169,007

913,658,775 587,430,873 491,376,516
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The amounts of postemployment benefit recognized in the consolidated statements
of financial position are determined as follow:
22.2 Finance Costs

{Amonnis in PHP) 2024 2023
The breakdown of finance costs is shown below.
. ) i ) ) Present value of the obligiton 602,557,070 377,359,095
- .
(Aswiier i PHT) oty 2024 2023 a2 Fair value of the acvets (364,458,106) (423,561 403)
Interess expense on sdvances e -
from relaterd partes 250 405,541,070 IT0F320602 333,300 233,{}93,954 153,998,592

Hank loans 14 65,748,636 17,360,305 S24TRI2NT
Metinterdst expense on

The movements in the present value of the post-employment DBO recognized in the
post emplovment defined

besoks are a8 follows:

benefic ohligston 232 12,580 4049 3,30 056 3T
Sigrnificant financiig ) .
Componet 19.2(k) 7,992 505 1[_].‘##.'1'.'#1' in PHE) 2024 2023
491,862,711 A LO0EGT 108,806,384 Balance at beginning of year 577,559,995 429,740 305
. Interest expense 37,402,074 32071256
Current servioe cost 32,839,653 24 N8R 024
Remensurements:
23 SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Actuarial losses (gaing) arising from:
; Lxpenence adjustments 18,437,581 (1,680,455
ZR1 Salaries and Emplovee Benefits Expense e : by |
mpaye i Chinges in financial
Espenses recognized for salines and cooplovee benefits are presented below, RESUIIT A z 13,305,192 99,593,708
Changes in demographic
{ Ammante i PT{P) Maarg 2024 i3 E. | £ assumpHons 8,309,751 4,141 883
Benetits pad 85,297,176 (10,394,726
St benefits 435,323,774 07414, 182 365,601,242 paid (85,297,176) J
' 1 23, n2 2R Nk . i -
Post-emplovment henefis 2 32,839,653 Z408R 024 R Balance at end of year 602,557,070 577.559.995
468,163 427 131,102 26 308,502 573
The movements in the fair value oF plan assets are presented below.
21.2 Posr-emplovinent Benefits
{Amounts in PHP) 2024 2023
fa)  Churucteristies of the Diefined Beneftt Plan
Balance at beginning of vear 423,561,403 362019 803
The Group  maintidns o partially funded, s qualified,  non-contabutory, Benefits Fﬂld (85,297,176) (10,394,726)
post-etmployment defined benetit plan that is being administered by a trustee bank that is Interest income 24,821,665 28,671,260
legally separated from the Group. 'The post-employment defined benefit plan covers all Actual eontributon 3,250,000 53,500,000
regular full-ome employees, Lisss oin plan assets (excluding
amounts included in net interest) (1,877,786) (10,254 934
The normal retirement age is 60 with a minimom of five vears of credited service. The
post-crmployment defined bencfit plan provides for retirement ranging from 60% o a7 =
to 200% of final monthly salary for every vear of credited service but shall aot be less Balance at cnd of year 364,458,106 423,561,403
than the ¢ atory benefit under the RAL 7641, The Retiremrent Pay 1w, or the applicable . . ) . i . e
mtﬁumm'ﬁ::; SIHG, S R ftl:'r.tt'm:tlt o PP The Far value of plan assets is composed of the fullowing (in millions);

() Espdumation of the Amonnes Presented in the Consolidited Finnciad Stanemmnts (Amonnts in PHF) 2024 2023
Actoanal valuagons are made regulary o updare the rearement benetic cosrs and the Cash and ta-f*h equivalents . 2314 336.9
amaunt of contributions.  All amounts presented in the succeeding pages are based on Investment 1 peverient issued
the latest actuarial valuation reports obtained from independent actuaries, debt sccuritics 133.1 B6.7

364.5 423.6
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The plan assets camed a retum of P29 millicon, P184 milion and 1.8 million in 2024,
2023 and 2022, respectively,

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group's retirement fund does not include any
investments in any cquity scouritics issued by the Group or any of is related partics.

The components of amounts recognized in the consolidated smiements of comprehensive
income in respect of the post-emplovment defined benefit plan are as follows:

(- Aty e PHIPY Motes 2024 2023 a2z
Bpartead i prroffd wr dea:
Current serviey cost Al 312,839,653 24,04 124 JERLL30)
Net interest expesiie X3 12, 560,409 3,300 0696 5.004.727
45,420,062 2TABROZD 34, Bk, 028
Rupurteal fur ocher comgurdened
fucame:
Actarial pains (kesses)
nrasang feom:
- CEpemcnce
adjusimens (18,437, 581) 1,680,455 (34,571, 389)
chungres i fimancisl
MRS (13,305,192 (514, 5503, T BlS17.254
demspeaphic
ASSUMmprians {8,309,751) (4,141,883 21,939 546
Ioss on plan asscts
{exchading amdunts
included in ner inrerest) {1,877, 786) (10,234,934 {15,660 452
(41,930,310) (112, 2500700 53,225 353

Current scrvice cost s prosented as part of Salaries and Employee Benefits under Costs
and Expenses section in the consolidated smtements of comprehensive income
(see Mote 23.1) while the amounts of net interest expenge are included under Finance Coses
under Costs and Fxpenses section in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income (sce Note 22.2).

The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income were included within irems tha
will not be reclassified subsequently to profic or loss,

In determining the amounts of the defined benefit post-emplovment oblipation, the
following significant actuanial assumptions were used:

2024 2025 2022
EELHIE
DPiscount rates G 11% 6565 T54%
Expoeted e of salary increass i, (W [ L 4,000
EPHE
Diecommt rais f.15% i, 041 TP
Expected tate of salury increases 6.32% 681 6,16%:

The other subsidiaries currently do nor have employees and their accounting and other

administrative functions are being handled by the Company; hence, there was no cost of

renrement benefits recogmzed.

il

d)

{7

Assumptions regarding future mortality expedence are based on published statisties and
mortality mbles, The average remaining working life of an individual redring at rhe ape
of 600t 65 for borh males and females is shown below,

Retirement Average Remaining
Ape Working Life
EELHI 6l 27
LEPHI 6l 17

These assumptions were developed by management with the assistance of an independent
actuary, Discount factors are derermined close to the end of cach reportng period by
reforenes to the interest rates of 4 zero-coupon government bond with terms to matuety
approximating the terms of the retrement obligation.  Other assumptions are based on
current actuarial benchmarks and manapement’s historieal experience.

Korkr Armaaied math the Betrrement Plan

The pE:m exposes the Group 1o actuarial risks such as invesiment and interest rate nisk,
longeviry risk and salary risk,

il Amredtmeent and Iniereddt Rade Risks

‘Ihe present value of the DBO is calculated using 2 discount rate determined
by reference o market viclds of government bonds, Generally, a decrease in the
interest rate of reference government bonds will increase the plan obligation,
However, this will be partially offset by an increase in the retum on the plan's
wvestments in debr securities and if the returm on plan asset falls below this race, it
will create a deficit in the plan, Currently, the plan has relatively balanced investment
in cash and cash equivalents and debt securties. 1ue to the long term narure of the
plan abligation, 2 level of continuing debt investments is an appropriate element
of the Group's long-tenm stratepy to manage the plan efficiently,

fir)  Loggerity anad Nalary Riskr

The present value aof the DBO s caleulated by reference o the best estimare of the
mortality of the plan participants both during and after their employment, and
their futune salaries, Consequently, inereases in the life expectancy and salary of the
plan parteipants will result in an increase in the plan obligation,

Edther Imformaiion

The information on the sensidvity analvsis for certain significant actuarial assumptions,
the Group's asset-liability matching strategy, and the tdming and uncertainty of future
cash flows related ro the retrement plan are described in the succeeding page.
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fil  Sewritivity Arnalyis feii)  Farsieling Arvavpeneents and Exgpected Coriributions
The following rable summartzes the effecrs of changes in the significant actuarial The plans are curremly underfunded by P238.1 million based on the latest acroanal
assumptions used in the determination of the DBO as of December 31: valuation. While there are no minimum funding requirements in the country, the size
of the underfunding may pose a cash Oow ask 1nabour 10 1o 20 years' ume when
Impact on Post-employment Benefit Obligation a significant number of employees is expected to retire.
(it st PHPY Change in Increase in Decrease in
Askusnpic L L] The Group expects to make 4 contribunion of at least P53.3 mullion to the plan during
2024 the next reporting period.
FiEiL M The maturity profile of undiscounted expected benefir payments from the plan for
Disconint tute +7.3%/-8.3% 36,603,911y 41,895,892 the next 20 years follows;
Salary increase rite +8.3%)-7.4% 41,522,960 (36,965, 740)
i {Amawnts in PHP) 2024 2023
Discomnt rate & S0 5% 12, 5991,509) 3272690
Salary increase rare +/1.0% 6,377,735 (5,490,264) Within one year 202,205,422 233,389,173
. More than one year to five years 65,488,416 64 425 /99
-2 More than five years to 10 years 389,468,040 250,680,503
EELHI More than 10 years to 15 years 45,425,892 47,848,610
Discount rane FTA B [33,690,228) 39,049,479 More than 15 years 1o 20 years 89,200,000 108,613,342
Salary increase rate FRON T E TGS (M4.155083) More than 20 years 133,162,434 151,371 858
EPHI =
D¥iscommt rane L L 3,296,529 3,500,268 924,950,204 861,329,185
Sulary incredse rate S I 6,598, 703 {5 /1)

The weighted average duration of the DBO at the end of the reporting period
The above sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding is 7.8 to 13 years.
all other assumptions constant. This analysis may not be representative of the actual

change in the DBO) as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occar in

isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. 24. TAX EXPENSE
Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitvity analysis, the present value of the
DB has been calculated using the projected unit credit method at the end of the The components of tax expense reported in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
teporting period, which is the same as that applied in caleulating the DBO income for the vears ended December 31 are presented below.
recopnized in the consolidated statements of financial posidon,
fTmonnrs on PEIF) 2024 25 22
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the seasitivity analysis Rt i priie o i

did not change compared to the previous years, Current mx expense

Regular corpore income

i) Asset-liability Matebing Strategier [RCTTY st 25%6, 20P% and 100% in

2024 aind 2025 snel 25%, 2000 arud )
To cfficiently manage the rearement plan, the Group through s BOD, ensures that B Sidoiian L 133,993,061 92737922 138,004,900
the investment posttions are managed in accordance with its assee-habtlity marching Flanl tuiciae 20%3; £5W nct "jn;‘_’ W I55;180 16,154,222 6,134,086

. . . [ Minimum corpomre income 1mx

strategy to achicve those long-term investments are o hoe with the obligatons under IMCTTY ar 24 1,012,195 : :
the retirement scheme. This strategy aims to mateh the plan assets to the retirement 153,191,036 106,892, 144 148,278 904
obligations by investing in debt securities and maintaining cash and cash equivalents
that march the benefit payments as they fall due and in the appropriate currency. The Fugparded i arber rumpurshesioree b fimosme) —

Deferred tax expense relating to

ortgirution weul reversal of
remporars ditferences 54,613,894 1L 07 ]2 Ui,UTS, 840

CGrroup actively monitors how the duration, and the expected vield of the investments
are marching the expected cash outflows ansing from the redrement obligations,

In view of this, investments are made in reasonably diversified portfolio, such that 207,804,930 219,999,156 241,204,860
the failure of any single investment would nor have a material impact on the overall
level of assets,

There has been no change in the Group's stratepes 1o manage its risks from previous
periads,
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(A mmaerits i PHPY 2024 2123 2kx2

Baparseal fur other ompornlivatas sneome or e
Dreterred tax expense {income) refating
relating tix
Chginarion and reversal of
temporary differences (10, A82L5TH) [ROT2 510 13,30, 334

LBASS], as an edueational institution, 1% subject to 174 tax rate on its taxable income as defined
under the tax repulations of the National Internal Revenue Code Section 27(B).

The reconabadon of mx on pre-tax profit computed ar the applicable statarory mtes to
mx expense as reported in the profic or loss section of the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income is as follows:

{torenratdc e FHPY 04 ] 23

Tax oo pree- s profie ar 2590, 0% and
1AM b 2024 and 2025 wnd 25%, 20

and 1% In 322 222 758 B0 254 703 460 230,008, 1k
Adbusement for mcome subjected
0 lower Income @y raes {4,674,333) RS 5T (1,553,440

Tz effeets of
Mon-raxable ineome on

forfeired collecnons (32,186,712) {48, 230,566 (285,708}
Mon-deducrble raxes and hoenses 7996056 3202722 2710567
Mon-deducable interest expense 6,565,144 &, [h, 398 1,536,540
{ithers — net T, 1,885 270,299 221, 201)

2007, 804,930 219999156 241 24 B0

The ner deferred max linbilines as of December 31 relate o the following:

Canwilidined Commulislared

& il i fal Panitien 5 wil Twoedie oo Limin
o s b Y P i NEY Hize iy TR
Eizrmal ma ausers
Prrvminm toe etuned linbiliry T RETT TILAWIAT [FpREER )] [TRFEA R {TH5E, Ty
Ermemiry binefii pdkprnon Mﬂl !F.-l‘.ﬂ,fq! I‘HJ-I!.QL"AI _n.‘FJ.‘,'i".'ﬁ J.'.'t‘.u-i_']:
1LATRA R TIANETHS (N7 AMAS) (AW A HLA6T
Deterrd oy mbvibmern
Unritleguee] reslizs| prosy prida (I, 0k ) wd L RE L S ] RE AT THY L7 LA W22, ey 1y ™
Eheliitnd mremimban LT, 0, 34T) [, B8 T ZE TN O T0 [k
Kgrhi 1of wap wowes - e {4,43K,551) £ r iR R 207 W) TAmEELY
Ll S cxctume
Jesws - ot {1LEDE 35 L] 1,130018 N ] W 4ad
Risnnd wwinae nieryinheal
bl o PR B {LITERLE) 1, sk
Cagladen | hommweryg cosi - LR 5% - S ] SN T3S
{2,221, 302 99 R W2 MY RS i [T
[Nt Fon Fxppiis 34 511804 LRI W S
St Il Taw § i@ _E‘l}.l‘l.‘l,ﬁ!‘q R BT ANE)

The deferred tax expense presented in Other Comprehensive Tneome (Loss) seetion in the
consalidhated statements of comprehensive income pertains to the tax effect of remeasurements
of retrement benefit obligation which resulted 10 4 tax income amounong o P1O5 million n
2024, P28.1 million in 2023, and a tax expense amounting to P13.3 million in 2022,

In 2024 and 2023, the Group 15 subject to the MCIT, which is computed at 2% and 1%,
respectively, of gross income net of allowable deductions, as defined under the mx regulations,
or RCIT, whichever is higher,

-5

Presented below are the details of the Group’s remuaining net operagng loss carry over
NOLCOY), which can be claimed as deductions from furore masable profit within three w five
years from the year the tax loss was incurred. NOLCO incurred for the mxable years 2021 and
2020 can be cliimed as a deduction from the fumire taxable meome unedl 2026 and 2025,
rcspm:riuu]y, in accordance with BoA. 11494, Baryanifuoe fo Racover ir Orwe Aet.

(A monnis in PHP)

Original Expired Remaining Valid
Year Amount Amount Balance Until
2024 15,388,502 . 15,388,502 2027
2023 15,512,903 . 15512503 2026
2022 9,519,501 a 9.319.501 2035
2021 2B.T08 937 . 28.708,937 2026
2020 11.885277 . 11885277 2025

80,815,210 = 80,815,210

PCMI, LBASSIL, EECL SPLIL SOHI, VVPI and 20" Century did not recopnize deferred
mx assers on their respective NOLCO as management believes thar the relared deferred mx
assets may not be recovered within the prescriptive period. The amount of NOLCO for the
vear ended 2024 for which the relared deferred rax asser has not been recognized amounted
o a toral of P15.4 million with a wal mx effect of PO million,

In 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Group opted to dum itemized deductions in computing for its
income tax duc.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group’s related parties include the Uldmate Parent Company, the Parent Company, related
parties under common ownership, associate, key munagement personnel, and the Group's
retirement plan as described in the succeeding pages.

Based on the requirement of SEC Memorandum Circular 2009-10, Raks of Miserial Releted Pasty
Transactions of Publichy-Bsted Companies, transactions amounting to 10% or more of the ol
consolidared assets based on its latest consolidated financial statements thar were entered into
with related partics are considered material,

All individual marerial related party transactons shall be approved by at least owo-thirds (2/3)
vote of the Parent Company’s board of directors, with at least a majorty of the independent
directors voting to approve the material related party transactions,  In case that a majority of
the independent directors” vore is not secured, the material related party transaction may be
ratified by the vote of the stockholders representing at least two-thirds of the outstanding
capital stock. For aggregate related party transactions within a 12-month period that breaches
the materiality threshold of 100 of the Group’s consolidated tomal assers based on the larest
consolidated  financial stmtements, the same board approval would be required for the
transactions that meet and exceeds the mareriality threshold covering the same related party,
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The summary of the Group’s significant ransactions and ourstanding balances with its related
parties are as follows: The Advances from Related Partics account represents the outstanding balances ansing from
——— ioanaan ol Tvaveesaur Bl i cash pdvances obrained by the Group from its Parent Company, associate, and certun related
Helared Barty partics under common ownership.  Some of the advances from relared partics are
g givy Midaa pi il N p{[1E] X MY 3 L) . ~ b r "
interest-beanng with interest rates ranging from 7.000% to 120006 both in 2024 and 2023, The
Eiilrsas Pazzmin
Frimneid seiies m PV W (L Sr T Ay 1Bk s 1,008, A g 1| B dﬂ[ﬂj!! AL DfoE{'th‘[ 3] ateas fﬂHEM.‘
Uil s LA bl 2rab it R LhAidmns 1, e Ll I i
Farers; Ldmpannts in PHP) 2024 2023
T — it ¥ ok A MY
Teims smaghia - 1-“ s 15, R 4 'II"':-I:II'I,l'I‘II: e s . R . I':I"':;'hir
oo T BEmt gemvay  ceswes g ey (T Parent 5,737,525,504 5,354,803,778
i o 5 g A R Associate 374,343,362 378,861,199
= Related parties under
[ e 251 4T 41T 2 4 E3TAI 36T} Ep TR common ownership 282,981,690 327 981,690
Uit aasiiimn v tiership
Crmatog uf w £l 5T MdLTE AT S 5T
!lhﬂrﬂlﬂr:"‘:ﬂ‘ 1;: ny mﬂ n: 14178 w_-.-.:;\nl ﬂ“}mm . [ mlﬂm’sﬁﬁ ﬁ.ljﬁj;?}&ﬁﬁ".'
[T P 751 PR T b 1A At 1, (LT A
[ — R g (T, 450 PYRETR A [EFEEReTn L =
e o FeaTiny b e vty b iipciid AR The movements in the Advanees from Related Parties account is shown below.
iuialnp of savics) 2ER 2155 T
A EEIEL e DT ¢ : L J 2
:?---w speent peraone] o —— — — ) ALty i PHP) Mote 2024 2023
Unless otherwise stated, the Group’s outstanding receivables from and payables to relawed Parent: : = i
partics  arising  from  interest-bearing  and  noninterest-bearing  advances, joint venture Balance nt beginning of year 5,354,893,778 3,010,016,537
agrectnents, lease of property and cash advances to related party are unsceared, eolleetible, or Acerued interests 223 387,523,611 34‘1:’-".”,1-!?&
pavabile on demand, and are penetally seuled in cash or throurh offsetting armnpements with REP‘?{‘M”‘ (4,891,885) (451 qﬁg_"_‘}
the relared parties (see Note 30.2), Additions - 3,739
There were no impatrment losses recognized on the outstanding recaivables from related partics Balance at end of year 5,737,525,504 5,354, 893,778
in 2024, 2023 and 2022 hased nn management's ECL assessment.
Assodare
251 Advances to and from Related Parties Balance at beginning of year 378,861,199 381,678,955
Repayments (4,517,837) (2817, 750)
The Group granis 10 and obrins unsecured advances from its Parent company, assnciate and
other related partes for working capital purposes. Balance at end of year 374,343,362 378 E61,100
The Advinces to Related Partics aceount represents the outstanding balances arising from cash Other related parties under
advances granted by the Group o certain related parties under commeon ownership. Some of commoan ownership:
the advances to related parties arc interest-beanng with interest mites ranging from 12,0004 o Balance at begimning of year 327,981,690 372,981,690
15000 both in 2024 and 2023, The interest income arising from these interest-bearing Repaymicnts (63,017,45%) (65,941,736)
ailvinees is presenicd  ag part of Finanee Ineome in the copsolidaed sttements of Aceroed interesrs 2232 18,017.459 200,941,736
enmprehensive income ($ee Note 22.1). The change in the Advanees 1o Related Parties aceount
are shown below and in the succeeding page. Balanee at end of year 282 981,690 327 981,650
{Amomts m PYIP) MNote 2024 2023 Cash advances from Parent company and other related parties under common ownership
g bear fixed interest rare ranging berween 7% and 129 per annum in 2024, 2023 and 2022,
Balance at beginning Interest expense is presented as part of Finance Costs account in the consolidated statements
of year 5,467,534,052 5,084,657 859 of enmprehensive income (see Note 22.2),
Irterest income 221 446,129,092 341,017 636
Additional advances 69,804,896 41,858 557
Reclassification (14,227,860) -
Collecnons {3,480,018)

Balance at end of year 5,965,7T60,162 5,467 534,052
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252 Rendering of Services
The summuary of services offered by the Group is rme-senrr::] et

Amount of Transactions

(A mrasmts i PHP) 2024 2023 2022
Parens:
Commission Income 35,514,891 37,121,641 29,635,160

Other related parties under
commen ownership:

Management services 47,344,889 80 287,703 113,133,951
Lease of propery 41,135,041 34,200,327 32,088,357
88,479,930 114 489 030 145,222 308
123,994,821 151,610,711 174,857 468

The Groop handled the administeative funetions of certan related parties under common
ownaership for the latter's onpoing construction and development activiges. ‘The amount of
revenue carned from such transacoon 15 recognized as part of Markeong and management
tees uneder Other Income account inthe consolidated stmrements of comprebensive income
(see Note 21.1) while the mustanding balances are presented as Management fee receivable
under I'rade and Other Receivables account in the comsolidared statements of financial position
(see TNt 6),

The Group camns markeung fees from the sale of Megaworld®s real estae properties. The
markeung fee recognized is presented as Commission Income under Revenves and Income
scotion in the consolidated statcments of comprehenstve income. The outstanding reecivables
related to these transactions are presented as part of Trade receivables under the Trade and
Other Recervaliles acenunt in the consolidated statements of financial position (see Note 6),

The Group leases coertin investment proporty to a related party under common ownership
in 2024, 2023, and 2022, The revenoes camed from the lease are included as part of Rental
Income account under Revenues and Income section in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (see Note 28.1). ‘The related outstanding recervables from these
transacticns are presented as part of Rent reccivable under the Trade and Other Reccivables
account in the consolidared statements of finandal position (see Nore 6),

253 Obwmining of Services

The Giroup ineurred management fees for accounting and marketing services obrained from irs
Parent Company and a related party under common ownership amounting o P227 million,
P1.2 millicn and PLO million in 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectvely, and is presented as part of
Professional Fees under Other Expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
ncome (see Note 21.2). There was no outstanding payable from this transaction as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023,

SRF-

254 Joint Development Agreement with Parene Company

The Group, mogether with Megaworkd, executed a joint development agreement for the
development of a mised-use condominium project; whereby the Group shall contribute land
and the Parent company shall develop and sell the property. The entities shall be entitled to a
certain percentage of the total saleable area based on the agreed sharing. The land contributed
to the joint venture is presented as part of the Real Estate Inventories under Property
development cost in the consolidited statements of financial position (see Note 7). As of the
end of the reporting pedod, the property is still being developed and there are no profits
received vet from this agreement,

25.5 Key Management Personnel Compensation

The compensanon of the Group’s key management personnel are as follows:

{Amarents i PHE) 2024 2023 2022

Short-term henefirs 64,642,439 (4,860,294 59,695,978

Post-employment benefirs 11,952,983 21029285 24,158,420
76,595,422 B4 Bab 57¢ B3.854 398

These are presented as part of Salares and Employee Benefies account under Cost and
Expenses section in the consalidated statements of comprehensive income for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (see Note 23.1),

25.6 Retirement Plan

The Group has a formal retirernent plan established sepamtcly tor EELHI and EPHIL. The
Giroup’s retirement fund for its post-employment defined benefit plan is administered and
managed by trustee banks,  The fair value and the compositon of the plan assets as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 are presented in Note 232, As of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
the Group's retirement fund does nor include any investments in any equity securities fssued
b the Group or any of its relared parties,

The Group's transactions with the fund mainly pertain w conmribunons, benefit payments and
INECTEST INCOMLE,

The retirement fund neither provides any puarantees or surety for any obligation of the Group
not its investmenis covered by any restricoons or liens.




Empire Ea=t Three Decadss of Breakthroughs

2024 Annuatl and Sustainsbility Report

EQUITY
26,1 Capital Stock
Capital stock as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 consists of:

{Amsents in PHE) No. of Shares Amount
Common shares — P1 par value
Authorized S1,4%95 2000 0000 31,495 200,000
Issued 14,403,455,27H 14,803, 455,238
Trewsury sharcs — ar cost (127.256,071) (102, 1006,658)
Tonal ourstanding 14,676,199,167 14,701 348,380

Preferred shares — P1 par value
Authorieed 2,000, 0100 20000, 000,000

Megaworld has 81.73% cwnership interest in the Group as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,

The Series B preferred shares. are nonredeemable, convertible into common shares and
are nonvoting. The shares have zero coupon cites and shall not be entitled to dividends.
The Sertes B preferred shares shall be convertible to commuon shares any dme after the end of
the 18 months from the implementanon date; May 29, 1998, as defined in the subscnption
agreements. There are no subscribed and issued preferred shares as of December 31, 2024
and 2023,

On April 24, 1996, the SEC approved the listing of the Group's shares roraling 425,000,000,
The shares were issued aran offer price of P1 250 per share. As of December 31, 2024, 2023,
and 2022, there are 12,252, 12,297 and 12,336 sharcholders of the histed shares, respeetively,
The shares were listed and closed ar a price of P02, PO13 and POY per share as of
December 27, 2024.and 2023, and December 31, 2022, respectively,

26.2 Additional Paid-in Capital

The addinonal paid-in capital (APIC) pertains to the excess of the total proceeds received from
the Group's shareholders over the twotal par value of the common shares. There were no
movements in the Group's APIC accounts in 2024 and 2023,

26.3 Treasuey Stock

On March 23, 2006, the Group’s BOD authorzed the buy-back of up to P1.0 billion worth of
Group's shares of common stock within a 24-month period under certain reems and condidons
as the Group’s senior management may deem beneficial to the Group and its stockholders.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group's treasury shares amounred o PIOZ million,
representing the cost of 127,256,071 shares reacquired by the Group,

-r-,.';?f

2.4 Revafuntion Reserves

Revaluation reserves of the Group are composed of re-messurements on ifs retirement
benefit oblignoon and fair value movements of the Group’s financial assers ar FVOCI
(mee Wotes §and 23.2).

The components and reconciliaton of items of other comprehensive income presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity at their ageregate amount under Revaluation
Reserves account, are shown below.

Financial Retirement
Assers ar Benefi
Fvocl Obliguiion

[ A maminte s I face Mot 8 fiee Mote 23.2) Total
HBakinge as ufrhnu:.q' 1,24 43T, 1 TH NN 110,446,726 54T A2 T
Remegsurement of tenrement

baenetin obliganon - (41,950,311 CHLEA0310)
Fair value losses on FYOC] {356, 738,00 el L
Cther comprebensive hoss

before tax for the vear (256,738 0 {4 l.'-'?ﬂi..’rlﬁflil (ZIR.658,310)
Tax income - [0 ABL5TH 1482578
Crcher comprehensive foes

after iy fror the yvear {256,728 001K E31 447,732 (2R8.175,730
Balanee as of December 31, 2024 TE0, 450,000 TH998, 94 259,448,954
Balinee as of January 1, 2023 SN TN 155k 664 377 N GS4TTT
Remensirement of Tenrement

benetit ohligation - (112,290,071 (N12290,07(0
Farr value losses on FY ] 06 B2 00 - (09, B0
Onher comiprehensive loss

bsckire tnx for the year B8 B2 00 (112 20007700 {182 12 [FT0)
Thx income - 2HA1T2 519 25072519
L3her comprehensive loss

wfter e for the year {68 512 00 (#4217 551) (154,029 531)
Ralanee 5 of Decernber 31, 2027 4571 TR0 110,446,726 BT 424720
Balanee ss of lanuary 1, 2022 495,730 000 154,745 278 50475278
Remensiremient of setirement

benefit obliganon 535 238 313 53295133
Fubr volue ains oo VO] 11 250NN P 2640 M0
Chther comprehernsive ineome

befiire mx for the vear 11,260,000 23.225333 68 485333
Tax expense - (13306 33:4) (13,306, 334)
Uit comprelersive income

afeer tmx for the year 11,26k HK nngen 7

Halinew as of December 31, 2022 S A 194 66 277 1,654,277
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2685 Other Reserves

Other reserves of the Group pertains 1o the difference berween the fair value of considertion
paid and the relevant share in the carmving value of the net assets of PCMI as a result
of obrining de Ficto control over POMT in 2018 and any subsequent change in ownership
interest in the subsidiary {see Note 1.1).

26.6 Rerained Earnings

Retaned earntngs are resticted in the amount of PHILZT millon representing the cost
of 127256071 shares held in teeasuey as of the end of the reporting pertods.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share amounts were computed as follows:

(L omnnnts in PHE) 2024 2023 222

Met profit atmbutable 10 parent

Group's shareholders GE7121,209 65,784,371 720,214,688
Number of issued and
putstanding common shores 14,676,199,167 14,676,199, 167 14,676,199,167

Basec and diluted earminps
per share 0.047 0,52 (1049

Dilured earnings per share equal the basic earnings per share since the Group does nor have
dilunive shares as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The following are the significant commitments and conungencies involving the Group:
28.1 Operating Lease Commitments — Group as Lessor

The Group is subject to risk incidental to the operation of its office and commercial propertics,
which include, among others, changes in market rental mtes, inability 1o renew leases upon lease
expiration, and inability o collect eent From tenants due to bankruptey or insolveney of tenants,
Majority of the Group’s revenue from rental properties are derived from commercial and
parking spaces.

T mitigate these risks, tenants pay security deposits and advance rent equal to three
six months’ rent, which are forfeited in case a tenant pre-terminates without prior notce or
before the expiry of lease term without cause. In addition, tenants are usually required to pay
the monthly rent in advinee on a monthly basis, without need of forther demand.
Security deposits and advance rent are presented as part of Refundable deposics under Other
Current Liabilinies in the consolidared stmtements of finanaal position (see Nore 18).

The Group is a lessor umder vanous non-cancellable operating lease agreements covering real
estate properties for commercial use. This consists of fixed lease payments with terms ranging
fromn ane to 10 vears, with renewal options, and include annual escalation rates of 3% o 1070,

- 59

The fumre minimum rental receivable under these non-cancellable operating leases are
as tollows as of December 31:

{ - Ammamits fa PHP) 2024 2023 2033
Wirhin ane year 92,465,532 H7.001 504 GO0 486,736
After ane vear but riot

mure than two yers 77,502,033 G411 320 30,607,954
After rwo years but noe

more than three yeurs 56,244,394 57.53,8H3 19,311,320
After three yvears but not

muore than Four vears 22,599,392 48 775872 15,485,223
After foue vears but not

more than five years - 22 5404 302 6,366,923
Muore than five vears - - 1004708

248,811,351 2R2ATO R0 133,462,866

The total rentals from these aperating leases amounted to about P134.2 million, P107.5 million,
and PRO.G6 million in 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively, which are recognized as Rental Income
account under Revenues and Income section in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
INCOHTIE,

28.2 Legal Claims

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Group does not have any litigations within and outside
the normial course of its business,

28.3 Credit Lines

The Group has existing eredit lines with local banks for 2 masimum amount of P1,520.0 million
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, The Group has unused lines of credit amounting
to P52000 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,

28,4 Capital Commitments

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Group has commitments amountng to
P18 hillion and P20 billion for the construction expenditures in relation to the Groop's joint
venture (see Note ),

285 Ohhers

There are other commitments and contingent linbilities thar may arise in the noml course of
operations of the Group which is not reflected in the consalidated financial starements. The
management of the Group is of the opinion that losses, if any, from these nems will nor have
any meeterial effect on its consolidared financial srements, mken as oo whole,
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RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed o a variety of financial risks which result from its operting, investing,
and financing actvines. Risk manasgement is carned out by a central treasury department
under policics approved by the BOD and focuses on actively secuning the Group’s short
to medium-term cash flows by minimizing the exposure o financial markets.  Long-term
financial investments are managed to generate listing rerurns, The Group does: not engape in
the trading of financial assets for speculanve purposes, nor does i1 write oprions. The financial
risks o which the Group is exposed o are described below and in the succeeding pages.

29.1 Marker Risk

The Group is exposed o marker tisk through its use of financial instruments and specifically
1o forelgn curreney risk, and interest rate nsk which results from both its operating, investing
and financing acuvities,

fa)  Foregen Cyrreney Kark

There is no significant exposure 10 foreign corrency risks since most of the Grroup's
transactions are denominated in Philippine peso, which is its functonal currency. The
Giroup’s financial asser denominated in foreign currency only pertains to cash and cash
equivalents, However, the amount is insignificant o the consolidated financial statements
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (see Note 22.1), The Group has no financial liabilities
denominated in foreign currency.

fl Twtereit Rate Risk

The Group's policy is to minimize interest me cash fow risk exposures on long-term
financing, Long-term borrowings are therefore usually obtained and negonated at fxed
rates.  However, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group has an ourstanding
long-term loan with a varible interest rate (see Note 14),

There is no fixed rate debe in 2024, 2023 and 2022,

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group is exposed 1o other changes in market
interest through s cash and cash equivalents and other fixed rate long-term borrowings,
which are deemed by management to be not significant.

Al other  financial  assets  and  Babilies  have  either  shor-term  maturity,
noninterest-heariog or are subject to fixed rates {e.g., relaved party advances),

fol Oher Price Risk
The Group’s market price rsk arses from its investments camed ot Fair value (classified

a5 financial assets at FVOCL). 1t manages its risk arising from changes in market price
by monitonng the changes in the market price of the investmenits.

-

For equity securities listed in the Philippines, the observed volarility rates of the fair values
uf the Group’s investment held ar fair valug is determined based on the average market
volatility in queted prices, using standard deviarion, in the previous 12 months, estimated
at 99% Jevel of confidence. An average volatility 4.8% and 5.4% has been observed
t.Iur'mg 2024 and 2023, respectively.  The impact on the Group's consolidated other
eomprehensive income and consolidared equity would have increased or decreased by
P36.7 million and P51.8 million in 2024 and 2023, respeetively.

The investments in gquoted equity secunties are considered  long-term stratepic
investments. In accordance wath the Group's policies, no speeific hedging actvities are
undertaken in relaton o these invesments, ‘The mvestments are contnoously montored
and votng rights arising from these equity inscruments are utilized in the Group's favor.
The Group is not subject to commaodiry price risk.

292 Credir Risk

The maximum credit risk exposure of the Group is the carrving amount of the financial assers
and eontract assets as shown on the face of the consolidated statements of financial position
{or in the detaled analysis provided in the notes to the consolidated financial statements), as

summarnzéd below,

{Amansernss i PHP) Moles 2024 2023

Cash and cash equivalenis 5 2. 563,878,581 3717 465 500
Tracle and other receivables - net
{excluding advances o supplicrs
:J.nd Cotracines m:u:l :d\"nm::-a

i giandominium association) f 9,775,663, 705 9,798, 3065, TH)
Comtrnct assels 192 3,266,999,518 2741 196,068
Advances 1o related parties 251 5,965,760,162 546753052

21,872,301,966 21,724,569 380

None of the Group's financial assets are secured by collateral or ather credit enhancements,
except for cash and cash equivalents, and trade receivables, as described below and in the
succeeding pages,

fa) ol aamed Cuash Egutvorierts

The credit nisk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible since the
eounterparties are reputable banks with high qualiry external eredit ratings,  Included in the
cash and cash equivalents are cash in banks and short-term placements which are insured
by the TPhilippine Deposit Insurance Corporation up to a maximum coverage of
P05 million for every depositor per banking institution.

(B Trode and Other Receirabler and Contract Assefs

Trade and other receivables (excluding advances o suppliers and contractors and advances
tor condominium associations) and contract assers are subject 1o credit risk exposure, The
Group, however, does notidentify specific concentrations of eredit risk with regard 1o reade
receivables and contract assets, as the amounts recognized resemble a large number of
receivables from various customers, The Group also retains the titles to the property unil
such time that the trade receivables are fully collected. Repossessed properties are offered

for sale to other customer s,
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Credit nsk of receivables from sale of real estate properries is managed primarily through
crediv reviews and analyses of receivables on a regular basis. The Group undertakes credst
review pr-:medurl:s. for all ingiallment payment terms. Customer payments are facilitared
through the use of post-dated checks. Exposure 1o doubtful aceounts is not substantial as
title 1o real estare properties are not transferred 1o the buyers undl full payment of the
amortization has been made and the requirement for remedial procedures s negligible
considering the Group’s buvers” profile.

The Group has used the simplified approach in measoring ECL and has ealeulared ECL
based on fiteome BCL. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in eredit nsk,
but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime FCL at each reportng date. An
imparment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure
ECL, The provision rate 15 based on days past due of all customers as they have similar
loss patterns,  'The credit enhancements such as advance payment and value of the
real estate for sale are constdered in the caleulanon of impaiement as tecoveries.

The Group considers reade receivables in default when coneracrual pavmenes are 90 days
past due, except for cermin crcumstances when the reason for being past due is due w
reconciliation with customers of payment records which are administrative in parure which
may extend the definition of default o 90 days and bevond, Furthermore, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset 1o be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely 10 receive the ourstanding contractual
amounts in full before tmking into account any credit enbancements held by the Group,

The management determined that there is no required ECL to be recognized since the
real cstate sold s collateralized to the related receivable ardsing from real estate sales,
Theretore, expected loss given default is nil as the recoverable amount from subsequent
resale of the real estte is sufficient.

The estimated fair value of the secunty enhancements held agminst contract receivables
and contract assets arising from real estare sales are presented in the below,

o lowmmmants v PRIPY Crross Mandimmmm Fulr ¥aluic of Firancial Effcer
Espoasre Collugerals Mt Exp of Call

AR+

Comnepact saner 3,360,099 518 17057, T80 311 5,20 MRS 1E

Comprac recovnbles Thon24T 5 T2 603,309 - T Sy, 24T HAE
W 23EH4T.TTh 4507 AL 610 - 11,283,247 376

2%

COmIFac] maces L TAL IR 11, F20571 A6Z 1,74 i, Gs

Comrrart reerivahle e S LERETE 2561 TR AU T 5 U5
HETEREtETY B 5 0 T 107,840, TR

Other components of receivables such as rental receivables and others are also evaluated
by the Group for impairment and assessed that no ECL should be provided. A significant
portion of the Group's tental receivables are from Megaworld, wherein the impairment of
receivables is assessed using the latter’s ability o pay [see Note 29.2(c)]. The remaining
rental receivables are secured o the extent of advance rental and rental deposit received
trom the lessees, which are on average equivalenr to six months,

- &3

Some of the unimpaired trade receivables and other receivables, which are mostly related
o real estate sales, are past due as ar the end of the repoming period. The trade receivables
that are past due but not impaired are as follows:

(AAamonnts i PHP 2024 2023
Mot more than three months 267,859,203 190,494,813
More than three months bug

not more than six months 381,995,646 312,624,389
More than six months but

not mare than one vear 458,683,713 340066,126
Mare than one year 195,219,873 124,782 569

1,303,758,435 267 967 0697

fe)  Advauces fo Relatedd Partier and Ret Recedvable anmd Managenvent Fee Reovivale froow Related Parties

ECL for receivables from related parties, including advances, rent and munagement fee
receivables, are measured and recognized using the liquidicy approach. Management
determines possible impairment based on the relared parties” ability w0 repay the advances
upon demand ar the ra;;-mn{ng dare mking into consideration the hisworneal defaults from
the related parties.

The Group does not consider any significant msks in the advanees w other related paries
with finaneial difficulty since Megaworld, whose eredit nsk for liguid funds is considered
neglipible, have committed 1o Anancially support these related parties as part of AGI and
its long-term corporate steategy.  As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the apgregate
impairment allowance on balances from Megaworld and other related parties is identified
1o be not matenal,

The mble below shows the crediv quality by class of financial assets and contract nsscrs as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023,

Mtilser Pawt Dhic nor Specifically Lmpnbned Past Prue
£t in FHI Standand Substianduand ot e
_High Grade Girade Giniche Dingnakred Tanal
024
Cash sl cush espuivalenis 2 Hnd WTE S : - e AR o KL
Trmde sl cabeer receiahiles H AT MBI 1, 03,750 405 BITRGGN, TS
Covmntast ussits B S 5 1R - 3.266,19,518
Mulvanices o pelabed fparties 5005, T, 162 3,005,760, 162
B3 ETE, 51 17, 70M, o4 50 - 1WA, T58, 405 X1ATL NN 060
fa 18]
Cashy mmd cnsh exjubvalivin Ly T ) 1717 409 500
Trmde anel embier recenabies - H RO B Y - BT, T T 1 TO8 N, TR
iy dakichs 2,741, 1 068 2 TN, A
Mubvinoes bin redabed parties - 5407 514042 - S8nT SN2
3 TTT A0 500 1709132 181 - KT MTAT 21T 505 60




Empire Ea=t Three Decadss of Breakthroughs

2024 Annuatl and Sustainsbility Report

— -

The Group uses an internal credit raring concepr based on the counterparties” overall eredit
wairthiness as follows:

High Crude — Rating given to counterparties whao have very strong eapacity o meet their
ubliganons.

Ntandared Crade — Rating given to counterparties whose outstanding obligation is within the
scceptable age of proup.

Substandard Grade — Rating piven counterparties whose outstanding obligation is nearing to
be past due or impaired.

The Group continpously monitors detaubs of customers and  other counterparnes,
identified either individually or Iy group, and incorporates this information inwn its credit
risk controls. The Group's policy is to deal only with credieworthy counterparties.

The Group's management considers thar all the above finaneial assers that are not impaired
for each of the reporting dates are of pood credit guality, mcluding those that are past due,

29.3 Liquidity Risk

The Group manages irs liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing
pavments for long-rerm Anancial liabilites as well as cash outflows due in a day-to-day busitiess,
iguidity needs are monitored in varous dme bands, on a day to-day and week-ro-week hasis,
a5 well as on the basis of a mlling 30-day projection. Long-term liguidity needs for 6-month
and one-year periods are identified mondly,

The Group maintaing cash to meet irs liguidity requirements for up o 60-day perods. Fxeess
cash is invested in fime deposits. Funding for long-term liguiding needs is addinionally seeured
by an adequate amount of committed credie Facilities and the ability o sell long-term financial
asscls.

As ar Decermber 31, 2024, the Group's fruncial liabilities have contractual mamrtes which are
presented below.

Within O s Five Muwe tham
[ mmacnrr o PLEE) One Year Year Five Yeuars Tavead
Revterest - beouring b and e 25X 191 125 U4 TRE 2N T46 N2 375
'I'racle and ceher pavaliles 200, TR AR - - 2 M0 TS A6
Advances frram nelared parmes 6,501 248 001 - z 150,245 00
A her omrren liubidities _ LIYT 073085 1097073, 685
10,387, Tod, 367 A4, TA5, 250 - 11,582,495, 617

As at December 31, 2023, the Group™s financlal liabilites have contractual mamrities which are
presented below,

Widin O vo Five Muire than
{-Awvomay e PRI O Yigs Year Phwe Yeurs Tanul
Interess-Tsearing boars and Tormowings 26T ATAIET TANAREINT - LIRS0, e
Trde and vgher payahles 2,425, 550 R 3,425 556 500
Advances From relaod parces i, 2B A0 1 34 f, 08, 464,134
{ kher carrent lishdhnes 'I,[I:Il.'i,h'.’.kl-ﬂl - - |,||.14}.!.u!,-14n:
ST RRT 26T TANERE 01T 190,715 473,184

The eontractunl matunnes reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ from the careving
values of the liabilitics at the end of cach reporting pemod,

an.
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CATEGORIES AND OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL
LIABILTTTES

J0.1  Carrving Amounts and Fair Values by Category

The carrying amounes and fair values of the carepories of financial assets and financial labilioes
presented in the consolidated statements of financal positon are shown below.

i ]
{ Awnwmis in PHIY Carryingg R Carrying -
b=y Kh it Imir ¥alnes My il Fair Valoee
Flaanolad anser
Fonisis| aoin gy smarmae] e
sk aml coah eguiv elens ¥ LAG3 HTH, 381 L8063 FYE ER] 37T A S 31T AL SN
Tewde sod ather troenabibes « pet 0 W TIRAGNT08 90,197 500 TR, T AT a0
Cnnrears gt (L] Ak P R 3004 NG 1R LTAL b 2700, 140,
Advances 1 lned prses Bl SMSIAME _ BSGSISNIE _ SAGCSUE SATai5
ILATI 0N 0 22k M, 16 LTS b BT Ak G0
Fenuncis] et ar FYOC] E 1YL 00 LR 1 270 X8 Nk 12001 28, (W0
it s 23,070 20,16 0 IR T S AR LRl )
Fluanoial Liglalitivs a
Amariieee coes
Irmerewt berwringg
liamte wrud beorm nsingn L] 0, 00 S50 A 10T R D T ADN A
Tieade aod oiber puiyalilcs 13 L0, TR 400 136,750,460 2 AT SN 0 AT SN0
Mibvnraes froen sebatoad parnes EL A B V0 AR 550 fo M AEG SR B Il T AT T TR AT
Utrhir rmrrenr habnbaes 1" 1,17 6T ARS 1,7 TGRS IRHAGLIAE AT

10, FRR BT, TINT 10407, TEE Ay O, S o i 5 101,208 AT 4 i

Managerment considers thar the fair values of the above enumerated financial assers and
Mnancial labilives measured ae amortized cosis approximate their carrving values either because
these insrruments are shor-term in narore or the effect of discounung for those with marrides
of more than one vewr is not marerial (excepr for interese-bearing loans and borrowings),

A descapuion of the Group's nisk manapement olyjecuves and policies for fnancial instruments
is provided 10 Note 29,

Fi2  Ofisetring of Financial Assets and Financial Linbilities
‘The following financial assets with net amounts presented in the consolidated statements of

financial posinon are subject o offsering, enforceable master netoing arrangements and similar
AgTEETIEnTS:

(LT T Y Mt amsurn Welased wmesmn e mw
[P A i i ilainal ¥ | i e e TTRT apeTee 1 e |
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The following financial Babilities with ner amounts presented in the consolidated starements of
financial position are subject to offsetting, enforceable master nerting arrangements and similar

wtﬂtﬁl‘.ﬁ:

Gernes ameunie N Fulatnd sisraney o
§ im tha chd sk ¥ 1 i wrnendl i S ezl wied
HIHﬂtﬂr ol financial UL ] ol lwed wisiemenn ol lnanckal pessinmn
Timsiaelel Frautscinl wlairdtient id Fisuisn sl Cadlidetal
[T Nlaminngs s amn- il HEnanrisl pasmm AREIT TS sl Sy mrwaming
Dhocember 11, X84
Batrrnms-busminy b
o b i AR - AU L AT, 2y - 4. I5hAS
Aibrannes ronk
welanaad passioy A FRLERR 55 : £ TN T : {15,045 LIRS 5T
7B . TIN5 ETd QAL L] _ILEIR 1Y
Pherrmmieer §F, 8107
bt bicitig ke
ared Bcamreiage L L EAS L e LR TR
Aulcsernes froen
welmivad peien AR THAL Pl T A FELTE foli i
AL T L T W 0 Rl 1k AT Ly e

For financial assets and financial liabilities subject o enforceable master neing apreements
ot similar armngements, cach agreement berween  the Group  and counterparts
(e, relared] parties including subsidiaries and associares) allows for ner sertlement of the
relevant financial assets and fnancial liabilities when Dhoth elect 10 setde on a net basis, In the
absence of such an election, financial assers and financial liabilides will be setded on a
gruss basis, however, cach party to the master nerting agreement or similar agreement will have
the option to sertle all such amounts on a net basis m the event of default of the other party.

I'he Group has cash in a local bank o whuch it has an outstanding loan (see Note 14). In case
of the Group’s default on loan amortzation, cash in bank amounting to P215.7 million and
P243.8 million can be apphoed against ity outstunding loans from the hank amounting to
P630.0 million and PE50.0 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURES
311 Fair Value Hierarchy

In accordance with PFRS 13, Fair [Valwe Measnrement, the fair value of Anancial assers and
financial lialilites and non-financial assets which are measured ar fir value on a recurring or
nog-recurring basis and hose assers and liabilities not measured at faie value bur for which fair
value is disclosed in accordance with other relevant PPRS Accounting Standards, are
eategurized into three levels based on the significance of inpurs used to measure the Fair value.
The fair value hierarchy is shown helow.

s Level 1; quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assers or labilities that
an entity ean access al the measurement date;

e  Level 2: inpurs other than quoted prices included within Level | char are observable for
thi: asset or liability, either directdy (Le., prices) or indireetly (e, denved from prices); and,

*  Level 3 inputs for the asset or Hability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs),

~&7-

The level within which the asser or habiliny i classified 15 determined based on the lowese Jevel
of sipnificant input to the fair value measurement.

For purposes of determining the market value at Level 1, a market is regarded as active if quoted
prlms are reacily and regularly avalable from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group,

pricing service, or repulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurrng
market transactions on an arm's length basis.,

For investments which do not have guoted market price, the fair value is determined by using
generally acceprable pricing models and valuation techniques or by reference to the current
market of another instrument which is substantally the same after mking into account the
related eredic risk of counterparnes or is calculared based on the expected cash flows of the
unclerlying net asser base of the instrument.

M2 Financial Instrumenrs Measured ar Fair Vafoe

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, only the equity securities classified as financial assers a
FVOC in the eonsolidued stmiements of financial position is classified as Level 1. These
securities were valued based on their market prices quoted in the PSE at the end of cach
reporting period (see Naote 8), There were no other financial assees measured ar fair value on
these dates. Further, the Group has no fimancial labilities measured ar Fair value as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, There were no transfers between Levels | and 2 in both years:

1.3 Finuscfaf fnstruments Measared st Amortized Cost for which Fuair Value is
Diiselosed

Management considers that due to the short duradon of these Hnancial ossets
(vxcepr long-torm receivables) and financial liabilitics (excepr long-rerm inrerest-bearing loans)
measured at amortzed cost, their carmdne amounrts as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
approsimate their fair value. Haeepr for cash and eash equivalenis which are clissified under
Level 1, all other financial inserumients ate classified under Level 3 wherein inpurs are not hased
on vhservable dar.

The Tair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in Level 3 which are not
traded in an active marker is derermined by using penerally acceprable pnicng models and
viluanion technigues or by reference o the current market value of another instrument which
15 substantially the same afeer taking nto account the related credic nsk of countérpames or s
cilculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the nstrament.

When the Group uses valuaton techmique, it maximizes the vse of obscrvable marker data
where it is available and rclics as lictle os possible on cnoty specific estimares. 1f all sigmficane
inputs required o determine the fair value of an instrument are ohservable, the nstrument is
ncluded in Level 2. Ohtherwise, ivis included in Level 3.
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Ji. 4 Fair Value Measurement of Non-Financial Assers

The table below shows the Levels within the hierarchy of investment properties for which fair
value is disclosed as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,

{Amepiwein i PHF) Lavel | Lave] 2 Lavel 3 Toeul
Vs A HER 18 A HEE |4
Huildings snd odfice/ commen sl wivrs - 4,110,981 200 4, 110,951,492
- - A, 151,800,676 4151200674
h! |d: | _!I E :!

Land
lhﬂ.n.l.mp;i ard nlce coiyanefeml e 0 MR TR 0328, 183
e TR A TR0
AT 0, T | 47402007 %

The fair value of the Group's investment properties eaming rental income was derermined
through discounted cash flows valuation technique done by a professionally qualified
independent appraiser for one of the properties, and by management for the rest of the other
investment propertics. The Group uses assumiptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at cach reporting period, such as: the receipt of contractual rentals; expected
future market rentals; void periods; maintenanee requirements; and appropriate discount rates.
These valuations are regularly compared o actual market yiehd data and actual transactons
by the Group and those rcpurtcd by the market. The expected future market centals are based
on current market rentals for similar properties in the same location and conditon,

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair values of the Group's investment properties are
classified within Ln:vc’l 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The Group determines the faie values asing
market-based approach where prices ﬂ'FE{!mP.‘.]IHIJ]L properties are adequate for specitic marker
factors such as location and condition of the property. On the other hand, if the observable
recent prices of the reference properties were not adjusted, the fair value is included in Level 2
The maost 1igniﬁcunr input into this valuaton approach is the price per square meter; hence, the
higher the price per square meter, the higher the fair value, Also, there were no transfers into
or out of Level 3 fair value hierarchy in 2024 and 2023,

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern in order o provide returns for sharcholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an opomal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital,

Capital components for cost of capital purposes include loans and borrowings, preferred stock,
common equity and retained earnings. The Group may issue new shares and may prepay some
of its interest-hearing loans. Further, it intends w allocare its eatnings and available cash in the
acquisiion and  development of new/existing properties to ensure continuous  business
WCTIVItIes,

33,

-5

The Group monitors its capital gearing by measuring the rmatio of interest-bearing loans and
barrowings o total r.'.lpmi As of December 31, the Group's ratio of interest-bearing loans and
horrowings o quity is as follows:

(- mamnets in PHP) 2024 023

Interest-bearing loans and Lorrowings 630,000,000 BS0,000,000
Tistal equity 31,331,871,195 31,363,596,258
Drebsr-to-equity rand 0.02 : 1.00 (.03 = 1.00

The Group has complied with it covenant ablipanons, inchiding maintaiing: the required
debt-to-equity ratio for both vears (see Note 14).

RECOMNCILATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Presented below is the reconciliation of the Group's liabilites arising from financing activities,
which includes both cash and non-cash changes,
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GRI Content Index

Empire East Land Holdings Inc. has reported in accordance with the

Statement of use CRI| Standards for the period January 1, 2024 to

GRI 1 used

Applicable GRI Sector RS

Standard(s)

GRI STANDARD/
OTHER SOURCE

December 31, 2024,

DISCLOSURE

General disclosures

GRI 2: General
Disclosures 2021

2-1 Crganizational details

2-2 Entities included in the
organization's sustainabilloy
reporting

2-3 Reporting period, freguency
and contact point

2-4 Restatements of
information

2-5 External assurance

2-6 Activities, value chain and
ather business relationships

2-7 Employees

2-8Workers who are not
employess

2-9 Governance structure and
composition

210 Mormination and selection
of the highest governance body

2-11 Chair of the highest
governance body

2-12 Role of the highest
governance body in oversesing
the management of impacts

2-13 Delegation of responsibility
for managing impacts

2-14 Role of the highest
governance body in
sustainability reportinig

GRI1: Foundation 2021

LOCATION

1207

105, 111

External assurance not
conducted in 2024 ASE

12-17

74
78

See Organizational
Chart on Empire East
Land Holdings Iric
Website

See Board Commitiess
on Empire East Land
Holdings Inc Website

54-35

30, 34-35

30

30, 34-35

GRI SECTOR

STANDARD REF.
EXPLANATION NO.

OMISSION

REQUIREMENT(S) REASON

OMITTED
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GRI STANDARD/
OTHER SOURCE

DISCLOSURE

General disclosures

2-15 Conflicts of interest

26 Communication of critical
COnCerns

27 Collactive knowledge of
the highest governance body

2-18 Evaluation of tha
performance of the highest
governance body

2-19 Remuneration policies

2-20 Process to determine
ramuneration

2-1 Annual total
compensation ratio

Z2-22 Statement on sustainable
developrment strategy

2-23 Policy commitments

2-24 Embedding policy
commitments

2-25 Processes to remediane

negative impacts

2-26 Mechanisms for seeking
advice and ralsing concerns

LOCATION

REQUIREMENT(S)

OMITTED

122
122

34-35

12

All departments are mandated to
prepare a Manpowsr Plan, which
undergoss annusal revisw, revision,
znd approval s an integral part of
the= Budagst Preparstion Procsss.
This plan adheres to the Salary
Structure, which outlines sslary
grades and levels per ank,
prepared by the HR & Financs
Department. The Manpower Blanis
submitted to the Human Resource
Department at the cutsst of the
Budgsting

Process each vear, detsiling the
projected salanes of emiployees

for the upcoming year.
Performancebas=d pay and other
bonuses are contingent upon
Management approval

T4

Mone 2-21a, b, c
6-7, 51

122

T9-121

64-71

T

OMISSION

Confidentiality constraints

EXPLANATION

Mo disclosure due to Data Privacy

GRI SECTOR
STANDARD REF.
NO.
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GRI STANDARD/ DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION GRI SECTOR

OTHER SOURCE STANDARD REF. NO.
REQUIREMENT(S) EXPLANATION

OMITTED

General disclosures

2-27 Compliance with laws 127,129
and regulations
2-28 Membership associations  None 2-28a Information unavailable/ Challenges in consolidating data
incamplete
2-23 Approach to stakeholder  §O 4]
engagement
2-30 Collective bargaining None 23043, b Not applicable The Company is not unionized
agreements
Material topics
-1 Process o determine 56
GRI 3: Material material topics A grov cell inGicoEs thorrecsans for SImis=on are NS permit=a for Ihe
Topics 2021 3-2 List of material topics 57 gisriosune o that o GR Sector Slongord relere nee NUMESr IS PO avalianie
Biodiversity
GRI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material MNone 32-33,b,cdef Not applicable Not a material topic
Topics 2021 e T
107-1 Policies to halt and reverse 101-1a; b, c
biodiversiny loss
101-2 Management of 101-2a b, c,d ef
biodiversity impacts
Gf" T‘Dl: . 101-3 Access and benefit-sharing 101-3a b
Biodiversity '
2024 I
107-4 |dentification of 101-4 a

biodiversity impacts

101-5 Locations with biodiversity 101-5 &, b, c,d
Impacis

101-6 Direct drivars of 10-63 b, c,d e f
biodiversity loss

101-7 Changes to the state of 101-7 a3, b
biodiversity

101-8 Ecosystem services 101-83 b
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GRI STANDARD/ DISCLOSURE LOCATION

OTHER SOURCE

GRI SECTOR
STANDARD REF. NO.

OMISSION

REQUIREMENT(S)
OMITTED

REASON EXPLANATION

3041 Operational sitesowned, MNone
leasaed, managed In, or adjacent

1o, protected areas and areas of

high biodiversity value outside

GRI 304: protected areas

Biodiversity 2016
3042 Significant impacts of
activities, praducts and services
on bicdiversity

204-3 Habitats proiected or
restored

I04-4 |IUCN Red List species
and national conseryation list
specles with habltats In areas
affected by operations

Economic performance

304-1a Mot applicable Not a material topic

304-23,b

304-3a,b,c,d

304-4 3

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Managernent of material Ila
Topics 2021 opics

GRI 201: 2071 Direct economic value 17
Economic generated and distributed
Performance

207-2 Financial implications and 718
2016 other risks and oppoartunities

due to climate change

207-3 Befined benefit plan 17
obligations and other
retirement plans

207-4& Financial assistance MNone
received from government

Market presence

201-4a, b, c Information unavailabla/

incomplete

Challenges in consolidating data

GRI 3: Material 2-3 Management of material 1337
Topics 2021 topics
202-1 Ratios of standard entry None

GRI 202: Market 'evel wage by gender compared
Presence 2016 to local minimum wage

202-Z Proportion of seniar MNone
management hired from the
local community

202-1a, b,c,d Information unavailable/ Challenges in consolidating data
incomplete
202-2a,b,c,d Information unavailable/ Challenges in consolidating data

incomplete

Indirect economic

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Managernent of material 13-17, 91
Topics 2021 topics
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GRI STANDARD/ DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION GRI SECTOR
OTHER SOURCE STANDARD REF. NO.

REQUIREMENT(S] REASON EXPLANATION
OMITTED

2031 Infrastructife investments Q]

GRI 203: Indirect and services supported
Economic

Impacts 2016 203-2 Significant indirect g7

economic impacts

Procurement practice

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material 126
Topics 2021 topics

GRI 204: 204-1 Proportion of spendingon 126
Procurement local suppliers

Practices 2016

Anti-corruption

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material 124
Topics 2021 topics

205-1 Cperations assessed for 124
risks related to corruption

GRI 205: Anti-

corruption 2016  205-2 Communication and 124
training about anti-corruptian
policies and procedures

205-3 Confirmed incidents of 125
COIruUpLion and actions taken

Anti-competitive behavior

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Manzgerment of materizl 122
Topics 2021 Topics
GRI 206: Anti- 2061 Legal actions for antl- 123
competitive competitive behavior, anti-trust,
Behavior 2016 and monopoly practices
GRI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material None 3-3a b,cdef Mot applicable Mot a material topic
Topics 2021 Ll e
207-1 Approach to tax 207-1a
207-2 Tax governance, control, 207-2a.b,c
GRI 207: Tax and riskkmanagement
2045 207-2 Stakeholder engagement 207-3a

and management of concerns
reiated 1o 1ax

207-4 Country-by-country 207-4a, b, c
reporting
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GRI STANDARD/ DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION GRI SECTOR
OTHER SOURCE STANDARD REF. NO.
REQUIREMENTI(S) REASON EXPLANATION
OMITTED
Materials
GRI 2: Material 3-3 Managerment of material m
Topics 2021 HOPRES
3071-1 Materials used by weight 7]
or volume
GRI 301: 201-2 Recycled Input materials 112
Materials 2016 ~ Used
301-3 Reclaimed preductsand  None 301-3a,b Information unavailable/ Challenges in consolidating
their packaging materials incomplete data
GRI 3: Material 33 Management of material 104
Topics 2021 s
302-1 Energy consumption 104
within the organization
CRI 39": 302-2 Energy consumption 1035
Materials 2016 outside of the organization
302-3 Energy intensity 106
302-4 Reduction of energy 106
consumption
302-5 Reductions in energy None 302-53,b,cC Information unavailable/ Challenges in consolidating
requirerments of products and incomplete dats
services
Water and effluents
GRI %: Material 335 Management of material 6
Topics 2021 HORES

Z03-1 Interactions with water as 106
a shared resource

GRI 303: Water 303-2 Management of water 107

and Effluents discharge-related impacts
2018 303-3 Water withdrawal 107
303-4 Water discharge 107
303-5 Water consumption HYF
Emissions
GRI 3: Material Z-Z Management of material 100
Topics 2021 JOpACs




Empire Ea=t Three Decadss of Breakthroughs 2024 Annuatl and Sustainsbility Report

GRI STANDARD/ DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION GRI SECTOR
OTHER SOURCE STANDARD REF. NO.
REQUIREMENT(S) REASON EXPLANATION
OMITTED
305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG 100-101
emissions

305-2 Energy indirect {(Scope 2)  100-101
GHG emissions

GRI 305: 305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3] 100-101
Emissions 2016 o ervicsions

305-4 GHG emissions intensity 71031

305-5 Reduction of GHG 100102
ermissions
305-6 Emissions of ozone- EELHI does not produce,
depleting substances (OD5) import, and;’or export
ODs,
305-7 Nitrogen oxides (NOx), None 305-7a b, c Information unavailable/ Challenges in cansolidating
sulfur oxides {SOx), and other incomplete data

significant air emissions

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material Mone 335 b,cdef Not applicable Mot a material topic
Topics 2021 topics
CRI 306: 306-3 Significant spills 306-3a b, c
Effluents and
Waste 2016
GRI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material 107
Topics 2021 topics
306-1 Waste generation and 107-110
significant waste-related
impacts
GRI 306: Waste  306-Z Management of 108
2020 significant waste-related
impacts

506-5 Waste generated

306-4 Waste diverted from
disposal

306-5 Waste directed o disposal
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GRI STANDARD/ DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION GRI SECTOR

OTHER SOURCE STANDARD REF. NO.
REQUIREMENT(S] REASON EXPLANATION

OMITTED

Supplier environmental assessment

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material 127
Topics 2021 Snit
308-1 New suppliersthatwere  None 308-1a Information unavailable/ Challenges in
sclre;ped using environmental incomplete consolidating dita
GRI 401_ CTiteria
Employment 308-2 Negative environmental  None 308-2a b,c d e Information unavailable/ Challenges in
2016 impacts in the supply chain and

- incomplete consclidating data
actions taken

Employment

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Managerment of material T4
Topics 2021 topics

GRI 401 4071 New employes hiresand 79

Employment 2016  =mployes turnover

4071-2 Benefits provided to full- 82
tirme employess that are not
provided to temporary or part-

time emplovees

407-3 Parental leave g3

Labor/management relations

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Manzgerment of materizl 04
Topics 2021 Topics

GRI 402: Labor/  402-1 Minimum notice pericds 4 weeks
Management regarding operational changes

Relations 2016

Occupational health and safety

GRI 3 Material 3-3 Manzsgement of material 0040
Topics 2021 topics
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GRI STANDARD/ DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION GRI SECTOR
OTHER SOURCE STANDARD REF:- NO.

REQUIREMENT(S) REASDOMN EXPLANATION
OMITTED

£03-1 Cccupational health and 89-90
safety managemsent system

£03-7 Hazard identification, 89-90
rick assessment, and incident
irvestigation

L03-3 Occupational health
cervices

&03-4 Worker participation,
consultation, and
cormimunication on
occupational health and safety

GRI 403:

Occupational 4£03-5 Worker training an
Health and occupational heaith and safety
Safety 2018

L03-6 Promotion of worker
heaith

&03-7 Prevention and mitigation
of occupational health and
safety impacts directly linked by
business relaticnships

403-8 Workers covered by an
occupational heaith and safety
rmanagement system

403-3 Work-related injuries ag
A03-10 Wark-related il health 50

Training and education

GBI 3 Material 3-3 Managerment of material 85
Topics 2021 ropics

L0441 Average hours of training . B&
per vear per employes

GR] 404: 4£04-2 Programs for upgrading B7
Training and employes skills and transition

Education 2016 SSSIStance programs
404-3 Percantage of employsss 33
receiving regular performance
and career development
revisws
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GRI STANDARD/
OTHER SOURCE

DISCLOSURE LOCATION

Diversilty and equal opportunity

OMISSION GRI SECTOR

STANDARD REF. NO.
REQUIREMENT(S) REASON

OMITTED

EXPLANATION

GRI 3: Material 3-F Management of material T
Topics 2021 topics

GRI 405: &£05-1 Diversity of governance 75-76
Diversity bodies and employees

and Equal 4(05-2 Ratic of basic salary and Mone
Opportunity remuneration of women to men

2016

Non-discrimination

405-2 3, b Confidential

information.

Confidentiality
constraints

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material None
Topics 2021 opics

GRI 406: Non- £08-1 Incidents of None
discrimination discrimination and corrective

2016 actions taken

i3abcdef

Not applicable Mot a material topic

406-1a, b Notapplicable Mot a material topic

Freedom of association and collective bargaining

GBI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material Nane
Topics 2021 RO

GRI 407 407-1 Cperations and suppliers None
Freedom of inwhich the right to freegom
Aecariation of association and collective

2 bBargaining may be atrisk
and Collective

Bargaining 2016

33a,bc.def

MNat applicable Mot a material topic

407-1a, b Notapplicable Mot a material topic

Child labor
GBI 3: Materizl 3-3 Management of material 04
Topics 2021 topics

408-1 Operations and suppliers 35
at significarit risk for incldents of
child labor

GRI 408: Child
Labor 2016

Forced or compulsory labor

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material o4
Topics 2021 s i
GRI 409: Forced 4£0%-1 Operations and suppliers 85

or Compulso at significant risk for incidents of
Labor ZE'IE L4 forced or compulsory lebor




Empire Ea=t Three Decadss of Breakthroughs 2024 Annuatl and Sustainsbility Report

GRI STANDARD/ DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION GRI SECTOR

OTHER SOURCE STANDARD REF. NO.
REQUIREMENTI(S) REASON EXPLANATION

OMITTED

Security practices

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Management of material 21

Topics 2021 Lopics

GRI 410: Security 410- Securlty personnel trained  Aag

Practices 2016 in human rights policles or
procedures

Rights of Indigenous Peoples

LR s enal el Shmane None 3-3a,b,c.def MNot applicable Not a material tapic
Topics 2021 topics

GRI 411: Rights 41147 Incidents of violations None £113.b Notapplicable TR
of Indigenous invalving rights of indigenous

Peoples 2016 peoples

Local communities

GBI 3- Material 3-3 IManagemer‘rt of material 4]
Topics 2021 LBpICs
£13-1 Operations with local 100% of significent product
community engagement, and service categories
- impact assessments, and were gssassed for health
GRI 413: LF",:EI development programs and safety impacts and
Communities improvement

2016 ; ) =
£13-2 Operations with significant 9]

actual and potential negative
impacts on local communities

Supplier social assessment

GRI 2: Material 3-3 Managerment of material 127
Topics 2021 Topes

414-1 Mew suppliers that were 1=
CRI 414: screened using socigl criteria
Supplier Social . o
Ascsessment £14-2 Megative social impacts 127
2016 in the supply chain and actions

taken

Public policy

GRI 3: Material ~ 3-3 Management of material None 33a,becdef Mot applicable Not a material topic
Topics 2021 a2 2l
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GRI STANDARD/ DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION GRI SECTOR
OTHER SOURCE STANDARD REF. NO.
REQUIREMENT(S) REASON EXPLANATION
OMITTED
GRI 415: Public  415-1 Political contributions MNone 415-a3, b Mot applicable Mot a material topic
Policy 2016

Customer health and safety

GRI 3: Material 3-3 Maragement of material ¥4
Topics 2021 Bpies

416-1 Assessment of the health  gg
and safety impacts of product
and service categories

GRI 416:

Customer

Health and #16-2 Incidents of non- a5
Safety 2016 compliance concerning the

heaith and safety impacts of
products and services

Marketing and labeling

GCRI 3: Materizal 3-3 Management of material = VA
Topics 2021 LopRcs
417-1 Requirements for product  100% of significant
and service information and product or service
GRI 417: labeling categories were
Marketing and assessed for
Labeling 2016 compliance
&17-2 Incldents of non- o7

compliance concerning product
and service information and
labeling

£17-3 Incidentsof noen- None
compliance concerning
marketing communications

Customer privacy

GRI 3 Material 3-3 Management of material o7
Topics 2021 ORIES

GRI 418 418-1 Substantiated complaints 97
Customer concerning breaches of

Privacy 2016 customer privacy and losses of

customer data
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